
 
EXECUTIVE SERVICES  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Interim Chief Executive 
Adrian Stanfield LL.B (Hons)  
 

Gibson Building 
Gibson Drive 
Kings Hill, West Malling 
Kent ME19 4LZ 
West Malling (01732) 844522 

 

 
NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process. 

Contact: Democratic Services 
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk 

 
22 April 2024 

  

 
To: MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 (Copies to all Members of the Council) 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Your attendance is requested at an extraordinary meeting of the Cabinet to be held in the 
Council Chamber, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill on Tuesday, 30th April, 2024 commencing at 
7.30 pm.  
 
Members of the Cabinet are required to attend in person.  Other Members may attend in 
person or participate online via MS Teams. 
 
Information on how to observe the meeting will be published on the Council’s website. 
 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
ADRIAN STANFIELD 
 
Interim Chief Executive 

  

 

A G E N D A 

 
 
1. Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings  
 

5 - 8 

 PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

2. Apologies for absence  9 - 10 

Public Document Pack



 
3. Declarations of interest  
 

11 - 12 

 Members are reminded of their obligation under the Council’s Code of Conduct to 
disclose any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Significant Interests in any 
matter(s) to be considered or being considered at the meeting. These are 
explained in the Code of Conduct on the Council’s website at Code of conduct for 
members – Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council (tmbc.gov.uk). 
 
Members in any doubt about such declarations are advised to contact Legal or 
Democratic Services in advance of the meeting. 
 

 Matters to Inform the Executive 
 

4. Petition in respect of Upper Castle Field, Tonbridge  
 

13 - 88 

 The Borough Council has received a petition from Slade Area Residents 
Association (SARA) and the Save Upper Castle Fields Facebook Group asking 
that ‘the green space and play area at Upper Castle Fields be preserved’ and 
‘urging local authorities to safeguard this vital community asset for present 
generations and those yet to come’.   
 

5. Petition in respect of Preventing the Extension of Charging 
Hours in Borough Council car parks  

 

89 - 142 

 The Borough Council has received a petition stating that ‘The recent proposal to 
extend charging hours in the towns car parks is not just an inconvenience, but a 
potential threat to the vibrancy and vitality of our community’ and urging the 
‘Borough Council to not only consider these facts but also listen to constituents 
who have overwhelmingly supported no increase to the charging hours in the car 
parks. We need policies that encourage growth and community engagement 
rather than hinder it.’ 
 

 Executive Key Decisions 
 

6. Call in of Executive Decision D240034CAB - Parking Proposals 
and Changes to On-street and Off-street Parking Fees and 
Charges  

 

143 - 264 

 Executive Decision D240034CAB (attached at Annex A) has been called in.  The 
recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 22 April 2024 which 
were not available when this agenda was published will be circulated as soon as 
possible. 
 
The report to Cabinet of 2 April 2024 (Annex B) and associated Annexes (1-7) 
considered at that meeting are attached for convenience.   The consultation 
responses are not attached to this agenda as they are available under the meeting 
information for Cabinet of 2 April and Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 22 April 
2024. 
 
 
 
 

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members
https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members


7. Urgent Items  
 

265 - 266 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 

 Matters for consideration in Private 
 

8. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

267 - 268 

 The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 
 

 PART 2 - PRIVATE 
 

9. Urgent Items  
 

269 - 270 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 



 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
 Councillor M D Boughton, (Leader) 

Councillor R P Betts, (Climate Change, Regeneration and Property) 
Councillor M A Coffin, (Transformation and Infrastructure) 
Councillor D Keers, (Community Services) 
Councillor K B Tanner, (Finance and Housing) 
Councillor M Taylor, (Planning) 
 

 Members of the Council who are not members of the executive may attend 
meetings of the Cabinet. With the agreement of the Leader, any such 
Member may address the Cabinet on any item on the agenda but may not 
vote. 
 

 



GUIDANCE ON HOW MEETINGS WILL BE CONDUCTED 

 

(1) Most of the Borough Council meetings are livestreamed, unless there is exempt 

or confidential business being discussed,  giving residents the opportunity to 

see decision making in action.  These can be watched via our YouTube 

channel.  When it is not possible to livestream meetings they are recorded and 

uploaded as soon as possible:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured  

(2) There are no fire drills planned during the time a meeting is being held.  For the 

benefit of those in the meeting room, the fire alarm is a long continuous bell and 

the exits are via the doors used to enter the room.  An officer on site will lead 

any evacuation. 

(3) Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or have 

any other queries concerning the meeting, please contact Democratic Services 

on committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk in the first instance. 

 

Attendance: 

- Members of the Committee are required to attend in person and be present in the 

meeting room.  Only these Members are able to move/ second or amend motions, 

and vote. 

- Other Members of the Council can join via MS Teams and can take part in any 

discussion and ask questions, when invited to do so by the Chair, but cannot 

move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters. Members participating 

remotely are reminded that this does not count towards their formal committee 

attendance.  

- Occasionally, Members of the Committee are unable to attend in person and may 

join via MS Teams in the same way as other Members.  However, they are unable 

to move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters if they are not present 

in the meeting room. As with other Members joining via MS Teams, this does not 

count towards their formal committee attendance. 

- Officers can participate in person or online. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


- Members of the public addressing an Area Planning Committee should attend in 

person.  However, arrangements to participate online can be considered in certain 

circumstances.  Please contact committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk for further 

information. 

Before formal proceedings start there will be a sound check of Members/Officers in 

the room.  This is done as a roll call and confirms attendance of voting Members. 

Ground Rules: 

The meeting will operate under the following ground rules: 

- Members in the Chamber should indicate to speak in the usual way and use the 

fixed microphones in front of them.  These need to be switched on when speaking 

or comments will not be heard by those participating online.  Please switch off 

microphones when not speaking. 

- If there any technical issues the meeting will be adjourned to try and rectify them.  

If this is not possible there are a number of options that can be taken to enable the 

meeting to continue.  These will be explained if it becomes necessary. 

For those Members participating online: 

- please request to speak using the ‘chat  or hand raised function’; 

- please turn off cameras and microphones when not speaking; 

- please do not use the ‘chat function’ for other matters as comments can be seen 

by all; 

- Members may wish to blur the background on their camera using the facility on 

Microsoft teams. 

- Please avoid distractions and general chat if not addressing the meeting 

- Please remember to turn off or silence mobile phones 

Voting: 

Voting may be undertaken by way of a roll call and each Member should verbally 

respond For, Against, Abstain.  The vote will be noted and announced by the 

Democratic Services Officer. 

Page 6

mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Alternatively, votes may be taken by general affirmation if it seems that there is 

agreement amongst Members.  The Chairman will announce the outcome of the vote 

for those participating and viewing online. 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Apologies for absence 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Declarations of interest 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



   

Cabinet Information – Part 1 Public  30 April 2024  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

30 April 2024 

Report of the Director of Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services 

 

Part 1- Public 

Executive Decision  

 

1 PETITION – PRESERVE THE GREEN SPACE AND PLAY AREA AT UPPER 

CASTLE FIELDS, TONBRIDGE 

The Borough Council has received a petition from Slade Area Residents 

Association (SARA) and the Save Upper Castle Fields Facebook Group 

asking that ‘the green space and play area at Upper Castle Fields be 

preserved’ and ‘urging local authorities to safeguard this vital community 

asset for present generations and those yet to come’.   

Introduction 

1.1.1 The Petition was hosted online via the change.org platform and was created on 

7 April 2024 where it gained a significant number of signatures within a short time 

period. 

1.1.2 The Borough Council was approached on 9 April 2024 in respect of submission of 

the petition and next steps. 

1.1.3 As the petition had received over 1,500 signatures, which was sufficient to trigger a 

debate at Cabinet, it was agreed with the organisers that this would be submitted 

by Monday 15 April to enable verification and discussion at an extraordinary 

meeting of Cabinet on 30 April 2024. 

1.1.4 At the time of submission, the petition (attached at Annex 1) had gathered 3,097 

signatures.  To avoid disclosing personal information names have been removed 

from Annex 1.  

1.1.5 It should be noted that a number of signatories are outside of the Borough, the 

County and the country.  However, these represent a small minority.   

1.1.6 In addition, we understand that there is a paper petition and this will be submitted 

to the Borough Council at the extraordinary meeting of Cabinet on 30 April 2024. 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4

https://www.change.org/p/preserve-the-green-space-and-play-area-at-upper-castle-fields?utm_content=cl_sharecopy_37965529_en-GB%3A10&recruited_by_id=f5dbadd0-f4ca-11ee-8822-f9c78a672bc6&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=psf_combo_share_initial&utm_term=psf&share_bandit_exp=initial-37965529-en-GB&fbclid=IwAR37OGGMLIbb7ak7lr905l7x3W6q9Ae3b4zKeT73lWxhqFIsED-qZ-Sr8-Y_aem_AaADwnIQXKUWn8IkBfAfFc8okU9VI-hdOE4EREsvFkPWD7V4eMvg2kApORDyG_3y4yYPa9YE3Rbv3ybUPdvCY2yW


 2  
 

Cabinet Information – Part 1 Public  30 April 2024  

1.2 Petition Scheme 

1.2.1 In accordance with the Borough Council’s adopted petition scheme (attached at 

Annex 2), petitions containing more than 1,500 signatures will be debated by 

Cabinet or Full Council, whichever body is appropriate. 

1.2.2 The petition organiser(s) are also allowed five minutes each to present the petition 

at the meeting prior to discussion by Councillors.  A maximum of two members of a 

deputation may address Members. 

1.2.3 As the matter in question relates to an executive function it is appropriate for the 

matter to be discussed by Cabinet.  

1.2.4 The organisers have been invited to address the Cabinet. 

1.2.5 The Cabinet may decide: 

 To take the action requested; 

 Not to take the action requested, for reasons put forward in the debate; 

 To commission further investigation into the matter. 

1.2.6 The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of the decision reached and 

this will also be published on the Borough Council’s website. 

1.3 Extension of Upper Castle Field car park, Tonbridge 

1.3.1 The proposal to extend Upper Castle Field car park was considered and approved 

by Cabinet on 2 April 2024 on the grounds that demand for parking in this area was 

high to serve the popular leisure facilities in this area of town including the Castle 

and Tonbridge Racecourse Sportsground. The proposal would also support the 

need for parking at events on the castle lawn which have grown in number and 

popularity in recent years.  

1.3.2 The report to Cabinet had indicated that following public consultation  866 

respondents objected to the proposal, 877 respondents supported the proposal and 

19 were not specific. Whilst the numbers were extremely close there was a small 

difference in favour of the proposal. 

1.3.3 This approval formed part of Decision Notice D240034CAB which was published 

on 5 April 2024 and called-in for reconsideration on 8 April.  The Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee reviewed the decision at its meeting on 22 April 2024 and any 

recommendations arising from that Committee will be debated elsewhere on this 

agenda. 

  

Page 14



 3  
 

Cabinet Information – Part 1 Public  30 April 2024  

1.4 Legal Implications 

1.4.1 The Council has adopted a Petition Scheme, and this Petition has been submitted 

by the petitioners for consideration by Cabinet in accordance with the Scheme.  

1.5 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.5.1 There are no financial and value for money considerations in respect of the petition. 

1.5.2 However, the financial and value for money considerations in respect of the 

proposals that the petition relates to are detailed in the reports reviewed by Cabinet 

on 2 April and Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 22 April. 

1.6 Risk Assessment 

1.6.1 There is no assessment of risk in respect of the petition.  However, the proposals 

that the petition relates to had a comprehensive risk assessment undertaken as 

detailed in the reports reviewed by Cabinet on 2 April and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 22 April. 

1.7 Equality Impact Assessment 

1.7.1 The substantive debate in respect of the matters giving rise to this petition will form 

part of the call-in of Decision Notice D240034CAB elsewhere on the agenda. There 

is no equality impact assessment in respect of receiving the petition. 

1.8 Recommendations 

It is recommended that: 

1.8.1 Members RECEIVE and NOTE the Petition detailed at Annex 1. 

1.8.2 Members consider the matters raised in the petition alongside the consideration of 

any recommendations arising from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

elsewhere on the agenda. 

 

Background papers: contact: Allison Parris 

Principal Democratic Services 

Officer   
Nil  

 

 

Robert Styles 

Director Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services  

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Preserve the Green Space and Play 
Area at Upper Castle Fields 

Started 
7 April 2024 

Why this petition matters 

Started by jacquie wyatt 

As a representative of the Slade Area Residents (SARA), I am deeply concerned 
about the potential loss of our cherished green space alongside the Upper 
Castle Fields car park. This area, home to swings, trees, and grass, provides a 
scenic approach to both the Castle and Slade School. More importantly, it is the 
only green space in our residential area. 

This shared space is a key part of Tonbridge; it's where children play after 
school. The World Health Organization suggests that access to green spaces 
can reduce health inequalities in urban areas (WHO). Losing this space would 
not only diminish our quality of life but could potentially impact our health as 
well. 

Moreover, preserving this area aligns with Tonbridge's commitment towards 
maintaining its natural heritage as outlined in its Local Plan 2011-2031. It states 

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 17

https://www.change.org/u/267761726


that "the protection and enhancement of biodiversity will be sought through 
conserving existing habitats" (Tonbridge Local Plan). 
 
We urge local authorities to safeguard this vital community asset for present 
generations and those yet to come. Please sign this petition if you believe in 
preserving our green spaces for future generations. 

 
Petition Closed 
 
This petition had 3,097 supporters 
 

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 18



Petition Started: 07 April 2024
Petition Ended: 15 April 2024
Total Signatures: 3,097

City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 3LL UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FL UK 07/04/24
Stockton-on-Tees England TS19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1Ly UK 07/04/24
Totland Bay England PO39 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 07/04/24
Stockport England SK6 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Kent England TN9 1LW UK 07/04/24
Gravesend England DA12 UK 07/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 6DE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England tn91hu UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9DJ UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn13 2xl UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Ramsgate England CT11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 7EA UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JA UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9DA UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn110bg UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91UG UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
CROWBOROUGH England TN6 2LR UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England tn9 1xb UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4PD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
TONBRIDGE England tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JF UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24

1

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 19



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Crawley England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN14 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91lj UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0EE UK 07/04/24
Bristol England BS15 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge Tn91eb Netherlands 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4HA UK 07/04/24
Snodland England ME6 UK 07/04/24
Coventry England CV3 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119DA UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JX UK 07/04/24
Uxbridge England UB8 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LY UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Edenbridge TN8 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Hackney England E8 UK 07/04/24
Newcastle England NE2 5dh UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JJ UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NG UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
Birmingham England B369ng UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91lx UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FR UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XA UK 07/04/24

2

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 20



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FX UK 07/04/24
London England EC4M UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4bb UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TH UK 07/04/24
Hackney England N16 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1TX UK 07/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 07/04/24
Luton lu4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2pe UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN 104DP UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103ep UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91JJ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TN UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91PU UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Scunthorpe England DN16 UK 07/04/24
Dartford England DA1 UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0BX UK 07/04/24
Amsterdam 1078 SW Netherlands 07/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Liskeard England PL14 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tower Hamlets England SE25 UK 07/04/24
Pinner HA5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JJ UK 07/04/24
Camden NW3 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Harpenden England AL5 UK 07/04/24
Waltham Forest England E10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2lp UK 07/04/24
Brighton BN1 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1QA UK 07/04/24

3

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 21



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Pinner HA5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
East Peckham England tn125ht UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91JN UK 07/04/24
Bexley England DA5 2DA UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AY UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HX UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2qh UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 5HJ UK 07/04/24
Kensington SW5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 9lj UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1NS UK 07/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 07/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 07/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 07/04/24
Canterbury England CT1 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119EZ UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 9JT UK 07/04/24
London England se116by UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92nj UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91hb UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Leigh England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Kilbirnie Scotland KA25 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN11 9EH Sri Lanka 07/04/24
Lambeth England SW4 UK 07/04/24
Helsinki Finland 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24

4

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 22



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
South Korea 07/04/24

Tonbridge England TN10 4AQ UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4EA UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LZ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2HU UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104RL UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME17 4FS UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91HR UK 07/04/24
Sheerness England ME12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104JP UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 0RF UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FX UK 07/04/24
Aliso Viejo 92656-2648 Poland 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
London England EC1N UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England tn9 2lr UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103EE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92JT UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tudeley England Tn11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Oak Ridge Tennessee 37830 US 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UL UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1jl UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 4UU UK 07/04/24

5

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 23



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 07/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92le UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Punch TN 9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2uu UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NE UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England Tn9 2el UK 07/04/24
Dunoon Scotland PA23 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Rochester ME2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AP UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 07/04/24
Baltic Road England TN9 2 LZ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN10 Turkey 07/04/24
London e17 3LG Malta 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Perth 6168 Australia 07/04/24
King's Lynn England PE32 1WF UK 07/04/24
Binfield England RG42 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
London England EC4M UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Wadhurst TN5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104QS UK 07/04/24
Canterbury CT2 UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24

6

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 24



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Rochester England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9AG UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2pb UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Leigh England TN11 8QX UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NP UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EB UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9AG UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AY UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1fr UK 07/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EW UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1jj UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough tn118ny Norway 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Rochester ME1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Desert Hot Springs California 92240 US 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 1hx UK 07/04/24
Harringay England N15 UK 07/04/24
London EC4N UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3NT UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QT UK 07/04/24
Wandsworth England SW15 UK 07/04/24

7

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 25



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 07/04/24

Belgium 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TB UK 07/04/24
Newport Pagnell England MK16 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Tombridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LU UK 07/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9LX UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Kent TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AX UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
London EC1N UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0FY UK 07/04/24
Tn9 2rb England Tn9 2rb UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92LT UK 07/04/24
Ballintoy Harbour Northern Ireland BT54 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92th UK 07/04/24
London England TN9 1TR UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Ticehurst England TN5 7AJ UK 07/04/24
Sheerness England ME12 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Redhill England RH1 UK 07/04/24
Oxted RH8 UK 07/04/24
TONBRIDGE TN9 UK 07/04/24
Crawley England RH11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91FX UK 07/04/24
Liverpool England L71 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3TA UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Cambridge CB1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Southampton England SO18 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24

8

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 26



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 2NJ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Hastings England Tn377lw UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9EB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9HQ UK 07/04/24
London EC4R UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Folkestone England CT19 UK 07/04/24
Whitstable England CT5 UK 07/04/24
Glasgow England G3 UK 07/04/24
Burgess Hill England RH15 UK 07/04/24
Wickford England SS12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9ET UK 07/04/24
Kent England TN9 2LU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tudeley England TN11 0PN UK 07/04/24
Canterbury England CT1 UK 07/04/24
Kent England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Cowden TN8 7HY Finland 07/04/24
London England N12 0 AN UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 8ND UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Canterbury England CT2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Aylesford England Me207qe UK 07/04/24
Camden NW1 UK 07/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 07/04/24
Eastbourne England BN21 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1NE UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Newry Northern Ireland BT34 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24

9

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 27



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Peacehaven England BN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DQ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92QR UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AP UK 07/04/24
Ealing England UB1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Wandsworth England SW18 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JB UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3hh UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Cupar Scotland KY15 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England me5 0jn UK 07/04/24
Luton England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AP UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 07/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PD UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England B11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PS UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2lr UK 07/04/24
38 Higham Lanr England TN10 4JD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9AB UK 07/04/24

UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 1hx UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SX UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FT UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3RS UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24

10

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 28



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AW UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LR UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Newham England E6 UK 07/04/24
Brighton England BN3 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PS UK 07/04/24
Fareham England PO15 5NZ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 07/04/24
Westerham England TN16 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AT UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England Tn110hl UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Lenham England ME17 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3BU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4HD UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
London EC4R UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JL UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN3 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JS UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SX UK 07/04/24
Wembley England HA9 9SN UK 07/04/24
Kent England Ct102ae UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England Tn11 0ja UK 07/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 07/04/24
London England SE14 UK 07/04/24

11

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 29



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1tr UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Dumfries Scotland DG20DH UK 07/04/24

L8P 3Z6 Greece 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JU UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AS UK 07/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92BU UK 07/04/24
Dereham England NR20 UK 07/04/24
Sheerness England ME12 UK 07/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
London Se8 UK 07/04/24
Nottingham England NG9 UK 07/04/24
London England se265lb UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XD UK 07/04/24
Herne Bay England CT6 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2RD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 8qg UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LZ UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103DT UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UE UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2EJ UK 07/04/24
Kidlington OX5 UK 07/04/24
Stockport SK6 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24

12

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 30



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England RM5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2en UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 07/04/24
London England EC1N UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0BY UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England SS11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1BL UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Winchester England SO21 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN30PR UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Biddenden England TN27 8DB UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Basingstoke England RG24 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JL UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Narborough England PE32 1WF UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 2UT UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HX UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3DU UK 07/04/24
Kingston England KT2 7QT UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92SE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 07/04/24
Peterborough PE4 UK 07/04/24
Sheffield England S10 4EH UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4DJ UK 07/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 1XD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JJ UK 07/04/24
Rugby England CV21 1TY UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
London EC4N UK 07/04/24
Altrincham England WA14 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3LR UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn104aa UK 07/04/24
Margate England CT9 UK 07/04/24

13

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 31



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN10 3BP UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Cardiff Wales; Cymru CF14 3NW UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 9PU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Hackney E2 UK 07/04/24
Paddock wood England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2EY UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LP UK 07/04/24
Bideford England EX39 4HF UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91qp UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Rotherham England S61 UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England tn9 1xa UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2du UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AQ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Eastbourne England BN22 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Ashton-under-Lyne England OL5 0RL UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Islington England EC50 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Coventry CV1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4Rd UK 07/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 07/04/24

14

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 32



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Burgess Hill England RH15 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Folkestone England CT20 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1QP UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103lr UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AQ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4px UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4RU UK 07/04/24
Islington England N1 UK 07/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 07/04/24

UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FX UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1py UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1tr UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0EZ UK 07/04/24
Cambridge England CB4 3JX UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
Hartlepool England TS24 UK 07/04/24
London England SW17 9AH UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Abingdon England Ox141es UK 07/04/24

15

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 33



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN119BL UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9SA UK 07/04/24
Pontypridd Wales; Cymru CF371Hz UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9dr UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Larkfield England ME20 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 07/04/24
Gosport England PO122PH UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Lambeth England SW4 UK 07/04/24
Barking England IG11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HX UK 07/04/24
Barnet England NW11 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 2DU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3HD UK 07/04/24
Keswick England CA12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 1pt UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England Tn119ag UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 07/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 07/04/24
Bury St Edmunds England IP31 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England IG1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91jn UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9BP UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2QD UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Ropley England SO24 UK 07/04/24

16

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 34



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 2NQ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NW UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1ll UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Bexleyheath DA7 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UN UK 07/04/24
Totnes England TQ9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1lz UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3JP UK 07/04/24
Stratton England GL7 2HY UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England tn9 UK 07/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 07/04/24
London England W1B UK 07/04/24
Reading England RG8 UK 07/04/24
Edenbridge England TN8 UK 07/04/24
Bournemouth England bh11 8hn UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3hg UK 07/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME9 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 1YF UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UH UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LZ UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 07/04/24
Lewisham SE6 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Bromley England SE20 UK 07/04/24
South Marston England Sn3 4sq UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3BU UK 07/04/24
Hackney England E9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 0Qy UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2RB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24

17

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 35



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Eastbourne England BN23 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Romford RM1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1NS UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Nuneaton England CV11 UK 07/04/24
Uttoxeter England ST14 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DP UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2pq UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
London England E16 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JF UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England Tn49hp UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1qx UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
Belvedere England DA17 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9LQ UK 07/04/24
Canterbury Ct2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4sb UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92bx UK 07/04/24
Godalming GU7 UK 07/04/24
Gravesend England DA12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 5BJ UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0JP UK 07/04/24
Wrexham Wales; Cymru LL11 UK 07/04/24
Whitstable England CT5 UK 07/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4nw UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24

18

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 36



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Wandsworth England SW18 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 3PE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1pa UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FT UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AB UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 07/04/24
Wiltshire England Sn11 9fh UK 07/04/24
Lambeth England SE27 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Pembury England TN2 4JU UK 07/04/24
Ightham England TN15 UK 07/04/24
Harringay N8 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AF UK 07/04/24
Tower Hamlets E2 UK 07/04/24
Birkenhead England CH43 4XH UK 07/04/24
TUNBRIDGE WELLS England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9EB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Westerham England TN16 1BU UK 07/04/24
Hackney E5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JX UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 07/04/24
Highnam England GL2 8EW UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HX UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1ud UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells Scotland TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19-2AT UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Herne Bay CT6 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England tn145ar UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103RE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2Df UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 07/04/24

19

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 37



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Minehead England TA24 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Birmingham England B11 1ST UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 5LB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge SS1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SA UK 07/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Amherst Massachusetts 1002 US 07/04/24
la California 90405 US 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0HG UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 07/04/24
Herne Bay England CT6 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 1JJ Malta 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3ew UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1RE UK 07/04/24
Brough England HU15 1JG UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HT UK 07/04/24
Folkestone England CT18 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3QU UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1hr UK 07/04/24
Dagenham England RM10 UK 07/04/24
York England YO10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Ton bridge England tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4HT UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England tn11 9es UK 07/04/24
Redhill England RH1 UK 07/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92rd UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LE UK 07/04/24

20

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 38



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England tn11 9ap UK 07/04/24
Newcastle upon Tyne NE6 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JX UK 07/04/24
Brighton England Bn2 3hl UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UN UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NG UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME185HB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QU UK 07/04/24
Gt Yarmouth England NR319HE UK 07/04/24
Stratford-upon-Avon England CV37 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Folkestone England CT19 UK 07/04/24
San Javier 30730 Spain 07/04/24
Norwich NR8 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn11 0da UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91RE UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE15 UK 07/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 07/04/24
Greenwich SE9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tenterden England TN30 UK 07/04/24
Ightham England Tn15 UK 07/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 5EL UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
London England TN9 2QA UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Ivybridge England PL21 0TW UK 07/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 1JF UK 07/04/24
Lewisham SE4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91xu UK 07/04/24
Liverpool England L17 7DJ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AP UK 07/04/24
Hornsey N8 UK 07/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 07/04/24
Burlescombe England EX16 7HE UK 07/04/24
London EC1N UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Wellington 6021 New Zealand 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Margate England CT9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 07/04/24

21

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 39



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Cranbrook England TN18 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Birmingham England B33 UK 07/04/24
Woodbridge England IP13 UK 07/04/24
Pontefract England WF9 2JJ UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24

UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge tn10 4al Czech Republic 07/04/24
Oldham England OL2 7HT UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Liverpool England L71 UK 07/04/24
Tonbride England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Etchingham England TN19 7QF UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge Wales; Cymru TN9 UK 07/04/24

UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4QJ UK 07/04/24
Bristol England BS348AL UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Northolt England UB5 5SP UK 07/04/24
Farnham GU9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Birmingham England B32 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LY UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Ashford England TN24 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 07/04/24
Dudley, West Midlands England DY1 4JP UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Harrow HA2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE17 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92pd UK 07/04/24

22

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 40



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England tn145bb UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Wincanton England BA9 9BL UK 07/04/24
Paignton England TQ3 3LT UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9bl UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1QP UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Godalming GU7 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 UK 07/04/24
East Malling England ME19 6AP UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Winnersh England RG41 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Slough England SL1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2ax UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2XB UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Moresby Parks England CA28 8XJ UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge wells England Tn4 UK 08/04/24
Edgware HA8 UK 08/04/24
North Vancouver V7J Canada 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Barnet England N2 UK 08/04/24
Oakley England bh21 1ry UK 08/04/24
Catford SE6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN92fe Maldives 08/04/24
Auckland New Zealand 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 08/04/24
Folkestone England CT18 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JA UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 2TR Cyprus 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Dunbar Scotland EH42 1HT UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 6YA UK 08/04/24
Oakley England BH21 1RY UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LN UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3LH UK 08/04/24

23

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 41



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24
Birmingham England B27 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3JE UK 08/04/24
Sheerness England ME12 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92TR UK 08/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks Weald England TN146LT UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
London England Nw11 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UH UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 8YE UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LG UK 08/04/24
Cranbrook England Tn272hy UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Swindon SN1 UK 08/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1NZ UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Edenbridge England TN8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103tf UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PA UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NT UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Islington England N7 UK 08/04/24
Herne Bay CT6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24

24

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 42



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
Islington England EC1V UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 08/04/24
Belfast Northern Ireland BT14 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JB UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN10 3EA UK 08/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E2 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Crawley England RH11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AY UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Malmesbury England SN16 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 2NW UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge and Malling England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN150QN UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 8BT UK 08/04/24
Lamesley England NE11 0ET UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9JN UK 08/04/24

UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Stratford Upon Avon England CV37 9DB UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9FB UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England Tn4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LU UK 08/04/24
Eastbourne England BN22 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 08/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 1NE UK 08/04/24
Edenbridge England TN8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Edenbridge TN8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3lu UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92HG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92LS UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE28 UK 08/04/24
Halstead England CO9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AP UK 08/04/24

25

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 43



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
tonbridge England tn91ub UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells Wales; Cymru TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Bexleyheath England DA6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Kent UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn12 0gy UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Cranbrook England TN18 5HY UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN91FZ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Stow on the Wold England GL54 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AN UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1dl UK 08/04/24
Hayling Island England PO11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FL UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
London EC2Y 8NQ Italy 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Brentwood England CM15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UX UK 08/04/24

26

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 44



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
London England SE4 1BS UK 08/04/24
London England Sw17 0qg UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1up UK 08/04/24
North Bovey England TQ13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UX UK 08/04/24
Upper Norwood England SE19 UK 08/04/24
London England SW19 2AY UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough TN11 9EH Sri Lanka 08/04/24
Haywards Heath England RH17 6SS UK 08/04/24
Hailsham England BN27 UK 08/04/24
Sidcup England DA15 8NB UK 08/04/24
London England W5 1SY UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 2DF UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PW UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4LA UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 8HH UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4pw UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 8ur UK 08/04/24
Barnet NW4 UK 08/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 08/04/24
Plumstead England SE18 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN12 9AG UK 08/04/24
tonbridge England tn104dj UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Edenbridge England TN8 7BT UK 08/04/24
Hove England BN3 2AB UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
London England SE22 8UQ UK 08/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NQ UK 08/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Barnet England NW11 UK 08/04/24

27

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 45



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 8UA UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1EE UK 08/04/24
tonbridge England tn10 4qd UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QQ UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 8XT UK 08/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0FP UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Bath BA1 UK 08/04/24
Redhill England RH1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
London EC4N UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England Tn11 UK 08/04/24
Bishop Auckland England DL14 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9BG UK 08/04/24
Crowborough TN6 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 08/04/24
Bristol England BS15 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 0XD UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AF UK 08/04/24
Surrey RH5 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92TH UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Kent England TN10 3NT UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Leigh Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9EG UK 08/04/24
Kings Lynn England PE30 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DA UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Rye England TN31 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Hailsham England BN27 3LG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NH UK 08/04/24
tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 08/04/24

28

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 46



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Hastings England TN38 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9DE UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN14 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LE UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1ue UK 08/04/24
Brighton BN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3bu UK 08/04/24
Reading RG4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1TX UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN119BL UK 08/04/24
Margate CT9 UK 08/04/24
Islington England N1 UK 08/04/24
London England SW16 6LW UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103aj UK 08/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 08/04/24
Kent Tn9 ihf UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 1lr UK 08/04/24
Lambeth England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XB UK 08/04/24
Newcastle upon Tyne NE7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 8LG UK 08/04/24
Tombridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN3 9HP UK 08/04/24
Former Tonbridge resident England PE13 5HF UK 08/04/24
Muswell Hill England N10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TH UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 08/04/24
Kent England TN11 9AR UK 08/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TG UK 08/04/24
Heathfield England TN21 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3HP UK 08/04/24

29

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 47



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
london England e15 4rz UK 08/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 08/04/24
Dover England CT16 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Perth 6000 Australia 08/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 08/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN10 4HQ UK 08/04/24
London England EC1N UK 08/04/24
Carshalton England SM5 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AD UK 08/04/24
Monteleone d’Orvieto 5017 Italy 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JF UK 08/04/24
Southwark SE5 UK 08/04/24
Blackpool FY1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Torquay TQ1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Southam England CV47 9AP UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Milton Keynes England MK13 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24

Egypt 08/04/24
London England N10 3UA UK 08/04/24
Longfield England DA3 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Kilbirnie Scotland KA25 UK 08/04/24
Telford TF3 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JB UK 08/04/24

Netherlands 08/04/24
Coulsdon CR5 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Kent England TN48TX UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2tg UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UP UK 08/04/24
Bromley England BR2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Uckfield England TN22 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
London EC4N UK 08/04/24

30

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 48



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9DU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn103ls UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 6HZ UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3AJ UK 08/04/24
Paignton TQ3 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
London NW2 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EP UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Torquay England Tq14al UK 08/04/24
London England SE1 0BQ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn91xj UK 08/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2fe UK 08/04/24
Dundee Scotland DD36DW UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN12 6JG UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Southborough England TN40FH UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Portadown Northern Ireland BT62 1PL UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Hereford England HR2 7PH UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Chester England CH3 UK 08/04/24
Saint Helens England WA9 3TN UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 08/04/24
Folkestone England CT18 UK 08/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 08/04/24
Herne Bay CT6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104JX UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Ealing UB1 UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Huntingdon England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Little Bardfield England CM7 4TR UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge BN2 UK 08/04/24

31

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 49



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn10 3nb Greece 08/04/24
Molina de Segura 30500 Spain 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Bromsgrove England B60 2BB UK 08/04/24
Bexleyheath DA7 UK 08/04/24
Chicago Illinois 60654 US 08/04/24
Cradley Heath England B64.6AG. UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 0SD UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LE UK 08/04/24
Kent England Tn9 1ul UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JF UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TG UK 08/04/24

UK 08/04/24
London England TW14 9XE UK 08/04/24
Valencia 46021 Spain 08/04/24
Stockport SK6 UK 08/04/24
Penwortham England PR1 9PJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
London England EC4M UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AN UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN12LQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Yateley England GU46 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0LU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92AY UK 08/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G78 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Usk Wales; Cymru NP15 UK 08/04/24
Sheerness England ME12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2sx UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN104ET Cyprus 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G33 3NP UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24

32

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 50



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Kent TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn104hd UK 08/04/24
Stockport SK6 UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 08/04/24
Hove England Bn3 5pq UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LP UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
London England SE266FA UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Bristol BS7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92LR UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24

4212 Australia 08/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 08/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 9bz UK 08/04/24
Kent England Tn10 4al UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Belvedere England DA175RU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Glasgow England TN9 1FW UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
London England N4 3BP UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 08/04/24
Oxford OX2 UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE18 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3BX UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
Manchester England M15 5GL UK 08/04/24
Brent NW2 UK 08/04/24
London England SW17 8QF UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24

33

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 51



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN10 4 NG UK 08/04/24
City of Westminster W2 UK 08/04/24
County Durham England DH9 0JE UK 08/04/24

Lithuania 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1DQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Folkestone England CT20 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0DW UK 08/04/24
Villeurbanne 69100 France 08/04/24
Rainham ME8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24

UK 08/04/24
Sydney 2142 Australia 08/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3ER UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 08/04/24
Abingdon England OX13 UK 08/04/24
n/a n/a UK 08/04/24
Doncaster DN4 UK 08/04/24
Chigwell Essex England IG7 5HZ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
London England EC1N UK 08/04/24
Bristol England BS15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DL UK 08/04/24
Croydon England CR0 UK 08/04/24
Edinburgh Scotland EH4 1NG UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 08/04/24
Croydon CRO 2EF UK 08/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 08/04/24
South Benfleet SS7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UE UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Longbenton England NE12 8QQ UK 08/04/24
Camden Town NW1 UK 08/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 08/04/24
Harringay England N17 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Llanelli Wales; Cymru SA14 UK 08/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 08/04/24
Hackney E5 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24

34

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 52



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Cambridge England CB1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EA UK 08/04/24

Finland 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4hu UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Milton Keynes England MK4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1QD UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Newmarket CB8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Brighton England BN2 UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PW UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SJ UK 08/04/24
Castle Cary BA7 UK 08/04/24
London England EC4R UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NP UK 08/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 08/04/24
Birmingham B4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PG UK 08/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1TR UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2EY UK 08/04/24
Didcot England OX11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN40 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Orpington BR6 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24
Stayner L0M Canada 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24
Leeds England LS2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Wolverhampton WV1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1 HP UK 08/04/24

35

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 53



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England Tn4 9na UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN3 9DL UK 08/04/24
Leeds England LS28 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Gainsborough England DN21 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Crowborough TN6 UK 08/04/24
London EC1N UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 0LQ UK 08/04/24
Golden Green England TN11 0BB UK 08/04/24
Chatham Wales; Cymru ME4 UK 08/04/24
Camden England NW3 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
West malling England Me19 4xp UK 08/04/24
Bexley England DA5 2JB UK 08/04/24
Jupiter Florida 33469 US 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4LP UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AP UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AP UK 08/04/24
Watford England WD24 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PJ UK 08/04/24
London England E18 UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 08/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 08/04/24
Hawkhurst England Tn18 UK 08/04/24
Harringay England N22 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91JJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1hs UK 08/04/24
South Croydon England CR2 7JR UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Petworth England GU28 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sheffield England S5 9DD UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JS UK 08/04/24
Southborough, Tunbridge We   England TN4 9BL UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4LR UK 08/04/24
London England Se23 2jj UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Harringay N8 UK 08/04/24
Madrid 28019 Spain 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24

36

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 54



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Szatymaz Hungary 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Bromley England BR1 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AT UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PQ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92lh UK 08/04/24
Gravesend England DA12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3DT UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn92nq UK 08/04/24
Manchester England M21 7LY UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
San Roque cadiz 11360 Spain 08/04/24
Newham England E6 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Dalkeith Scotland EH22 UK 08/04/24
Buitenpost 9285VZ Netherlands 08/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 08/04/24
West Malling ME19 Mauritius 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10  4AJ UK 08/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1BF UK 08/04/24
Rossendale England BB4 9AP UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92re UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Evesham England WR11 7HQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 8LG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Romford England RM3 UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Slough England SL3 8SY UK 08/04/24
Derby England DE72 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JL UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24

37

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 55



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 2AT UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QU UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104RS UK 08/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Wittenbach 9300 Sweden 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Leigh England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Hackney England E9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 08/04/24
Hastings England TN34 2ED UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9BH UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2pd UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PY UK 08/04/24
London England SE25 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Cardiff Wales; Cymru cf24 1pd UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XU UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Birmingham England B21 9ju UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XF UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Crowborough England TN6 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Hackney E9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN11SJ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JD UK 08/04/24
Chichester England PO20 8DG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Folkestone England CT18 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24

38

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 56



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Maidstone England ME14 UK 08/04/24
Tun Wells England TN2 5Xh UK 08/04/24
Shipbourne, Tonbridge England TN11 9PL UK 08/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 5BS UK 08/04/24
City of Westminster W9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BL UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN14 UK 08/04/24
Rhydyfelin Wales; Cymru CF37 5EN UK 08/04/24
Brighton CA2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN15 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Gateshead NE8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Barnet EN4 UK 08/04/24
Stockport SK6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Harrow HA3 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1QP UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 08/04/24
Ashford England TN25 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Uckfield England TN22 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Redhill RH1 UK 08/04/24
Norwich England NR6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JG UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 08/04/24
Manchester England M5 5HF UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Islington England EC1V UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England Me142rh UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3ap UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Maldon CM9 UK 08/04/24
Hitchin England SG5 UK 08/04/24
Manchester M7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24

39

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 57



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Chatham ME4 UK 08/04/24
Kemsing England TN15 6QG UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Orpington England BR6 UK 08/04/24
Sunderland SR5 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Huntingdon England PE29 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3ds UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3BJ UK 08/04/24
Bradford BD7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FW UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Woodley England sk61re UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sunderland SR2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2tr UK 08/04/24
Georgetown Malaysia 09/04/24
Poortvliet Nebraska 4693EG US 09/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 09/04/24
Helsinki Finland 09/04/24
Tolar Texas 76046 US 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4QG UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3DU UK 09/04/24
Cypress California 90630 US 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NU UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4HD UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UN UK 09/04/24
Kaiserslautern 67663 Germany 09/04/24
Sidcup England DA14 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 6BU UK 09/04/24
hull England hu17 8nn UK 09/04/24

40

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 58



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Angers 49100 France 09/04/24
Tunbridge WellsTonbridge England TN10 4EY UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Manchester England M32 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 09/04/24
Matlock DE4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1TL UK 09/04/24

Egypt 09/04/24
TONBRIDGE Tn9 1le Netherlands 09/04/24
Orpington England BR6 UK 09/04/24
Derby England De224hh UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JR UK 09/04/24
NONTRON 24300 France 09/04/24
Ramsgate England CT11 UK 09/04/24
London England se231qy UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JA UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9BN UK 09/04/24
Tom Packham England TN91UD UK 09/04/24
Frome England BA11 UK 09/04/24
Kidlington OX5 UK 09/04/24
Folkestone England CT19 UK 09/04/24

Czech Republic 09/04/24
East malling England ME19 6HB UK 09/04/24
Bridgwater England TA6 6XP UK 09/04/24
Cranbrook England TN17 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Newcastle Upon Tyne England NE12 UK 09/04/24
Islington N1 UK 09/04/24
Dagenham RM8 UK 09/04/24
Hull England HU13 9DS UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Bideford England ex39 4an UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DA UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
London England SE17 3FP UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Jarrow England NE32 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24

Germany 09/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AU UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 09/04/24

41

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 59



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN10 3EA UK 09/04/24
Crowborough TN6 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Battle England TN33 UK 09/04/24
Spruce Grove t7x3x9 Canada 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
London England EC4M UK 09/04/24
High Pt. North Carolina 27265 US 09/04/24
Leeds LS2 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN UK 09/04/24
Bristol England BS13 UK 09/04/24
Bristol England BS15 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JJ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91EX UK 09/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AY UK 09/04/24

59200 France 09/04/24
Edinburgh England EH5 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1ND UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3hd UK 09/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Sheffield England S25 UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NJ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24

Austria 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91JA UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN9 1UD UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4LY UK 09/04/24
Manchester England M21 UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Liverpool England L13 7DT UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Holland-on-Sea England co155dn UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Lancaster Pennsylvania 17603 US 09/04/24
Surbiton KT5 Romania 09/04/24

42

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 60



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Maidstone England ME15 UK 09/04/24
Bromley England BR1 5JN UK 09/04/24
Columbia South Carolina 29209 US 09/04/24
Streatham England SW16 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3ER UK 09/04/24
London EC1N UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2jy UK 09/04/24
Broadstairs England CT10 3qz UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 09/04/24
Pershore England WR10 UK 09/04/24
Canonbie Scotland DG14 UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 4RL UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN37 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Croydon CR0 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PA UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Molina de Segura 30500 Spain 09/04/24
Charleville-MÃ©ziÃ¨res 8000 France 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Abingdon England OX13 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24

51399 Germany 09/04/24
London EC4M UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BE UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Nurnberg 90443 Germany 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JT UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1ns UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England tn11 8hu UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3el UK 09/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 UK 09/04/24
Crowborough England TN61RP UK 09/04/24

UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England Tn4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Broadstairs England CT10 1NS UK 09/04/24
Crowborough TN6 UK 09/04/24
BROADSTAIRS England Ct10 3dg UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NY UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DU UK 09/04/24
Hackney England N16 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24

43

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 61



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Teignmouth England TQ14 8HW UK 09/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Lewes England BN7 UK 09/04/24
Kenilworth England CV8 2BH UK 09/04/24
Saint feliu d'Avall 66170 France 09/04/24
Liverpool England L17 UK 09/04/24
London England SE20 UK 09/04/24
Dronfield England S18 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Windsor SL4 UK 09/04/24
leicester England le38gx UK 09/04/24
Bromley England SE20 UK 09/04/24
Campi Bisenzio, Florence 50013 Italy 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Stevenage SG2 UK 09/04/24
Lanaken 3620 Belgium 09/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
City of Westminster W9 UK 09/04/24
City of Westminster W9 UK 09/04/24
Guidel 56520 France 09/04/24
TrÃ©gunc 29910 France 09/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 09/04/24

Netherlands 09/04/24
Norwich England NR1 3BQ UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91xu UK 09/04/24
Kent England TN12 6SJ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2EL UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2jy UK 09/04/24
London EN1 UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 0QX UK 09/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JX UK 09/04/24
Hallandale Beach Florida 33009 US 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Medway ME3 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EN UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HX UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Newport Pagnell England MK16 UK 09/04/24

44

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 62



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 2TG UK 09/04/24
London England TN10 3AP UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HW UK 09/04/24
Lambeth SW4 UK 09/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NL UK 09/04/24
Greenwich England SE7 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9JL UK 09/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 09/04/24
Ovada 15076 Italy 09/04/24
London England EC4R UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JX UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Slough SL1 UK 09/04/24
Longniddry Scotland EH32 UK 09/04/24

Ireland 09/04/24
Haywards Heath England RH16 UK 09/04/24
Barnet England EN4 UK 09/04/24
Mios 33380 France 09/04/24
Hove England BN3 8AP UK 09/04/24
Crowborough England TN6 2LR UK 09/04/24
Rosario. Santa Fe 2000 Argentina 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2FE UK 09/04/24
STEVENAGE England SG2 9XW UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HW UK 09/04/24
Liverpool England L15 7JB UK 09/04/24
Ilfracombe England EX34 UK 09/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 09/04/24
East Sussex England TN6 2BX UK 09/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 09/04/24
Rio de Janeiro Brazil 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Lancaster England LA1 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Bexhill-on-Sea England TN39 3PY UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 6RL UK 09/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England ME17 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 09/04/24
Crowborough England TN6 UK 09/04/24
Liverpool UK 09/04/24
Rotterdam 4693 Netherlands 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN131YF UK 09/04/24
Barnet England EN4 UK 09/04/24

45

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 63



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24

UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 09/04/24
Kidlington OX5 UK 09/04/24
London England SE7 7EZ UK 09/04/24
sunderland England sr5 3dd UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4LP UK 09/04/24
Tenterden England TN30 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 09/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 09/04/24
Gedney England Pe12 0au UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TH UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2FE UK 09/04/24
Teddington England TW11 UK 09/04/24
Werribee 3030 Australia 09/04/24
Limerick Ireland 09/04/24
Kilbirnie Scotland KA25 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Croydon England CR0 UK 09/04/24
Polegate England BN26 UK 09/04/24
Jacksonville Florida 32234 US 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Lewisham England SE23 UK 09/04/24
Louth England LN11 UK 09/04/24

Trinidad & Tob 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3hp UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Bexhill England TN40 1JG UK 10/04/24
London England Nw89ya UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 10/04/24
Tudeley England TN11 0PQ UK 10/04/24
Peterborough PE6 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn91jd UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Crowborough England TN6 UK 10/04/24
Lambeth England SE1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1hx UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24

46

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 64



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 10/04/24
Norwich England NR99 UK 10/04/24
Oakham England LE15 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England tn10 4pg UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TR UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 9HL UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Burton-on-Trent England DE13 UK 10/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DQ UK 10/04/24
Wandsworth England SW18 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 10/04/24
London EC1N UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Brierley Hill England Dy5 UK 10/04/24
City of Westminster England W1J UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3DG UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
East sussex England tn19 7pd UK 10/04/24
Southwark SE1P UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Hadleigh England SS7 3YF UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Paris 75015 France 10/04/24
Tower Hamlets E1 UK 10/04/24
Coventry England CV6 1PS UK 10/04/24
ApfelstÃ¤dt 99192 Germany 10/04/24
Harringay England N15 UK 10/04/24
Bradford BD9 UK 10/04/24
Swanley England BR8 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Brent England NW10 UK 10/04/24
Brent NW6 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HR UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24

2502 Australia 10/04/24
Brighton England BN2 UK 10/04/24
Chigwell England IG7 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HR UK 10/04/24

47

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 65



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Bexhill-on-Sea England TN39 UK 10/04/24
London England EC1N UK 10/04/24
Stockport SK6 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1fw UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Bearsted England me144lt UK 10/04/24
Brighouse HD6 UK 10/04/24
Manchester England M22 UK 10/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2as UK 10/04/24
Palma 7005 Spain 10/04/24

Netherlands 10/04/24
Kent England TN8 7HE UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3NN UK 10/04/24
Maidenhead England SL6 3JT UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91JD UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2YR UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
South East CR0 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10  3TA UK 10/04/24
Yalding England ME186AD UK 10/04/24
Croydon England CR0 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Liskeard England PL14 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Plymouth England PL4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
London England NW1 8QS UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn14 UK 10/04/24
Swansea SA1 UK 10/04/24
Ilford England IG3 UK 10/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Devizes England SN10 UK 10/04/24
Swindon SN1 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 10/04/24
Altrincham England WA14 UK 10/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24

48

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 66



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Dundee DD4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridfe England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92QZ UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E1 UK 10/04/24
Beckenham BR3 UK 10/04/24
Cambridge CB1 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XP UK 10/04/24
Crawley England RH11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Kent England Tn40xd UK 10/04/24
Wakefield WF1 UK 10/04/24
Liverpool England L36 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9XS UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BA UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
City of Westminster England W1J UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 10/04/24

UK 10/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 10/04/24
Hexham England NE46 UK 10/04/24
Lewisham England SE12 UK 10/04/24
Mountain Ash Wales; Cymru CF45 UK 10/04/24
Enfield England N18 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN119BL UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AP UK 10/04/24
Nottinghamshire England DN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SU UK 10/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NL UK 10/04/24
Bristol England BS5 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 10/04/24
Waltham Forest England E17 UK 10/04/24

49

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 67



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Lewisham SE6 UK 10/04/24
Bradford BD2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103HR UK 10/04/24
Cranbrook England TN18 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1tl UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Trowbridge England ba14 9bb UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN1 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Plymouth England PL5 4LW UK 11/04/24
Ilford IG3 UK 11/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 11/04/24
Bicester England Ox264yw UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Portishead England BS20 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NJ UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 11/04/24
Derry Northern Ireland BT47 5SX UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 0JD UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3HG UK 11/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3Hp UK 11/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 5RZ UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92NJ UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Nottingham NG7 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Hildenborough England Tn11 9ha UK 11/04/24
New Milton England BH25 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 0fn UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24

50

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 68



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Birmingham England b14 7sr UK 11/04/24
Birmingham England B21 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 11/04/24
Margate CT8 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DH UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2le UK 11/04/24
London England N2 8lb UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Southwark England SE5 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 3HW UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4sb UK 11/04/24
Ilford England IG3 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92PQ UK 11/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Runcorn England Wa76ps UK 11/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 11/04/24
Wandsworth England SW17 UK 11/04/24
Lambeth England SE24 UK 11/04/24
Exeter England EX2 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 11/04/24
Leicester LE3 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 11/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 11/04/24
Bournemouth BH9 UK 11/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24
Islington N7 UK 11/04/24

UK 11/04/24
London TN4 UK 11/04/24

UK 11/04/24
Eastbourne England BN23 UK 11/04/24
Rotherhithe England SE16 UK 11/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24

51

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 69



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Newham E6 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24

UK 11/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91TQ UK 11/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2nu UK 11/04/24
Snodland ME6 UK 11/04/24
Tonypandy Wales; Cymru CF40 UK 11/04/24
Luton England LU2 7RR UK 11/04/24
Leeds England LS11 UK 11/04/24
Balham England SW12 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 11/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G69 7 SR UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
hereford England HR1 1PF UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103TJ UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 11/04/24
Andover England SP10 UK 11/04/24
Faversham England ME13 UK 11/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN10 3EA UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Cardiff Wales; Cymru CF24 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 12/04/24
George Town 11060 Malaysia 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
London England EC1N UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104RF UK 12/04/24
London England N9 0dx UK 12/04/24
Devizes England SN10 UK 12/04/24
Westerham England TN16 UK 12/04/24
Bidborough England TN3 0XE UK 12/04/24
Hastings England TN37 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 12/04/24
Frittenden England TN17 2ej UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 12/04/24
Leeds LS4 UK 12/04/24
Arrecife 35500 Spain 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
London England KT1 4ER UK 12/04/24
London England e6 2rx UK 12/04/24

52

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 70



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Northwood HA6 UK 12/04/24
Rochester ME1 UK 12/04/24
Newquay England TR7 3HJ UK 12/04/24
Coventry CV2 UK 12/04/24
Leeds England LS196NE UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NB UK 12/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 12/04/24

UK 12/04/24
Folkestone England CT20 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
London England EC1N UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
Southwark England SE1P UK 12/04/24
Derby - UK 12/04/24
Bridport England DT6 4SP UK 12/04/24
Southampton England So169fu UK 12/04/24
Milton Keynes England MK3 5HT UK 12/04/24
Shepherd's Bush England W12 8JE UK 12/04/24
New Cross England SE14 UK 12/04/24
Leigh-on-sea SS9 UK 12/04/24
Spennymoor England DL16 7FH UK 12/04/24
Royal Leamington Spa England CV31 1DW UK 12/04/24
Surrey England KT11 2PQ UK 12/04/24
Nottingham England NG7 5FZ UK 12/04/24
Birmingham England B30 UK 12/04/24
manchester England m32 0up UK 12/04/24
Norwich England NR8 6RP UK 12/04/24
Milton Keynes England MK17 UK 12/04/24
Minsterley SY5 UK 12/04/24
London England EN4 8AF UK 12/04/24
Stamford PE9 UK 12/04/24
Atlow England DE6 1NS UK 12/04/24
Eastoft England DN17 4PR UK 12/04/24
Stevenage England SG2 9LX UK 12/04/24
Tibshelf England DE55 UK 12/04/24

UK 12/04/24
Argoed Wales; Cymru NP12 0AX UK 12/04/24
Lyme Regis England DT7 3AB UK 12/04/24
London England E11 UK 12/04/24
Surbiton KT5 UK 12/04/24
Stockton-on-Tees England TS19 7AZ UK 12/04/24
Doncaster DN8 UK 12/04/24
Magherafelt Northern Ireland BT45 UK 12/04/24
Willesborough England TN24 0JJ UK 12/04/24
Exeter England EX5 3AN UK 12/04/24
Morley England LS27 7SQ UK 12/04/24
Kirkcaldy KY2 UK 12/04/24
Boughton England NG22 9HL UK 12/04/24
London England E2 9JL UK 12/04/24

53

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 71



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Woking England GU21 3RT UK 12/04/24
Paignton TQ4 UK 12/04/24
London England E17 UK 12/04/24
Oldham England Ol8 2xq UK 12/04/24
Porthcawl Bridgend Wales; Cymru cf36 3rd UK 12/04/24
London EC4N UK 12/04/24
Colton England WS15 3NB UK 12/04/24
Newark England NG23 6PF UK 12/04/24
Bath England ba2 2pq UK 12/04/24
Cardiff Wales; Cymru CF11 UK 12/04/24
Derby England DE72  2GL UK 12/04/24
Manchester M5 UK 12/04/24
Runcorn England wa7 2fa UK 12/04/24
Winchester England So21 3bh UK 12/04/24
Sutton Coldfield England b76 1yy UK 12/04/24
Market Harborough England LE16 UK 12/04/24
London England Sw17 8dz UK 12/04/24
Knutsford England WA168JY UK 12/04/24
London UB1 UK 12/04/24
Blyth England NE24 3AN UK 12/04/24
Stoke-on-trent ST3 UK 12/04/24
Portsmouth PO6 UK 12/04/24
Armthorpe England DN3 3BL UK 12/04/24
Swindon Wiltshire UK 12/04/24
Nottingham England NG12 2HN UK 12/04/24
Hull England HU10 UK 12/04/24
South Woodford England E18 UK 12/04/24
London EC4R UK 12/04/24
Edinburgh EH1 UK 12/04/24
Leicester England LE2 9SZ UK 12/04/24
Lowestoft England NR32 UK 12/04/24
Newcastle Upon Tyne NE2 UK 12/04/24
London England SW9 7EW UK 12/04/24
Epping England CM16 5DP UK 12/04/24
Tadworth England KT20 6qz UK 12/04/24
Bristol England BS36 1LX UK 12/04/24
Lambeth SW4 UK 12/04/24
Leamington Spa England CV32 UK 12/04/24
London England SW16 2SB UK 12/04/24
Edgware England HA8 9UB UK 12/04/24
Southend-on-Sea England SS2 4JJ UK 12/04/24
Chesterton England ST5 7LP UK 12/04/24
Bury BL9 UK 12/04/24
London England Sw19 3dl UK 12/04/24
Preston PR3 UK 12/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 12/04/24
Horsham England RH12 1NA UK 12/04/24
Havant PO9 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24

54

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 72



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Lytham Saint Annes England FY8 1AW UK 12/04/24
Wolverhampton England WV13 UK 12/04/24
Hayes England UB3 2BE UK 12/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 12/04/24
Saltdean England BN2 8DB UK 12/04/24
Cwmbran Wales; Cymru NP44 1RA UK 12/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 12/04/24
Cilcain England CH7 5NE UK 12/04/24
Walthamstow England E17 UK 12/04/24
Ventnor England po38 1nq UK 12/04/24
Malvern England WR14 1SD UK 12/04/24
Coventry CV1 UK 12/04/24
Craigavon Northern Ireland BT64 UK 12/04/24
Warwick England CV34 UK 12/04/24
London EC2V UK 12/04/24
London England w30as UK 12/04/24
Colchester CO7 UK 12/04/24
Pontefract England WF8 2UT UK 12/04/24
London England E4 7PF UK 12/04/24
Richmond England DL10 UK 12/04/24
Edwalton England Ng12 4bd UK 12/04/24
Hove BN3 UK 12/04/24
Manchester M8 UK 12/04/24
Ledbury England HR8 2PW UK 12/04/24
Killingworth England NE12 6PZ UK 12/04/24
Pwllheli Wales; Cymru LL53 6RQ UK 12/04/24
Ewell England Kt199rb UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 12/04/24
Hungerford England RG17 UK 12/04/24
Swindon SN2 UK 12/04/24
Saint Neots England PE19 UK 12/04/24
Birmingham England B67 UK 12/04/24
Shrewsbury England SY3 7JS UK 12/04/24

UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
LOCHGILPHEAD Scotland PA31 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 12/04/24
Whitehaven England CA28 9JG UK 12/04/24
Bognor Regis England po22 8ga UK 12/04/24
tonbridge England tn104hq UK 12/04/24
Birmingham England B368ed UK 12/04/24
Saltburn-by-the-Sea England TS12 1AX UK 12/04/24
Doncaster DN2 UK 12/04/24
Chelmsford England CM1 4DL UK 12/04/24
Cheshunt England EN80BQ UK 12/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 UK 12/04/24
Hackney England E9 UK 12/04/24
Pentre-cwrt Wales; Cymru SA44 5DB UK 12/04/24
Nottingham NG2 UK 12/04/24

55

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 73



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Sheffield England S359XA UK 12/04/24
Stoke-on-trent ST4 UK 12/04/24
Hednesford England WS12 4 SD UK 12/04/24
Hadlow Down England Tn22 4HQ UK 12/04/24
London England SE12 0JA UK 12/04/24
Newry Northern Ireland BT35 UK 12/04/24
Barry Wales; Cymru CF 62 7nb UK 12/04/24
Nottingham NG8 UK 12/04/24
London EC4N UK 12/04/24
London E9 UK 12/04/24
Bicester England OX27 9AS UK 12/04/24
Middlesbrough TS5 UK 12/04/24
Grays England RM17 5RP UK 12/04/24

UK 12/04/24
Liverpool England L25 5JF UK 12/04/24
Camden NW1 UK 12/04/24
Southampton England SO15 UK 12/04/24
Wirral England CH61 UK 12/04/24
Enfield EN1 UK 12/04/24
London England SW16 4HT UK 12/04/24
Leicester LE2 UK 12/04/24
London Wc1x UK 13/04/24
Darlington England DL3 9HA UK 13/04/24
Wallington England SM6 7GH UK 13/04/24
Watford England Wd18 6xl UK 13/04/24

UK 13/04/24
Cirencester England GL7 1JP UK 13/04/24
Manchester England M43 UK 13/04/24
Badshot Lea England GU9 9LZ UK 13/04/24
Penrith England CA11 UK 13/04/24
Shropshire England tf2 7ly UK 13/04/24

UK 13/04/24
Kingsbridge England TQ7 1LE UK 13/04/24
london England sw19 2up UK 13/04/24
Basingstoke England RG29 1DJ UK 13/04/24
Kearsley England Bl4 8sb UK 13/04/24
Barnet England EN5 2HS UK 13/04/24
Kenley England CR8 5DP UK 13/04/24
Oxford OX3 UK 13/04/24
Birmingham England B76 2SU UK 13/04/24
Brighton BN2 UK 13/04/24
Great Yarmouth England NR29 UK 13/04/24
Littlehampton England BN16 2ND UK 13/04/24
Stourport-on-Severn England DY13 0EW UK 13/04/24
Grimsby England DN33 UK 13/04/24
Doncaster DN4 UK 13/04/24
Rugby England S73 UK 13/04/24
Sheffield England S10 3DD UK 13/04/24
Folkestone England CT19 UK 13/04/24

56

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 74



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Bognor Regis Bognor Regis UK 13/04/24
Bury BL8 UK 13/04/24
Dagenham England RM10 UK 13/04/24
Northallerton England DL7 0rs UK 13/04/24
Gateshead England NE10 0JA UK 13/04/24
Gateshead England NE10 0BQ UK 13/04/24
Stafford England ST16 UK 13/04/24
Norwich England NR2 4JD UK 13/04/24
Bridgwater England ta65sf UK 13/04/24
Tonypandy Wales; Cymru CF40 2TL UK 13/04/24
Launceston England PL15 UK 13/04/24
London England NW74BE UK 13/04/24
Robertsbridge England TN32 5NH UK 13/04/24
London England N10 3UA UK 13/04/24
Salcombe England TQ8 8AY UK 13/04/24
Goole England DN14 UK 13/04/24
Swansea SA3 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 13/04/24
Hampstead NW3 UK 13/04/24
Winterbourne England BS36 1RA UK 13/04/24
Liverpool L1 UK 13/04/24
Hove BN3 UK 13/04/24
Wellington England TA21 UK 13/04/24
Grimsby England DN36 UK 13/04/24
Wolverhampton England WV106EL UK 13/04/24
Reading England RG2 7Da UK 13/04/24
Leeds England LS209JE UK 13/04/24
Saint George's England TF2 9UH UK 13/04/24
Wolverhampton England WV6 8TT UK 13/04/24
Barry Wales; Cymru CF62 UK 13/04/24
Cambridge England CB236ER UK 13/04/24
Frome England BA11 5BX UK 13/04/24
London EC4N UK 13/04/24
Finchley England N12 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Goole England DN14 6AH UK 13/04/24
Macclesfield England SK11 UK 13/04/24
Cowes England PO31 7SU UK 13/04/24
Holland On Sea Essex UK 13/04/24
Whitchurch England RG28 7DN UK 13/04/24
Ilkeston England de74hp UK 13/04/24
Peterborough PE4 UK 13/04/24
Dudley DY1 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AS UK 13/04/24
Birmingham England B9 5TS UK 13/04/24
Kent England Me4 5dh UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104QY UK 13/04/24
Ilford IG3 UK 13/04/24
Crumlin Wales; Cymru NP11 5HN UK 13/04/24

57

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 75



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Chatham England ME5 UK 13/04/24
London England E14 UK 13/04/24
Preston England PR2 6EJ UK 13/04/24
London England SW18 4HE UK 13/04/24
West Bromwich England B71 UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN1 2NP UK 13/04/24
Wednesbury England Ws10 0lq UK 13/04/24
Ulverston England LA12 UK 13/04/24
Portchester England PO16 8DN UK 13/04/24
ashington England ne63 8pe UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9PT UK 13/04/24
Hampton England TW122AZ UK 13/04/24
Bristol England BS35 3UG UK 13/04/24
Brampton England NR348DZ UK 13/04/24
Chesterfield England S41 0LF UK 13/04/24
Great Yarmouth England NR29 UK 13/04/24
Aberdour Scotland KY3 0UF UK 13/04/24
Newbridge Wales; Cymru NP11 UK 13/04/24
Clevedon England BS21 7DW UK 13/04/24
Penrith England CA11 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24
LONDON England SW16 1HS UK 13/04/24
Witham England CM8 2RB UK 13/04/24
Nottingham England NG60QN UK 13/04/24
Bridgend Wales; Cymru CF31 4DR UK 13/04/24
Colchester England CO4 5JQ UK 13/04/24
Chelmsford England CM29DX UK 13/04/24
St. Albans England AL1 1LB UK 13/04/24
Whitley Bay England NE26 3PN UK 13/04/24
Barrhead Scotland G78 2AW UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN3 UK 13/04/24
Blandford Saint Mary England DT11 9PP UK 13/04/24
London England N18 UK 13/04/24
Doncaster DN2 UK 13/04/24
Thundersley England SS7 3QP UK 13/04/24
Tividale England B69 1UH UK 13/04/24
Croydon CR0 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 13/04/24
Hemel Hempstead England hp13lw UK 13/04/24
Wingfield England lu79qh UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Uckfield England TN22 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AS UK 13/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 13/04/24
Deal England CT14 UK 13/04/24
Prudhoe England NE42 UK 13/04/24
Wilmslow England sk9 4dy UK 13/04/24
Hanslope England Mk197le UK 13/04/24

58

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 76



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Dartford DAD 9EL UK 13/04/24
Hove England BN1 2AB UK 13/04/24
Derry Northern Ireland BT51 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Barnet EN4 UK 13/04/24
Hull England Hu6 9nb UK 13/04/24
Liverpool L4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2sw UK 13/04/24
Orpington England Br6 UK 13/04/24

Ireland 13/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
tonbridge England TN10 UK 13/04/24
Brighton England BN1 6lw UK 13/04/24
Northampton NN1 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2FE UK 13/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 13/04/24
Greenwich England SE28 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 13/04/24
Aberaeron Wales; Cymru SA46 UK 13/04/24
Ryde England PO33 UK 13/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 13/04/24
Birmingham England B29 UK 13/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN3 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Bedford England MK40 UK 13/04/24
Gloucestershire England GL6 6HL UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells Northern Ireland TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn12 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4rf UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Skegness England PE25 UK 13/04/24
Polegate England BN26 UK 13/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9LA UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Newcastle upon Tyne England NE7 UK 13/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 13/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN11 0LU UK 13/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 13/04/24
tonbridge England TN9 2AY UK 13/04/24

59

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 77



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Camden NW5 UK 13/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 13/04/24
County Durham England DL133EW UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NJ UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 13/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Seaham SR7 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 6AH UK 13/04/24
Crowborough England TN6 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 13/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 13/04/24
Mitcham England CR4 1EQ UK 13/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 UK 13/04/24
Hildenborough TN11 9HB Cape Verde 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
London England N7 6RS UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Burnham-on-crouch CM0 UK 13/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 13/04/24
Barnet England EN5 UK 13/04/24
Ilford England IG3 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 14/04/24
Greenwich England SE18 UK 14/04/24
London England W3 7HQ UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England tn92nn UK 14/04/24
Hitchin England SG5 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN13 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JB UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Ipswich England IP4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9PP UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
London EC4R UK 14/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 14/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 14/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 14/04/24
Croydon England CR0 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92jg UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 14/04/24

60

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 78



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Rochester ME1 UK 14/04/24
Hadlow England Tn110hg UK 14/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 5AU UK 14/04/24
Kensington England W8 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 1HE UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9SH UK 14/04/24
Ash Vale England GU12 5JW UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tunbridge wells England TN2 UK 14/04/24
London England tn9 2pb UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91FZ UK 14/04/24
Nottingham NG1 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 14/04/24
Magherafelt Northern Ireland BT45 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2RB UK 14/04/24
Gosport England PO12 3QJ UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 14/04/24
Hadlow Tonbridge UK 14/04/24
Hildenborough England tn11 9ln UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1fp UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME99 UK 14/04/24
tonbridge tn9 UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 14/04/24
PRESTON England PR3 0QB UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JX UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3JW UK 14/04/24
Bradford BD1 UK 14/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 14/04/24
Margate CT9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 14/04/24
Plockton Scotland IV52 UK 14/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91LF UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME171EH UK 14/04/24
Wigston England LE18 1NF UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 14/04/24
Kilrea Northern Ireland BT51 5XP UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Kingswinford England DY6 7ST UK 14/04/24

61

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 79



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2YS UK 14/04/24
Romney Marsh England TN29 9JN UK 14/04/24
Barnsley England S36 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN9 2LP UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LP UK 14/04/24
Kent TN9 UK 14/04/24
London England Se21 8dg UK 14/04/24
Hackney E2 UK 14/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LP UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Rayleigh England SS6 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN2 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 14/04/24
Hackney England E2 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 14/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 14/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24
Shipbourne England TN11 9PP UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0BX UK 14/04/24
Herne Bay England CT6 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LG UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24

UK 14/04/24
Hampstead NW3 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24

62

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 80



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Hildenborough Tn118ny Norway 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TG UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 UK 14/04/24
Hemel Hempstead HP3 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Acton W3 UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 UK 14/04/24
Hackney E9 UK 14/04/24
London Se3 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN10 4JF Iceland 14/04/24
Breda 4695 BN Netherlands 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 14/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 14/04/24
Bexleyheath England DA7 UK 14/04/24
Redding Scotland FK29XE UK 14/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 14/04/24
Chelmsford England CM2 9DB UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3DH UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UD UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1DQ UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 14/04/24
Tombridge England TN9 1PA UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 14/04/24
Plymouth England PL6 UK 14/04/24
Southborough England Tn40pd UK 14/04/24
Leigh England TN11 9AS UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3BU UK 14/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4ht UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN126BB UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BJ UK 15/04/24
Whitley Bay England NE25 0EL UK 15/04/24
Oxford Ox4 UK 15/04/24
Battle England TN33 UK 15/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 15/04/24

63

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 81



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Minehead England TA24 UK 15/04/24
ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS TN2 UK 15/04/24
London England W8 6DF UK 15/04/24
Benenden England TN17 UK 15/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 15/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9ES UK 15/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 UK 15/04/24
St Austell England PL25 UK 15/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 15/04/24
Lewisham England SE12 UK 15/04/24

64

Annex 1 (Redacted)

Page 82



Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

 

 

PETITION SCHEME 
 
 

The Borough Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in 
which people can let us know their concerns. All petitions sent or presented to the 
Council will receive an acknowledgement from the Council within 10 working days of 
receipt. This acknowledgement will set out how the petition is to be dealt with. We will 
treat something as a petition if it is identified as being a petition or if it seems to us that 
it is intended to be a petition. 
 

Paper petitions can be sent to: 
 

- Democratic Services, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Gibson Building, 
Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, ME19 4LZ 

 

Alternatively, in electronic form if created, signed and submitted online by following the 
procedure set out on the Council’s website. 
 

Petitions can also be presented to a meeting of the Council. These meetings take place 
on a regular basis and dates and times are published by Notice and on the Council’s 
website. To present a petition to the Council in person, or to request your Councillor or 
someone else to present it on your behalf, please contact our Democratic Services 
team on: committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk at least 10 working days before the 
meeting for further advice. 
 

What are the guidelines for submitting a petition? 
 

Petitions submitted to the Council must include: 
 

- a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition. It should state 
what action the petitioners wish the Council to take; 

 

- the name and address and signature of the persons supporting the petition; and 
 

- a closing date should be set by the petition organiser. Where no closing date has 
been identified, the Borough Council will set this as six weeks from the date the 
petition was received. 

 

Petitions should be accompanied by contact details, including an address, for the 
petition organiser. This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to 
the petition. The contact details of the petition organiser will not be placed on the 
Council’s website. 
 

If the petition does not identify a petition organiser, we will contact signatories to the 
petition to agree who should act as the petition organiser. 
 

  

Page 83

mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

Petitions which are considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate will 
not be accepted. In the period immediately before an election or referendum we may 
need to deal with your petition differently – if this is the case we will explain the reasons 
and discuss the revised timescale which will apply. 
 

If a petition does not follow the guidelines set out above, the Council may decide not to 
do anything further with it. In that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 
 

What will the Council do when it receives my petition? 
 

An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 working days of 
receiving the petition. It will let them know what we plan to do with the petition and 
when they can expect to hear from us again. It will also be published on our website. 
 

If we can do what your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm that we 
have taken the action requested and the petition will be closed. If the petition has 
enough signatures to trigger a Council or Cabinet debate (as appropriate depending on 
whether the matter relates to an Executive or Council responsibility), or a senior officer 
giving evidence, then the acknowledgment will confirm this and tell you when and 
where the meeting will take place. If the petition needs more investigation, we will tell 
you the steps we plan to take. 
 

If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory petition (for 
example requesting a referendum on having an elected mayor), or on a matter where 
there is already an existing right of appeal, such as council tax banding and non-
domestic rates, other procedures apply and the matter will be dealt with accordingly. 
Further information on all these procedures and how you can express your views is 
available on our website. 
 

We will not take action on any petition which we consider to be vexatious, abusive or 
otherwise inappropriate and will explain the reasons for this in our acknowledgement of 
the petition. 
 

To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the petitions we receive, 
the details of all the petitions submitted to us will be published on our website, except in 
cases where this would be inappropriate. Wherever possible we will also publish all 
correspondence relating to the petition (all personal details will be removed). When you 
sign an e-petition you can elect to receive this information by email. We will not send 
you anything which is not relevant to the e-petition you have signed, unless you choose 
to receive other emails from us. 
 

How will the Council Respond to Petitions? 
 

Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many 
people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 
 

- taking the action requested in the petition 

- considering the petition at a Council or Cabinet meeting (whichever is 
appropriate) 
 

  

Page 84



Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

- holding an inquiry into the matter 
- undertaking research into the matter 
- holding a public meeting 
- holding a consultation 
- holding a meeting with petitioners 
- referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee* 
- calling a referendum 
- writing to the petition organiser setting out our views on the request in the 

petition 
 

*The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is a committee of Councillors who are 
responsible for scrutinising the work of the Council – in other words, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee has the power to hold the Council’s decision makers to account. 
 

In addition to these steps, the Council will consider what specific actions are available 
to address the issues highlighted in a petition. 
 

The Council’s response to a petition will set out the steps we intend to take and the 
reasons for taking this approach. 
 

If the petition is about something over which the Council has no direct control we will 
consider making representations on behalf of the community to the relevant body. The 
Council works with a large number of local partners and where possible will work with 
these partners to respond to the petition. If we are not able to do this for any reason 
(for example if what the petition calls for conflicts with Council policy), then we will set 
out the reasons for this to you. 
 

You can find more information on the services for which the Council is responsible on 
our website. 
 

If the petition is about something that a different Council is responsible for we will give 
consideration to what the best method is for responding to it. This might consist of 
simply forwarding the petition to the other Council, but could involve other steps. In any 
event we will always notify you of the action we have taken. 
 

Full Council/ Cabinet Debates 
 

If a petition contains more than 1,500 signatures it will be debated by the Full Council 
or Cabinet as appropriate (depending on whether the matter relates to an Executive or 
Council responsibility) unless it is a petition asking for a senior Council officer to give 
evidence at a public meeting. 
 

The Council/ Cabinet will endeavour to consider the petition at its next ordinary meeting 
although on some occasions this may not be possible and it will then be referred to the 
next following meeting. 
 

A maximum of two members of a deputation may address the Council/ Cabinet for no 
longer than five minutes each, in line with the Council and Committee Procedure rules. 
One of these speakers should be the petition organiser.  
 

  

Page 85

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/services


Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

The Council/ Cabinet will decide how to respond to the petition at this meeting. It may 
decide to take the action the petition requests, not to take the action requested for 
reasons put forward in the debate, or to commission further investigation into the 
matter, for example by a relevant committee or Board. The petition organiser will 
receive written confirmation of the decision. This confirmation will also be published on 
the Council’s website. 
 

Officer Evidence 
 

A petition may ask for a senior Council officer to give evidence at a public meeting 
about something for which the officer is responsible as part of their job. For example, 
the petition may ask a senior Council officer to explain progress on an issue, or to 
explain the advice given to elected members to enable them to make a particular 
decision. 
 

If your petition contains at least 750 signatures, the relevant senior officer will give 
evidence at a public meeting of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
senior officers that can be called to give evidence are those officers who are members 
of the Council’s Management Team. Their details can be found on the Council’s 
website. 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may decide that it would be more appropriate 
for another officer to give evidence instead of any officer named in a petition; for 
instance if the named officer has changed jobs. The committee may also decide to call 
the relevant Portfolio Holder to attend the meeting. Committee members will ask the 
questions at this meeting, but the petition organiser will be able to suggest questions to 
the Chair of the Committee by contacting the Democratic Services team at the above 
postal address or on committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk  up to three working days 
before the meeting. 
 

E-Petitions 
 

A committee management system (Modern.Gov) provides a facility for members of the 
public to create and submit an e-petition through the Council’s website. This allows 
petitions and supporting information to be made available to a potentially much wider 
audience than a traditional paper based petition. 
 

E-petitions will follow the same guidelines as paper petitions. 
 

The petition organiser will need to provide their name, postal address and email 
address and will also need to decide how long the petition is to be open for signatures. 
Most petitions are expected to run for six months, but you will be able to choose a 
shorter or longer timeframe, up to a maximum of 12 months. 
 

When you create an e-petition, it may take five working days before it is published 
online. This is because we have to check that the content of the petition is suitable 
before it is made available for signature. If we feel we cannot publish your petition for 
some reason, we will contact you within this time to explain. You will be able to change 
and resubmit your petition if you wish. If you do not do this within 10 working days, a 
summary of the petition and the reason why it has not been accepted will be published 
under the ‘rejected petitions’ section of the website. 
 

Page 86

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/services/council-and-democracy/councillors,-democracy-and-elections/transparency-senior-salaries
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

When an e-petition has closed for signature, it will automatically be submitted to our 
Democratic Services team. In the same way as a paper petition, you will receive an 
acknowledgement within 10 working days. If you would like to present your e-petition to 
a meeting of the Council, please contact Democratic Services as above within 10 
working days of receipt of the acknowledgement. A petition acknowledgement and 
response will be emailed to everyone who has signed the e-petition and elected to 
receive this information. The acknowledgment and response will also be published on 
this website. 
 

All the e-petitions currently available for signature will be on our website. 
 

When you sign an e-petition you will be asked to provide your name, your postcode 
and a valid email address. When you have submitted this information you will be sent 
an email to the email address you have provided. This will include a link which you 
must click on in order to confirm the email address is valid. Once this step is complete 
your ‘signature’ will be added to the petition. People visiting the e-petition will be able to 
see your name in the list of those who have signed it but your contact details will not be 
visible. 
 

There is a preference for e-petitions to be submitted via the Borough Council’s online 
system as it cannot be guaranteed that other e-petition platforms, such as Change.org 
or other similar providers, can be verified sufficiently to meet the required criteria. 
Where e-petitions are submitted via an alternative provider the Borough Council require 
hard copies to be provided for administration and audit purposes. 
 

By signing an e-petition you are giving permission for your information to be held and 
used by the Borough Council in connection with the e-petition. 
 

What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly? 
 

If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition organiser has 
the right to request that the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee review the 
steps that the Council has taken in response to your petition. The petition organiser 
must give a short explanation of the reasons why the Council’s response is not 
considered to be adequate. 
 

The Committee will endeavour to consider the request at its next meeting, although on 
some occasions this may not be possible and consideration will take place at the 
following meeting. Should the committee determine the Council has not dealt with the 
petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal with the matter. These powers 
include instigating an investigation, making recommendations to the Cabinet and 
arranging for the matter to be considered at a meeting of the Full Council. 
 

Once the appeal has been considered the petition organiser will be informed of the 
results within 5 working days. The results of the review will also be published on our 
website. 
 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



   

Cabinet Information – Part 1 Public  30 April 2024  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

30 April 2024 

Report of the Director of Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services 

 

Part 1- Public 

Executive Decision  

 

1 PETITION – PREVENT THE EXTENSION OF CHARGING HOURS IN 

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL CAR PARKS 

The Borough Council has received a petition stating that ‘The recent proposal 

to extend charging hours in the towns car parks is not just an inconvenience, 

but a potential threat to the vibrancy and vitality of our community’ and urging 

the ‘Borough Council to not only consider these facts but also listen to 

constituents who have overwhelmingly supported no increase to the 

charging hours in the car parks. We need policies that encourage growth and 

community engagement rather than hinder it.’ 

1.1 Introduction 

1.1.1 The Petition was hosted online via the change.org platform and was created on 

7 April 2024 where it gained a significant number of signatures within a short time 

period. 

1.1.2 The Borough Council was approached on 12 April 2024 in respect of submission of 

the petition and next steps. 

1.1.3 As the petition had received over 1,500 signatures, which was sufficient to trigger a 

debate at Cabinet, it was agreed with the organisers that this would be submitted 

by Monday 15 April to enable verification and discussion at an extraordinary 

meeting of Cabinet on 30 April 2024. 

1.1.4 At the time of submission, the petition (attached at Annex 1) had received 2,279 

signatures.  To avoid disclosing personal information names have been removed 

from Annex 1.   

1.1.5 It should be noted that a number of signatories are outside of the Borough, the 

County and the country.  However, these represent a small minority. 

1.1.6 In addition, we understand that there is a paper petition and this will be submitted 

to the Borough Council at the extraordinary meeting of Cabinet on 30 April 2024. 

  

Page 89

Agenda Item 5

https://www.change.org/p/prevent-the-extension-of-charging-hours-in-tonbridge-and-malling-bc-car-parks?utm_medium=custom_url&utm_source=share_petition&recruited_by_id=d68f0ec0-449c-11ed-b22b-1da6f2ac1a1a


 2  
 

Cabinet Information – Part 1 Public  30 April 2024  

1.2 Petition Scheme 

1.2.1 In accordance with the Borough Council’s adopted petition scheme (attached at 

Annex 2), petitions containing more than 1,500 signatures will be debated by 

Cabinet or Full Council, whichever body is appropriate. 

1.2.2 The petition organiser(s) are also allowed five minutes each to present the petition 

at the meeting prior to discussion by Councillors.  A maximum of two members of a 

deputation may address Members. 

1.2.3 As the matter in question relates to an executive function it is appropriate for the 

matter to be discussed by Cabinet.  

1.2.4 The organisers have been invited to address the Cabinet. 

1.2.5 The Cabinet may decide: 

 To take the action requested; 

 Not to take the action requested, for reasons put forward in the debate; 

 To commission further investigation into the matter. 

1.2.6 The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of the decision reached and 

this will also be published on the Borough Council’s website. 

1.3 Revision to Time of Operation of Parking Charges 

1.3.1 The proposal to revise the operating times and parking charges of car parks was 

considered and approved by Cabinet on 2 April 2024 on the grounds that shopping, 

working and visiting habits of the public had changed and allowed the Borough 

Council to fund changes and improvements to the parking service to meet those 

needs.  

1.3.2 The report to Cabinet had indicated that following public consultation  2180 

respondents objected to and 83 respondents supported Sunday charging’, 2096 

respondents objected to and 83 respondents supported Bank Holiday charges and 

2247 respondents objected to and 17 respondents supported evening charges until 

8pm.   

1.3.3 This approval formed part of Decision Notice D240034CAB which was published 

on 5 April 2024 and called-in for reconsideration on 8 April.  The Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee reviewed the decision at its meeting on 22 April 2024 and any 

recommendations arising from that Committee will be debated elsewhere on this 

agenda. 

  

Page 90



 3  
 

Cabinet Information – Part 1 Public  30 April 2024  

1.4 Legal Implications 

1.4.1 The Council has adopted a Petition Scheme, and this Petition has been submitted 

by the petitioners for consideration by Cabinet in accordance with the Scheme.  

1.5 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.5.1 There are no financial and value for money considerations in respect of the petition. 

1.5.2 However, the financial and value for money considerations in respect of the 

proposals that the petition relates to are detailed in the reports reviewed by Cabinet 

on 2 April and Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 22 April. 

1.6 Risk Assessment 

1.6.1 There is no assessment of risk in respect of the petition.  However, the proposals 

that the petition relates to had a comprehensive risk assessment undertaken as 

detailed in the reports reviewed by Cabinet on 2 April and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 22 April. 

1.7 Equality Impact Assessment 

1.7.1 The substantive debate will form part of the call-in of Decision Notice D240034CAB 

elsewhere on the agenda.  There is no equality impact assessment in respect of 

receiving the petition. 

1.8 Recommendations 

It is recommended that: 

1.8.1 Members RECEIVE and NOTE the Petition detailed at Annex 1. 

1.8.2 Members consider the matters raised in the petition alongside the consideration of 

any recommendations arising from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

elsewhere on the agenda. 

Background papers: contact: Allison Parris 

Principal Democratic Services 

Officer   
Nil 

 

 

Robert Styles 

Director Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services  

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Prevent the Extension of Charging 
Hours in Tonbridge and Malling BC 

Car Parks 

Started 
7 April 2024 
Petition to 
Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council 

Why this petition matters 

Started by Graham Gra 

I am a resident of Tonbridge, supporting our local businesses and our high 
street. 

The recent proposal to extend charging hours in the towns car parks is not just 
an inconvenience, but a potential threat to the vibrancy and vitality of our 
community.  

Extended charging hours can deter visitors from frequenting our high street, 
social and sports clubs impacting local businesses that rely on their patronage. 

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 93

https://www.change.org/u/1279039462


According to data from the Federation of Small Businesses (FSB), prolonged 
parking charges can lead to a decrease in footfall by up to 50%. This could be 
devastating for Tonbridge's economy. 
 
Moreover, this move does not align with the efforts made by other towns across 
the UK which are reducing or even eliminating parking charges as part of 
strategies designed to support local commerce (source: British Parking 
Association). 
 
We urge Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council to not only consider these 
facts but also listen to their constituents who have overwhelmingly supported 
no increase to the charging hours in the car parks. We need policies that 
encourage growth and community engagement rather than hinder it. 
 
Please sign this petition if you believe in the preservation of local businesses, 
sports and social clubs here in Tonbridge by requesting the council do not 
introduce parking charges in the evenings and on Sundays and Bank holidays. 

 

Petition Closed 
 
This petition had 2,279 supporters 
 

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 94



Petition Started: 07 April 2024
Petition Ended: 15 April 2024
Total Signatures: 2,279

City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN10 4PS UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UU UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England tn9 1ue UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QT UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92jy UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Cambridge CB1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PD UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Harringay England N15 UK 07/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92DE UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
London EC1N UK 07/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England me5 0jn UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4QT UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JA UK 07/04/24
Inverness IV3 UK 07/04/24
London England Nw11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91PU UK 07/04/24
Kent TN9 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England Tn118nr UK 07/04/24
Kent England TN9 1LW UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Manchester England M61 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DA UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England Tn11 UK 07/04/24
London EC4N UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104eb UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24

1

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 95



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3LH UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1fr UK 07/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Kent England TN9 1hw UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0EZ UK 07/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 07/04/24
Romford England RM5 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 6QU UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3lu UK 07/04/24
Weston-super-mare England BS24 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 4NZ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24

UK 07/04/24
Margate England CT9 UK 07/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9BT UK 07/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NN UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4bd UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2du UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3TD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2db UK 07/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 2JB UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JX UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Totnes England TQ9 UK 07/04/24

CT1 UK 07/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 2TD UK 07/04/24
Reading England RG8 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Titusville Florida 32780 US 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1sp UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BW UK 07/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PB UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24

2

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 96



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2ES UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3ll UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Kent TN9 UK 07/04/24
Kent England G2 UK 07/04/24
Twells England Tn40pd UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge UK 07/04/24
Wokingham England RG40 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Islington EC1V UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
tonbridge England Tn9 2el UK 07/04/24
Southborough  Royal Tunbridge England TN4 0AP UK
Fulham England W12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4 QS UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4SD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NA UK 07/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 07/04/24
London England EC1N UK 07/04/24
London England SE11 4PA UK 07/04/24
London EC4N UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 2EU UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Waterlooville PO7 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
London England Se22 9hf UK 07/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3el UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BG UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England TN110EY UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AR UK 07/04/24

3

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 97



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England Tn9 2rd UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 3LL UK 07/04/24
Plaxtol England TN15 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
London England SE11 4PA UK 07/04/24
Bristol BS3 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 07/04/24
Five Oak Green England TN12 6TD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UY UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PJ UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Perth Scotland PH2 9RB UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2SD UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HR UK 07/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0JP UK 07/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 07/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 07/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
London England NW3 6 BA UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103el UK 07/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 07/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 5HJ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92sn UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
London EC1N UK 07/04/24
Herne Bay England CT6 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AX UK 07/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Rochester England ME3 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
kent TN9 UK 07/04/24
Letchworth Garden City England SG6 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QZ UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4ng UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NG UK 07/04/24

4

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 98



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 2qz UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England Tn24hz UK 07/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XB UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Watford England WD17 UK 07/04/24
Bradford BD8 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 07/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England tn10 3hq UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 07/04/24
Marden England TN12 9TR UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92PD UK 07/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN3 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Westerham England TN16 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 07/04/24
Otford England TN14 5QH UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92uw UK 07/04/24
Wrexham Wales  Cymru LL11 UK
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Otford England TN14 5QH UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 07/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 07/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 7NF UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN119JQ UK 08/04/24
TUNBRIDGE WELLS England TN2 4DW UK 08/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN10 4RU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Kent Tn10 3JL Cyprus 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3DU UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103lr UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 6AN UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 2TL UK 08/04/24

5

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 99



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
TONBRIDGE England TN9 2EJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1sp UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92ed UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PA UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Grays England RM16 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks Da4 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Bristol Scotland BS5 UK 08/04/24
Sheffield England S1 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2YR UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 2QX UK 08/04/24
Wandsworth England SW15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QZ UK 08/04/24
Birmingham England B15 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Bexleyheath England DA7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92ep UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TJ UK 08/04/24
kent England tn103ey UK 08/04/24
Etchingham England TN19 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME18 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England tn13 3jl UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Bexleyheath England DA6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2jb UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9JN UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN48GF UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FX UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4DG UK 08/04/24

6

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 100



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Perugia 6129 Italy 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4be UK 08/04/24
Barking England IG11 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Eastbourne England BN21 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DB UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3RF UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN12 9AG UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Horsham England RH12 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3lr UK 08/04/24
Hackney England E8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PT UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Kilbirnie Scotland KA25 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Wandsworth England SW18 UK 08/04/24
Crawley England RH11 UK 08/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 08/04/24
United Kingdom England TN10 3TW UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 8FE UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE1P UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2ls UK 08/04/24
Croydon England CR05NH UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2PG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103tj UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN132QT UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Camden SW6 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1HR UK 08/04/24

7

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 101



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Hildenborough TonbridgEngland TN11 9DW UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN110HJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Henrico Virginia 23228 US 08/04/24
Kent England TN9 1DU UK 08/04/24
Burnley England BB12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G31 UK 08/04/24
City of Westminster W2 UK 08/04/24
Dulwich England SE21 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Oxted RH8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Canterbury England CT1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 8RQ UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn12 6re UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NP UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NZ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NZ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 08/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NZ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NZ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2pb UK 08/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 08/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0LU UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4nz UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN1 1SW UK 08/04/24
Southborough England TN4 0LT UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge UK 08/04/24
Chesterfield England S49 UK 08/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103RT UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9QE UK 08/04/24
Wembley England HA0 UK 08/04/24

8

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 102



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QZ UK 08/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 6EF UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Guildford England GU2 7PW UK 08/04/24
West malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Trottiscliffe England ME195DN UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103AJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0FA UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92qr UK 08/04/24
London England EC1N UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
West malling England Me19 UK 08/04/24
London England EC1N UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn104ad UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Basingstoke England RG24 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Chippenham England SN15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 08/04/24
Lewisham England SE6 UK 08/04/24
Southborough England TN4 9YB UK 08/04/24
Leigh England TN11 8RQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3RR UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Bexley England DA16 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Windsor SL4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Llanelli Wales  Cymru SA14 UK
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Edgware HA8 UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PA UK 08/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Winnersh England RG41 UK 08/04/24
Hackney England N16 UK 08/04/24
Whitstable CT5 UK 08/04/24
Milton Keynes England MK4 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 08/04/24
London EC4N UK 08/04/24

9

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 103



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
UK 08/04/24

Chatham ME4 UK 08/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 8HR UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 9hd UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 0JF UK 08/04/24
Whitstable CT5 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN1 1HE UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 1JJ Romania 08/04/24
Abingdon England OX13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Southborough England TN4 0PD UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Kilbirnie Scotland KA25 UK 08/04/24
Grays England RM16 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Colton England WS15 3NB UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Orpington BR5 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE28 UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 08/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 5JN UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104DD UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE17 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Pembury England TN2 4PB UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4NZ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9BL UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 5EL UK 08/04/24
Cambridge England CB4 1FJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Reading England RG30 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 4HY UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN10 4JG UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9UR UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24

10

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 104



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Ilford England IG1 UK 08/04/24
Lambeth England SW4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England TN15 8DY UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England Tn119jb UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92ub UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn104aj UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
London EC4R UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92nj UK 08/04/24
Hackney E9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Newham England E12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Lambeth England SW8 UK 08/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Hertfordshire England AL6 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9RR UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Kilbirnie Scotland KA25 UK 08/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91PU UK 08/04/24
Burton-on-Trent England DE13 UK 08/04/24
Lambeth England SW4 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England Tn11 9af UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2hb UK 08/04/24
Hackney E9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 08/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 08/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 08/04/24
Bexley England DA5 2DA UK 08/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 8SJ UK 08/04/24
Nottingham NG8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4HA UK 08/04/24
Cranbrook Kent England TN17 2QG UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3NJ UK 08/04/24

11

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 105



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN159DY UK 08/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Rossendale England BB4 9AP UK 08/04/24
Barnet EN4 UK 08/04/24
Barnet England N2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4rd UK 08/04/24
Canterbury CT1 UK 08/04/24
Canterbury England CT2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Stoke-on-Trent England ST2 UK 08/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Barnet EN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4QJ UK 08/04/24
Eastbourne England BN22 UK 08/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9HW UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 08/04/24
Pinner HA5 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AD UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24

UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
West Wickham England BR4 9BA UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EJ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
South Norwood England SE25 4LT UK 08/04/24
Hadlow England TN110HX UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JN UK 08/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JN UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3lu UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
East Peckham England Tn125dq UK 08/04/24
London England SE25 UK 08/04/24

12

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 106



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
London England Tn110bj UK 08/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 08/04/24
London England SE22 8UQ UK 08/04/24
Greenwich England SE2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3ew UK 08/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 6EN UK 08/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 3JA UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1Ly UK 08/04/24
London England se116by UK 08/04/24
Fol England CT18 UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England tn4 0jn UK 08/04/24
Kent England TN10 3JL UK 08/04/24
Burlescombe England EX16 7HE UK 08/04/24
TUNBRIDGE WELLS England TN4 9QX UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2PQ UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AY UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2 UK 08/04/24
Southwark England SE17 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1BL UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91FZ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 08/04/24
Sittingbourne ME9 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9YG UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 7EA UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 08/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 8DY UK 08/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92NL UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 08/04/24
Stockport England SK6 UK 08/04/24
Kingston Upon Thames KT1 UK 08/04/24
Newcastle upon Tyne England NE12 8DL UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0FB UK 08/04/24
telford England tf2 6rr UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN1 2DX UK 08/04/24
Cardiff CF5 UK 08/04/24
tn9 2en E9 UK 08/04/24
Crawley England RH11 UK 08/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 08/04/24
Reading England RG8 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 08/04/24

13

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 107



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Gillingham England ME7 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 08/04/24
Dudley DY2 UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NP UK 08/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 0TR UK 08/04/24
Hackney England E2 UK 08/04/24
Wood Green England N22 UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 08/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9HX UK 08/04/24
Southwark SE1P UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3LJ UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 08/04/24
Rochester Wales  Cymru ME1 UK
London England Se25 UK 08/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0EN UK 08/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 08/04/24
Gt Yarmouth England NR319HE UK 08/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104PU UK 08/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 09/04/24
Herne Bay England CT6 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2Df UK 09/04/24
Birmingham sutton coldEngland B736ry UK 09/04/24
Ropley England SO24 UK 09/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
London England EC1N UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1hr UK 09/04/24
Redhill England RH1 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge and Malling England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1ud UK 09/04/24
Tower Hamlets E3 UK 09/04/24
Bristol England BS37 8TG UK 09/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9DH UK 09/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
London England EC1N UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3ea UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3RS UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Bristol England Bs15 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103jp UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1ND UK 09/04/24

14

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 108



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Chatham ME4 UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME18 5DZ UK 09/04/24
Hackney England E9 UK 09/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Sydney 2000 Australia 09/04/24
Bridgwater England TA6 6XP UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4PD UK 09/04/24
Barnet England EN4 UK 09/04/24
Dover England CT16 UK 09/04/24
Groombridge England TN3 9NJ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1TN UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Coventry England CV3 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Offham England Me195nx UK 09/04/24
Barnet N2 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LG UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Virginia Water England GU25 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AU UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn126sl UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 09/04/24
New Romney England TN28 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Waltham Forest England E11 UK 09/04/24
Edenbridge  Kent England TN8 6LB UK
Croydon England CR0 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Bristol England BS15 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 09/04/24
Wrotham Heath  Nr. Sevenoaks England TN15 7RS
Brenchley England TN12 7BF UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9dj UK 09/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 09/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 09/04/24
Barnet N2 UK 09/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 09/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 09/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Rotherham England S61 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge  Kent England TN11 UK

15

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 109



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Liversedge England WF15 UK 09/04/24
London England EC1N UK 09/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Lambeth SW8 UK 09/04/24

UK 09/04/24
Herne Bay CT6 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1JJ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Sheffield England S10 4EH UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge wells England Tn4 UK 09/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 09/04/24
Milton Keynes MK6 UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME20 UK 09/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 UK 09/04/24
Barnet EN4 UK 09/04/24
Ferndown England BH22 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 7Lb UK 09/04/24
West Malling MW195 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Ramsgate England CT11 UK 09/04/24
Birmingham England B5 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FW UK 09/04/24
Rugby England CV21 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
London EC4N UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England tn119ht UK 09/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 09/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BD UK 09/04/24
Five Oak Green England TN 12 6TE UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 09/04/24
tonbridge England tn10 3er UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tenterden England TN30 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2jy UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AX UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Kent Tn9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Cranbrook England TN17 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN12 UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN1 2LQ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3RA UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24

16

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 110



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
LARKFIELD England ME20 6UE UK 09/04/24
Swanley BR8 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XA UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Newham England E6 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PD UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3DN UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103TE UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 3LT UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AQ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JU UK 09/04/24
Greenwich England SE18 UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 09/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9HQ UK 09/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 09/04/24
Brighton CA2 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JX UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge wells England Tn30sa UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2dl UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Five Oak Green TonbridgEngland TN12 6TN UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 09/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 09/04/24
West malling England ME19 5AX UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Barnet N2 UK 09/04/24
Gillingham England ME7 UK 09/04/24
Kilbirnie Scotland KA25 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3th UK 09/04/24
Rochester England ME5 UK 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 09/04/24
London TN9 UK 09/04/24
Rochester England ME5 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN126RS UK 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn15 0DE UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
tonbridge tn9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Kent TN10 Trinidad & T 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9XS UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England tn10 4qy UK 09/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN11 9DJ UK 09/04/24
Deal England CT14 UK 09/04/24

17

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 111



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Newham England E13 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FZ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92EN UK 09/04/24
Rye England TN31 UK 09/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Llanelli Wales  Cymru SA15 2EP UK
Tonbridge England TN9 2NJ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3QN UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Kings Hill England ME194FL UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DF UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN3 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2uu UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FX UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn104hd UK 09/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 09/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN3 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QU UK 09/04/24
Canterbury England CT1 UK 09/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Ashford England TN24 UK 09/04/24
London EC4M UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AU UK 09/04/24
Maidstone England ME17 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AN UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Slough SL3 UK 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn14 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 09/04/24
Bristol England BS15 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn12 6fr UK 09/04/24
East peckham England Tn12 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2qz UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24

18

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 112



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Paddock Wood England TN12 6AG UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Birmingham England B32 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3RE UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge ME5 UK 09/04/24
Whitstable England CT5 UK 09/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 09/04/24
Bristol England BS5 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2nq UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DQ UK 09/04/24
London England SE7 7EZ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge IG1 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 09/04/24
Rhydyfelin Wales  Cymru CF37 5EN UK
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
London England Cr0 9jb UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LE UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4QU UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UR UK 09/04/24
Dagenham England RM9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2jx UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9AT UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JX UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1BS UK 09/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 8AQ UK 09/04/24
London England EC1N UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9DA UK 09/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME19 UK 09/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 09/04/24
Herne Bay CT6 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2HX UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3qt UK 09/04/24
Bidborough England TN3 0UR UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Folkestone England CT19 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 09/04/24

19

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 113



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 4SH UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 09/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN11 0FJ UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92uz UK 09/04/24
Barking England IG11 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4SD UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 09/04/24
Herne Bay England CT6 UK 09/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 09/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn145db UK 09/04/24
Rochester ME1 UK 09/04/24
Leicester England LE4 UK 09/04/24
Platt England TN15 8JE UK 09/04/24
Staplehurst England TN12 0NU UK 09/04/24
Staplehurst England Tn120nu UK 09/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn15 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LP UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge Northern Ireland TN9 UK 09/04/24
Newham England E6 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 09/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 09/04/24
Greenwich England SE18 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3ND UK 09/04/24
Ightham tn15 9dg Estonia 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 09/04/24
East Grinstead England RH194LY UK 09/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 09/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 09/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 09/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 UK 10/04/24
Worcester England WR4 UK 10/04/24
Leigh England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2TG UK 10/04/24
Greenwich England SE18 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NQ UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3ES UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 10/04/24
Ealing W5 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge ove England Tn91qe UK 10/04/24
Kings Hill England Me19 4hs UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4 LA UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24

20

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 114



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 10/04/24
Purley England CR8 UK 10/04/24
Ilford IG3 UK 10/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9HX UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3TF UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104EA UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0DP UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN11 9EH Sri Lanka 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England Me19 5qh UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LG UK 10/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 10/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Hadlow England TN110dy UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0HU UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Kent England TN9 2LU UK 10/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 10/04/24
Winsford England CW7 UK 10/04/24
Pinner HA5 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 3ND UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Rochester England ME4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2XB UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JS UK 10/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN126LX UK 10/04/24

21

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 115



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 0TB UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0FY UK 10/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G73 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 0RE UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1QA UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN14 UK 10/04/24
Lewisham England SE13 UK 10/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 10/04/24

Cyprus 10/04/24
Kent England TN92PG UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Hailsham England BN27 3LG UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2HB UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92as UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Snodland England ME6 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
City of Westminster England W1J UK 10/04/24
Warwick England CV34 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3HG UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Hildenborough tn118ny Norway 10/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN9 1FT UK 10/04/24
Sussex TN6 UK 10/04/24
Farnborough England GU14 UK 10/04/24
Seaford England BN25 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME196QN UK 10/04/24
Beckenham BR3 UK 10/04/24
Battle England TN33 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XF UK 10/04/24
Bromley England BR2 9BU UK 10/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AZ UK 10/04/24
tonbridge England Tn10 UK 10/04/24
Kent England BR5 2AH UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4SB UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24

22

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 116



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
West Malling England ME19 6NZ UK 10/04/24
Croydon England CR0 7BX UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 0HJ UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2QD UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92JB UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3NJ UK 10/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 10/04/24
Westerham England TN16 UK 10/04/24
East peckham England Tn125hb UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 0BX UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1je UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2RA UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN3 0UQ UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn104qt UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4bj UK 10/04/24
Wapping England E1 UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0NE UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Hastings England TN38 UK 10/04/24
Southborough England Tn40ue UK 10/04/24
Charlton SE7 UK 10/04/24
Hawkhurst England TN18 4DP UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2db UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BX UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
London NW2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Wadhurst England TN5 7PP UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Larkfield England ME20 6LT UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AX UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BS UK 10/04/24
Blackheath SE1 UK 10/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119BH UK 10/04/24
Lewisham England SE4 UK 10/04/24

23

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 117



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Bradford BD9 UK 10/04/24
Tunbrdge Wells England TN4 8UX UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Birmingham B4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3AT UK
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4SB UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn8 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME17 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NU UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 3AJ UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 1xb UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UE UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 10/04/24
Tadworth England KT20 7NY UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
East Grinstead England RH19 3NE UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Cranbrook England TN17 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0LD UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Slough SL1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 10/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN104PP UK 10/04/24
Coventry England CV3 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104QU UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DJ UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
WEST MALLING England ME19 6RD UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 2FB Malta 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PN UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 10/04/24

24

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 118



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN92FE UK 10/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 10/04/24
Horsham England RH13 UK 10/04/24
Cranbrook England TN17 UK 10/04/24
Chelmsford England Cm2 6lr UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 10/04/24
London England EC1N UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3de UK 10/04/24
Devizes England SN10 UK 10/04/24
Lewisham SE8 UK 10/04/24
Leybourne England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Camberwell SE5 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
London EC4R UK 10/04/24
Mansfield England NG19 UK 10/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24

England TN10 3AT UK 10/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2YR UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104PB UK 10/04/24
Tonbridgre England Tn11 0bw UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1er UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4DE UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 10/04/24
Kent England Tn11 9pd UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9NH UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PE UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Oxted England RH8 UK 10/04/24
Greenwich SE9 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2AP UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Hackney E5 UK 10/04/24
London England E143WG UK 10/04/24
London England CR3 6NF UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
London UK 10/04/24
Southwark England SE16 UK 10/04/24
Harringay England N17 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 1hx UK 10/04/24

25

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 119



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
West malling England Me19 5ha UK 10/04/24
Coventry CV1 UK 10/04/24
Snodland ME6 UK 10/04/24
Purley CR8 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Polegate England BN26 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
London EC4M UK 10/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN3 UK 10/04/24
City of Westminster W1J UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
London England EC4R UK 10/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN10 4JX UK 10/04/24
Brighton BN1 UK 10/04/24
Bidborough England TN3 0UQ UK 10/04/24
Leybourne England ME19 5QE UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England tn10 3nt UK 10/04/24
London England EC1N UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1RE UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge wells England Tn4 0xd UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge Tn UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91JG UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BE UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England tn15 8eq UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Rochester ME1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3QY UK 10/04/24
Weald  Sevenoaks England TN14 6QR UK
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 6DE UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England tn11 8hu UK 10/04/24
Southampton England TN12 0EF UK 10/04/24
London England SW12 0BX UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24

26

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 120



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Aylesford England me206qe UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge wells England Tn3 0ya UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn11 9lj UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E14 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1XP UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN 104DP UK 10/04/24
Ilford England IG3 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Hastings England TN37 UK 10/04/24
London England EC4M UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 6TN UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 10/04/24
City of Westminster England W2 UK 10/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Folkestone England CT18 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
City of Westminster England W1J UK 10/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 10/04/24
Borough Green. England Tn15 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge wells England Tn40ub UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Stockport England SK6 UK 10/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 10/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 10/04/24
Lewisham England SE12 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 6LE UK 10/04/24
Snodland England ME65RW UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN2 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3HS UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3pb UK 10/04/24
Speldhurst England TN30QD UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Crowborough England TN6 UK 10/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24

27

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 121



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1BL UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UU UK 10/04/24
Kent TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JT UK 10/04/24
London England SE16 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge wells England Tn4 8pt UK 10/04/24
Sheerness England ME12 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 10/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 9HL UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 10/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119BP UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Los Angeles California 90060 US 10/04/24
Alexandria Scotland G83 UK 10/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 10/04/24
Folkestone England CT18 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
London UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3HD UK 10/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells Northern Ireland TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 3UG UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Frome England BA11 UK 10/04/24
Greenwich England SE28 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BJ UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 10/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AY UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24

28

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 122



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Cardiff Wales  Cymru CF14 UK
Tonbridge England TN10 4SB UK 10/04/24
Wandsworth England SW15 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 10/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 10/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4LN UK 10/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 10/04/24
London England EC1N UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4DW UK 10/04/24
Southwark England SE1 UK 10/04/24
Tonbridge TN91DH Cayman Isla 11/04/24
Kent England TN15 6JE UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN49RJ UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge wells England TN3 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England Tn1 2ja UK 11/04/24
Crowborough England Tn6 1ql UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UH UK 11/04/24
Plymouth England PL5 4LW UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 11/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24
London EC4N UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Bromley England BR2 8PW UK 11/04/24
Ashford England TN24 UK 11/04/24
London England EC4M UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN133UE UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4hu UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England tn10 4al UK 11/04/24
Ramsgate England CT11 0PB UK 11/04/24
Crowborough England TN6 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 1SJ UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 11/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1AP UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1LP UK 11/04/24
Bromley SE9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Aylesford England Me20 6jf UK 11/04/24
Waltham Forest England E10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 11/04/24
Greenwich England SE28 UK 11/04/24
London EC2V UK 11/04/24
Bromley SE9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3NS UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England tN9 2QD UK 11/04/24
Whitstable CT5 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24

29

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 123



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Maidstone England ME15 UK 11/04/24
Bridgend Wales  Cymru CF31 UK
Greenwich England SE10 UK 11/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0BX UK 11/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 11/04/24
Devizes England SN10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PW UK 11/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119DA UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 11/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 11/04/24
Henfield England BN5 UK 11/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 1ay UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME17 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 11/04/24
Chartham England CT4 UK 11/04/24
Southwark SE1P UK 11/04/24
Nottingham NG7 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn92hb UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4HB UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge wells England TN4 0PE UK 11/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Mitcham CR4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 5JE UK 11/04/24
larkfield England ME206PZ UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9DE UK 11/04/24
London EC4R UK 11/04/24
Dorchester England DT1 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4EA UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4DN UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4QY UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 11/04/24
Bicester England OX26 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn14 5 bl UK 11/04/24

Ukraine 11/04/24
Kent England TN11 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 11/04/24
Islington England EC50 UK 11/04/24
Battle England TN33 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1NS UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 11/04/24
Borough Green England TN15 8RJ UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24

30

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 124



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN3 0SG UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103dg UK 11/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DA UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2pb UK 11/04/24
Swettenham England CW12 UK 11/04/24
Chatham ME5 UK 11/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME18 6DP UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FU UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 0lh UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0FD UK 11/04/24
Gillingham ME8 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3hd UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4DG UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN1 2NP UK 11/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4AG UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 9LQ UK 11/04/24
Paddock Wood England Tn126hy UK 11/04/24
Hounslow England TW3 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3BN UK 11/04/24
Hastings England TN34 UK 11/04/24
Matfield England TN12 7LR UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Grays England RM16 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2bs UK 11/04/24
Nottingham NG1 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NQ UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4LP UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Kent England Me196hd UK 11/04/24
Lambeth England SW4 UK 11/04/24
Larkfield England ME20 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 11/04/24
East Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN15 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN104JA UK 11/04/24
Borough Green England Tn15 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3TS UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 11/04/24

31

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 125



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN12 5LQ UK 11/04/24
Gainsborough England DN21 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4JT UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 11/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN14 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Brent England NW6 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PW UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
London England HA4 9JJ UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Malmesbury England sn169jg UK 11/04/24
Catford SE6 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Larkfield England ME20 6UH UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2DF UK 11/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 11/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 11/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 11/04/24
Ilford England IG3 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EG UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1FZ UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 11/04/24
Pembury England TN2 4DZ UK 11/04/24
Hitchin SG5 UK 11/04/24
Bexleyheath DA7 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 11/04/24
Alcester England B49 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 11/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 11/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 11/04/24

UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3BS UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1NH UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2BT UK 11/04/24
Newham England E13 UK 11/04/24
Stockport England SK6 UK 11/04/24
Rochester ME4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England tn10 3lp UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Bicester England Ox264yw UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 11/04/24
London England EC1N UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN11 9BG UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24

32

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 126



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Gateshead NE8 UK 11/04/24
Kidlington England OX5 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Coventry CV3 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Hackney E2 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England tn11 9es UK 11/04/24
Heathfield England TN21 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge Scotland TN2 UK 11/04/24
Uckfield England TN10 3EJ UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Hitchin England SG5 UK 11/04/24
Horsham England RH12 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24

UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge wells Tn2 UK 11/04/24
London EC1N UK 11/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN38 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN2 UK 11/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Lewisham England SE26 UK 11/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 2qw UK 11/04/24
Sittingbourne ME9 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2JX UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN91UE UK 11/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 11/04/24
East Malling England ME196ez UK 11/04/24
Edinburgh EH1 UK 11/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN10 3EA UK 11/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G41 UK 11/04/24
north charleston South Carolina 29420 US 11/04/24
Paddock Wood England TN12 6FR UK 11/04/24

UK 11/04/24
Longniddry Scotland EH32 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 11/04/24
Eastbourne England BN23 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 11/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 11/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 11/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 11/04/24
Hailsham England BN27 UK 11/04/24
Oxford OX4 UK 11/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2NP UK 11/04/24

UK 11/04/24
Broxbourne England EN10 UK 11/04/24
Pontefract WF9 UK 12/04/24

UK 12/04/24
Haywards Heath England RH16 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 12/04/24

33

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 127



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 12/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 12/04/24
Uckfield England TN22 UK 12/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119DD UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 12/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 12/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 12/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn13 UK 12/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 UK 12/04/24
Paddock Wood England Tn12 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92LE UK 12/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 12/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN110FE UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BJ UK 12/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN103QN UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 12/04/24

New Zealan 12/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 12/04/24
kent England tn25xg UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn103rs UK 12/04/24
Barnet N2 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 12/04/24
Crawley England RH11 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2FE UK 12/04/24
Ilford England IG1 UK 12/04/24
Slough England SL3 8SY UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 12/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 12/04/24
Snodland England ME6 5PY UK 12/04/24
West Kingsdown England Tn15 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
City of Westminster England W1J UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
Sevenoaks kent England TN13 3UG UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 12/04/24
Otford England Tn145lf UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 12/04/24
Rochester England ME1 UK 12/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 12/04/24
Brent NW6 UK 12/04/24
Rochester ME1 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Herne Bay England CT6 UK 12/04/24
Newquay England TR7 3HJ UK 12/04/24
Brent England NW6 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 UK 12/04/24
Barnet EN4 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119HQ UK 12/04/24
Hitchin SG5 UK 12/04/24

34

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 128



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2qg UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2EB UK 12/04/24
EDENBRIDGE England TN8 5BF UK 12/04/24
Birmingham England B11 1ST UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn104jx UK 12/04/24
Maidstone England ME14 UK 12/04/24
Trottiscliffe England ME19 5EL UK 12/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 12/04/24
Stockport England SK6 UK 12/04/24
London EC4N UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 12/04/24
Ditton England me20 6by UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England tn103tx UK 12/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9SL UK 12/04/24
Kidlington England OX5 UK 12/04/24
Ilford England IG3 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 12/04/24
Bristol England BS48 4RA UK 12/04/24
Nailsea England BS48 4RA UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2FB UK 12/04/24
Uckfield England TN22 UK 12/04/24
Southborough England TN4 0TW UK 12/04/24
TONBRIDGE England TN9 1XU UK 12/04/24
Ilford IG1 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9LA UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 0ht UK 12/04/24
Cranbrook England TN17 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2RB UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 12/04/24
Hitchin England SG5 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Canterbury England CT1 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Greenwich England SE18 UK 12/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England tn2 3np UK 12/04/24
Southwark SE1P UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3RF UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England tn9 1hu UK 12/04/24
Forest Row England RH18 UK 12/04/24
West Malling ME19 Mauritius 12/04/24
Rustington England BN16 UK 12/04/24

35

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 129



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0JD UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 12/04/24
Watford England WD24 UK 12/04/24
Plymouth England Pl66BX UK 12/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 12/04/24
Maldon CM9 UK 12/04/24
Aylesford England ME20 UK 12/04/24
Derby England DE21 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
Saint Leonards-on-Sea England TN37 UK 12/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 12/04/24
Kelty KY4 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn110rf UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Auckland 2018 New Zealan 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 12/04/24
Lambeth SW8 UK 12/04/24
Dungannon Northern Ireland BT70 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 12/04/24
Kensington W8 UK 12/04/24
Snodland England ME6 UK 12/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2LN UK 12/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 2TQ UK 12/04/24
Hull England HU8 7SS UK 12/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 6YB UK 12/04/24
London England EC1N UK 12/04/24
Ashford England TN23 UK 12/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 12/04/24
windsor England sl44ub UK 12/04/24
Reading England RG30 UK 12/04/24
Greenwich England SE9 UK 12/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 12/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 12/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 12/04/24
Holland On Sea Essex UK 12/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3PD UK 13/04/24
Eastbourne England BN22 7LF UK 13/04/24
Wokingham England RG40 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 13/04/24
London England EC4R UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24

UK 13/04/24
Eastleigh England SO50 UK 13/04/24

36

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 130



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Farra d'Isonzo 34072 Italy 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4EX UK 13/04/24
Dundee DD3 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 13/04/24
Kent England ME8 8NS UK 13/04/24
Macclesfield England SK11 UK 13/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 13/04/24
Crawley England RH11 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Cardiff Wales  Cymru CF14 UK
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 13/04/24
West Bromwich England B70 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn104HT UK 13/04/24
New Malden KT3 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Sevenoaks England Tn131nt UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Hackney England N16 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24
Coventry CV5 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9NN UK 13/04/24
Frome England BA11 5BX UK 13/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN2 4ES UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 6TD UK 13/04/24
Southall UB1 UK 13/04/24
Wandsworth England SW18 UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Dudley DY1 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4QY UK 13/04/24
Loughborough England LE11 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9 HL UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 13/04/24
Offham England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Erith England DA8 UK 13/04/24
Pembury England TN2 4JU UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Bristol England BS35 3UG UK 13/04/24
Cleethorpes England DN358AN UK 13/04/24
Saltcoats Scotland KA21 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Rochester ME1 UK 13/04/24
Hildenborough England TN11 9JL UK 13/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 13/04/24
KENT England TN10 4JU UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge and Malling England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Leeds LS2 UK 13/04/24
Edenbridge TN8 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 0RF UK 13/04/24

37

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 131



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
East Malling England me196df UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England TN40RS UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Larkfield England ME20 6JW UK 13/04/24
Warwickshire CV8 UK 13/04/24
Dumfries DG2 UK 13/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G12 8DG UK 13/04/24
Hackney E9 UK 13/04/24
Birmingham England B34 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1PF UK 13/04/24
Cardiff Wales  Cymru CF14 UK
Tonbridge England Tn12 UK 13/04/24
Barnet England NW11 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN11 0NY UK 13/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92SS UK 13/04/24
East Hendred England OX12 8JN UK 13/04/24
Aberdeen Scotland AB238HD UK 13/04/24
Leeds LS2 UK 13/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN92DF UK 13/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME10 UK 13/04/24
Ilford IG3 UK 13/04/24
Catford SE6 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Wandsworth England SW11 UK 13/04/24
Maidstone England ME17 UK 13/04/24
Camden England WC1N UK 13/04/24
Tourouzelle 11200 France 13/04/24

Netherlands 13/04/24
London England EC1N UK 13/04/24
Chertsey England KT16 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4HQ UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 13/04/24
London EC4R UK 13/04/24
Birmingham England B43 5HX UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 13/04/24
Glasgow Scotland G41 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Bristol England BS5 UK 13/04/24
Ightham England TN15 UK 13/04/24
Lagos Nigeria 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3QG UK 13/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 13/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN2 UK 13/04/24
Hadlow England TN11 0JY UK 13/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Erith England DA8 UK 13/04/24
Liverpool L3 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UB UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 13/04/24

38

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 132



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Grantham England NG31 6DB UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 0jy UK 13/04/24
Sittingbourne England ME9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2EG UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24
Lonodon England SE12 9ex UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 3EJ UK 13/04/24
tunbridge wells England tn4 0ds UK 13/04/24
London England Rm10 7sa UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge Tn9 UK 13/04/24
Greenwich England SE10 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Chatham ME4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2nl UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2yr UK 13/04/24
Dunstable England LU5 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BJ UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 1UD UK 13/04/24
st breward England pl30 4lx UK 13/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 13/04/24
Tower Hamlets England E1 UK 13/04/24
Blackburn BB2 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Pontefract WF8 UK 13/04/24
Plymouth PL6 UK 13/04/24
Milton Keynes MK4 UK 13/04/24
Gillingham England ME8 UK 13/04/24
West Malling England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Thornton Heath England CR7 UK 13/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 13/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 13/04/24
Tavistock England PL19 UK 13/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 13/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 13/04/24
Bristol BS7 UK 13/04/24
Mossley OL5 UK 13/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Kidlington OX5 UK 13/04/24
Hammersmith England W14 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn9 2jx UK 13/04/24
Reading England RG30 UK 13/04/24
Leybourne England ME19 UK 13/04/24
Maidstone England ME16 UK 13/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 13/04/24
Leicester England LE4 9NE UK 13/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 13/04/24
Harringay England N81 UK 13/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 5ED UK 13/04/24

39

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 133



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN1 UK 13/04/24
Crawley England RH10 UK 13/04/24
Camden Town NW1 UK 14/04/24
Mansfield England NG19 UK 14/04/24
Oxford OX2 UK 14/04/24
HORNSEY N8 UK 14/04/24
London England SE18 5BY UK 14/04/24
East Peckham England TN12 5AR UK 14/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 14/04/24
Gravesend England DA11 UK 14/04/24
Islington N7 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn11 0bp UK 14/04/24
Chatham England ME5 UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 14/04/24
Maidstone England ME15 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England Tn10 4Nd UK 14/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN3 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Wanstead England E11 UK 14/04/24
Hildenborough England TN119DT UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9BL UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN10 4BA UK 14/04/24
Tunbridge Wells TN4 UK 14/04/24
London England Se16 3nt UK 14/04/24
Grange House England Tn11 9pl UK 14/04/24
London 33716 UK 14/04/24

UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN12 UK 14/04/24
Nottingham England NG16 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN11 9PJ UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24

UK 14/04/24
Southwark SE1 UK 14/04/24
London En1 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN1 UK 14/04/24
Hitchin England SG5 UK 14/04/24
Brighton BN3 UK 14/04/24
Chatham England ME4 UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge England TN9 2UX UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge UK 14/04/24
Tunbridge Wells England Tn4 0bf UK 14/04/24
Manchester M3 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN4 UK 14/04/24
Peterborough PE4 UK 14/04/24
aylesford England me206nj UK 14/04/24
Sevenoaks England TN13 2EH UK 14/04/24

Greece 14/04/24
Gillingham ME7 UK 14/04/24
Billingshurst England RH14 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN11 0FS UK 14/04/24
Tonbridge TN9 UK 14/04/24
SOUTHEND ON SEA England SS2 4LZ UK 14/04/24
Rustington England BN16 2JZ UK 14/04/24
Snodland England ME6 UK 14/04/24

40

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 134



City State Postal Code Country Signed 
Royal Tunbridge Wells England TN2 UK 14/04/24
Faversham England ME13 UK 14/04/24
Royal Tunbridge Wells TN2 UK 14/04/24

41

Annex 1 - Petition (redacted)

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

 

 

PETITION SCHEME 
 
 

The Borough Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in 
which people can let us know their concerns. All petitions sent or presented to the 
Council will receive an acknowledgement from the Council within 10 working days of 
receipt. This acknowledgement will set out how the petition is to be dealt with. We will 
treat something as a petition if it is identified as being a petition or if it seems to us that 
it is intended to be a petition. 
 

Paper petitions can be sent to: 
 

- Democratic Services, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Gibson Building, 
Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, ME19 4LZ 

 

Alternatively, in electronic form if created, signed and submitted online by following the 
procedure set out on the Council’s website. 
 

Petitions can also be presented to a meeting of the Council. These meetings take place 
on a regular basis and dates and times are published by Notice and on the Council’s 
website. To present a petition to the Council in person, or to request your Councillor or 
someone else to present it on your behalf, please contact our Democratic Services 
team on: committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk at least 10 working days before the 
meeting for further advice. 
 

What are the guidelines for submitting a petition? 
 

Petitions submitted to the Council must include: 
 

- a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition. It should state 
what action the petitioners wish the Council to take; 

 

- the name and address and signature of the persons supporting the petition; and 
 

- a closing date should be set by the petition organiser. Where no closing date has 
been identified, the Borough Council will set this as six weeks from the date the 
petition was received. 

 

Petitions should be accompanied by contact details, including an address, for the 
petition organiser. This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to 
the petition. The contact details of the petition organiser will not be placed on the 
Council’s website. 
 

If the petition does not identify a petition organiser, we will contact signatories to the 
petition to agree who should act as the petition organiser. 
 

  

Page 137

mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

Petitions which are considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate will 
not be accepted. In the period immediately before an election or referendum we may 
need to deal with your petition differently – if this is the case we will explain the reasons 
and discuss the revised timescale which will apply. 
 

If a petition does not follow the guidelines set out above, the Council may decide not to 
do anything further with it. In that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 
 

What will the Council do when it receives my petition? 
 

An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 working days of 
receiving the petition. It will let them know what we plan to do with the petition and 
when they can expect to hear from us again. It will also be published on our website. 
 

If we can do what your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm that we 
have taken the action requested and the petition will be closed. If the petition has 
enough signatures to trigger a Council or Cabinet debate (as appropriate depending on 
whether the matter relates to an Executive or Council responsibility), or a senior officer 
giving evidence, then the acknowledgment will confirm this and tell you when and 
where the meeting will take place. If the petition needs more investigation, we will tell 
you the steps we plan to take. 
 

If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory petition (for 
example requesting a referendum on having an elected mayor), or on a matter where 
there is already an existing right of appeal, such as council tax banding and non-
domestic rates, other procedures apply and the matter will be dealt with accordingly. 
Further information on all these procedures and how you can express your views is 
available on our website. 
 

We will not take action on any petition which we consider to be vexatious, abusive or 
otherwise inappropriate and will explain the reasons for this in our acknowledgement of 
the petition. 
 

To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the petitions we receive, 
the details of all the petitions submitted to us will be published on our website, except in 
cases where this would be inappropriate. Wherever possible we will also publish all 
correspondence relating to the petition (all personal details will be removed). When you 
sign an e-petition you can elect to receive this information by email. We will not send 
you anything which is not relevant to the e-petition you have signed, unless you choose 
to receive other emails from us. 
 

How will the Council Respond to Petitions? 
 

Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many 
people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 
 

- taking the action requested in the petition 

- considering the petition at a Council or Cabinet meeting (whichever is 
appropriate) 
 

  

Page 138



Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

- holding an inquiry into the matter 
- undertaking research into the matter 
- holding a public meeting 
- holding a consultation 
- holding a meeting with petitioners 
- referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee* 
- calling a referendum 
- writing to the petition organiser setting out our views on the request in the 

petition 
 

*The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is a committee of Councillors who are 
responsible for scrutinising the work of the Council – in other words, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee has the power to hold the Council’s decision makers to account. 
 

In addition to these steps, the Council will consider what specific actions are available 
to address the issues highlighted in a petition. 
 

The Council’s response to a petition will set out the steps we intend to take and the 
reasons for taking this approach. 
 

If the petition is about something over which the Council has no direct control we will 
consider making representations on behalf of the community to the relevant body. The 
Council works with a large number of local partners and where possible will work with 
these partners to respond to the petition. If we are not able to do this for any reason 
(for example if what the petition calls for conflicts with Council policy), then we will set 
out the reasons for this to you. 
 

You can find more information on the services for which the Council is responsible on 
our website. 
 

If the petition is about something that a different Council is responsible for we will give 
consideration to what the best method is for responding to it. This might consist of 
simply forwarding the petition to the other Council, but could involve other steps. In any 
event we will always notify you of the action we have taken. 
 

Full Council/ Cabinet Debates 
 

If a petition contains more than 1,500 signatures it will be debated by the Full Council 
or Cabinet as appropriate (depending on whether the matter relates to an Executive or 
Council responsibility) unless it is a petition asking for a senior Council officer to give 
evidence at a public meeting. 
 

The Council/ Cabinet will endeavour to consider the petition at its next ordinary meeting 
although on some occasions this may not be possible and it will then be referred to the 
next following meeting. 
 

A maximum of two members of a deputation may address the Council/ Cabinet for no 
longer than five minutes each, in line with the Council and Committee Procedure rules. 
One of these speakers should be the petition organiser.  
 

  

Page 139

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/services


Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

The Council/ Cabinet will decide how to respond to the petition at this meeting. It may 
decide to take the action the petition requests, not to take the action requested for 
reasons put forward in the debate, or to commission further investigation into the 
matter, for example by a relevant committee or Board. The petition organiser will 
receive written confirmation of the decision. This confirmation will also be published on 
the Council’s website. 
 

Officer Evidence 
 

A petition may ask for a senior Council officer to give evidence at a public meeting 
about something for which the officer is responsible as part of their job. For example, 
the petition may ask a senior Council officer to explain progress on an issue, or to 
explain the advice given to elected members to enable them to make a particular 
decision. 
 

If your petition contains at least 750 signatures, the relevant senior officer will give 
evidence at a public meeting of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
senior officers that can be called to give evidence are those officers who are members 
of the Council’s Management Team. Their details can be found on the Council’s 
website. 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may decide that it would be more appropriate 
for another officer to give evidence instead of any officer named in a petition; for 
instance if the named officer has changed jobs. The committee may also decide to call 
the relevant Portfolio Holder to attend the meeting. Committee members will ask the 
questions at this meeting, but the petition organiser will be able to suggest questions to 
the Chair of the Committee by contacting the Democratic Services team at the above 
postal address or on committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk  up to three working days 
before the meeting. 
 

E-Petitions 
 

A committee management system (Modern.Gov) provides a facility for members of the 
public to create and submit an e-petition through the Council’s website. This allows 
petitions and supporting information to be made available to a potentially much wider 
audience than a traditional paper based petition. 
 

E-petitions will follow the same guidelines as paper petitions. 
 

The petition organiser will need to provide their name, postal address and email 
address and will also need to decide how long the petition is to be open for signatures. 
Most petitions are expected to run for six months, but you will be able to choose a 
shorter or longer timeframe, up to a maximum of 12 months. 
 

When you create an e-petition, it may take five working days before it is published 
online. This is because we have to check that the content of the petition is suitable 
before it is made available for signature. If we feel we cannot publish your petition for 
some reason, we will contact you within this time to explain. You will be able to change 
and resubmit your petition if you wish. If you do not do this within 10 working days, a 
summary of the petition and the reason why it has not been accepted will be published 
under the ‘rejected petitions’ section of the website. 
 

Page 140

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/services/council-and-democracy/councillors,-democracy-and-elections/transparency-senior-salaries
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Part 4 – Rules – Petition Scheme 

When an e-petition has closed for signature, it will automatically be submitted to our 
Democratic Services team. In the same way as a paper petition, you will receive an 
acknowledgement within 10 working days. If you would like to present your e-petition to 
a meeting of the Council, please contact Democratic Services as above within 10 
working days of receipt of the acknowledgement. A petition acknowledgement and 
response will be emailed to everyone who has signed the e-petition and elected to 
receive this information. The acknowledgment and response will also be published on 
this website. 
 

All the e-petitions currently available for signature will be on our website. 
 

When you sign an e-petition you will be asked to provide your name, your postcode 
and a valid email address. When you have submitted this information you will be sent 
an email to the email address you have provided. This will include a link which you 
must click on in order to confirm the email address is valid. Once this step is complete 
your ‘signature’ will be added to the petition. People visiting the e-petition will be able to 
see your name in the list of those who have signed it but your contact details will not be 
visible. 
 

There is a preference for e-petitions to be submitted via the Borough Council’s online 
system as it cannot be guaranteed that other e-petition platforms, such as Change.org 
or other similar providers, can be verified sufficiently to meet the required criteria. 
Where e-petitions are submitted via an alternative provider the Borough Council require 
hard copies to be provided for administration and audit purposes. 
 

By signing an e-petition you are giving permission for your information to be held and 
used by the Borough Council in connection with the e-petition. 
 

What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly? 
 

If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition organiser has 
the right to request that the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee review the 
steps that the Council has taken in response to your petition. The petition organiser 
must give a short explanation of the reasons why the Council’s response is not 
considered to be adequate. 
 

The Committee will endeavour to consider the request at its next meeting, although on 
some occasions this may not be possible and consideration will take place at the 
following meeting. Should the committee determine the Council has not dealt with the 
petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal with the matter. These powers 
include instigating an investigation, making recommendations to the Cabinet and 
arranging for the matter to be considered at a meeting of the Full Council. 
 

Once the appeal has been considered the petition organiser will be informed of the 
results within 5 working days. The results of the review will also be published on our 
website. 
 

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



The recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 22 April 2024 
were not available when this agenda was published and will be circulated as soon 
as possible. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



   

Overview & Scrutiny  - Part 1 Public  22 April 2024  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

22 April 2024 

Report of the Scrutiny Officer 

Part 1- Public 

Matters for Scrutiny  

 

1 CALL-IN DECISION  NOTICE D240034CAB – PARKING PROPOSALS AND 

CHANGES TO ON-STREET AND OFF-STREET PARKING FEES AND 

CHARGES 

The above decision (attached at Annex A) has been called in.  In accordance 

with Overview and Scrutiny Committee Procedure Rule 15 (c), five members 

of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have raised a valid call-in of this 

decision. 

 

1.1 Background 

1.1.1 The Cabinet meeting of 2 April 2024 considered the proposals set out in the report 

of the Director of Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services and Director of 

Finance and Transformation in respect of changes to on-street and off-street 

parking fees and charges. 

1.1.2 The report also included the recommendations of the Joint Transportation Board of 

4 March 2024 and presented details arising from recent public consultation. 

1.1.3 Cabinet Decision Notice D240034CAB was published on 5 April 2024. 

1.2 Call-in  

1.2.1 In accordance with Committee Procedure Rule 15 (c), as set out in Part 4 of the 

Constitution, a request for call-in of this decision was made by Cllrs Thornewell, 

Dalton, Hoskins, Hickmott, and Hood .  The request was received on 8 April 2024 

and the grounds are set out below:  

 The Cabinet met on 2nd April and made the decision to (a) follow the 

recommendations of the Joint Transport Board to effect changes in respect 

of on street car parking fees charging system across the borough and (b) to 

make changes to off street car parking fees and charges (including the 

introduction of new charges) following formal consultation. 

 

Page 145



 2  
 

Overview & Scrutiny  - Part 1 Public  22 April 2024  

 

 The meeting did not fully consider the effects on residents and businesses 

even though both the on street and off street consultation exercises were 

answered by so many of those affected. 

 

 We think that the inconsistencies reflected in the decision notice should have 

wider discussion. The discussion at any O and S Committee should be wide 

ranging within the parameters of the Decision notice. 

 

1.2.2 Pending further consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at this 

meeting, the decision at Annex A stands deferred. 

1.3 Next Steps 

1.3.1 If having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee wishes to 

make recommendations to the Cabinet, then it may refer it back to the Cabinet for 

reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of those recommendations.  If 

referred to the Cabinet they shall then reconsider it, amending the decision or not, 

before adopting a final decision. 

1.3.2 If following a call-in of the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee does not 

refer the matter back to the Cabinet the decision shall take effect on the date of this 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee i.e. 22 April 2024.   

1.3.3 In accordance with paragraph 15 (h) of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, 

Cabinet can be required to reconsider any particular decision only once.  No further 

call-ins are permitted of that particular decision.  

1.4 Legal Implications 

1.4.1 In compliance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure rules, 15 (c) states: 

 During that period the Chief Executive shall call-in a decision for scrutiny by 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee if so requested by any five members 

of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   

 Such a request must be made in writing and must state the reason the 

members believe call-in to be necessary.  On receipt of such a request, within 

five working days of publication, the Chief Executive shall notify the decision 

taker of the call in and a meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall 

be called to take place where practicable within 10 working days of receipt 

of a valid call in.  Pending that meeting the decision shall stand deferred and 

not be implemented.   

1.4.2 The appropriate legal references relating to the proposals for car parking are set 

out in the initial report to Cabinet (Annex B).  For completeness the proposals 

considered by the Joint Transportation Board are set out in Annex 1.  

  

Page 146



 3  
 

Overview & Scrutiny  - Part 1 Public  22 April 2024  

 

1.5 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.5.1 As set out in the reports to Joint Transportation Board and Cabinet. 

1.6 Risk Assessment 

1.6.1 As detailed in Annex B. 

1.7 Equality Impact Assessment 

As detailed in Annex B. 

1.8 Policy Considerations 

1.8.1 As detailed in Annex B. 

1.9 Recommendations 

1.9.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee to review the decision taken by Cabinet set 

out in D240034CAB  dated 5 April 2024 and the request for call-in; and 

1.9.2 Following further consideration, if the Overview and Scrutiny Committee remain 

concerned about any aspects of the decision in respect of proposals for on-street 

and off-street parking fees and charges refer D240034CAB back to Cabinet for 

reconsideration, setting out any recommendations in writing. 

 

Annexes: A – Decision Notice: D240034CAB 

B – Report to Cabinet of 2 April 2024 

1 – Report to Joint Transportation Board of 4 March 2024 

1.1 Recommendations of Joint Transportation Board 

2 – 7 As attached to the Cabinet report of 2 April 2024 

 

Background papers: N/A 

Report Author(s): Allison Parris (Principal Democratic Services Officer) 

  

 

 

Adrian Stanfield 

Interim Chief Executive  

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A  
 

 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

RECORD OF DECISION 
 
 
Decision Taken By: Cabinet 
Decision No: D240034CAB 
Decision Type: Key 
Date: 02 April 2024 
 

Decision(s) and Reason(s) 
 
Parking Proposals and Changes to On-street and Off-street Parking Fees and 
Charges 
 
(Joint report of Director of Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services, 
Director of Finance and Transformation and Interim Deputy Chief Executive) 
 
Careful consideration was given to proposals in respect of on-street and off-
street parking arrangements, fees and charges and the consultation 
responses received as part of the recent public consultation.   
 
Due regard was also given to the views and recommendations of the Joint 
Transportation Board who had considered proposals related to on-street parking on 
4 March 2024 and to the financial and value for money considerations.  Cabinet 
recognised that some of the proposals required the procurement of equipment, 
services and capital works, that funding for the implementation of the proposals 
would come from existing revenue budget and capital funding and that some of the 
proposals currently in List C of the Capital Plan would need to be brought forward 
for fast-track evaluation in due course.   
  
RESOLVED:  That 
 
(1) the recommendations of the Joint Transportation Board of 4 March 2024, be 

approved as set out below; 
 

(i) the proposals for Avebury Avenue, Tonbridge to remove the current on-
street Pay and Display be approved, and that the on-street Traffic 
Regulation Order be amended to reflect the changes; 

 
(ii) the proposals for the introduction of on-street charges in West Malling 

High Street and Swan Street be introduced as drawn, with the inclusion 
of no charge for up to 1 hour of parking and that the on-street Traffic 
Regulation Order be amended to reflect the changes; 

 
(iii) the proposal for the loading bay in West Malling High Street be introduced 

as drawn, the future level of enforcement and size of signs be reviewed 
and the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect the 
changes; 

 

Page 149



Annex A  
 

 

(iv) the changes to the on-street fees and charges be implemented as 
advertised and that the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to 
reflect the changes. 

 
(2) the parking charges to Martin Square car park be introduced as stated in the 

report, with the inclusion of no charge for up to 30 minutes of parking; 
 

(3) the parking charges to Aylesford Bailey Bridge (East) and Bailey Bridge 
(West) car parks be introduced as stated in the report, subject to the reduction 
in the charge for a season ticket to £200 per annum and the introduction of a 
scheme for parking associated with the local primary school; 
 

(4) the Bailey Bridge (East) car park be extended*; 
 

(5) the Upper Castle Field car park be extended*; 
 

(6) the existing nine Gateway parking spaces located in the Tonbridge Castle 
Grounds car park become available for general use and that they are subject 
to the same parking conditions and requirements for payment as the rest of 
the Castle Grounds car park;   
 

(7) the off-street parking tariffs be revised as stated in the report; and 
 
(8) with the exception of West Malling High Street, the Council’s off-street 

parking charges be extended until 8pm and that the parking charges also be 
applied on Sundays and Bank Holidays, excluding Christmas Day, Boxing 
Day and New Years Day. 

 
*subject to Capital Plan/fast-track evaluations 
 

Reasons: As set out in the report submitted to Cabinet on 2 April 2024. 
 

 
Signed Leader: M Boughton 
 
Signed Interim Chief Executive: A Stanfield 
 
Date of publication:        5 April 2024  
 
This decision will come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of 5 
working days after publication unless it is called in. 

Page 150



Annex B 

 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

02 April 2024 

Report of the Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services & Director of 

Finance & Transformation and Interim Deputy Chief Executive 

Part 1- Public 

Executive Key Decisions 

 

1 PARKING PROPOSALS AND CHANGES TO ON-STREET AND OFF-STREET 

PARKING FEES AND CHARGES 

1.1 Introduction 

1.1.1 At its October and November 2023 meetings Cabinet considered and approved a 

number of proposals relating to both on and off-street parking fees and charges 

subject to full formal consultation.  

1.2 Changes to on-street and off-street fees and charges and parking 

arrangements – Formal Consultation 

1.2.1 The Council’s proposals represent a range of changes in the way that the Council 

delivers its parking services, most notably changes to both on and off-street 

parking charges and the associated on and off-street Traffic Regulation Orders. 

1.2.2 To present a complete picture to the public of the Council’s proposed changes, 

the on and off-street changes were both advertised at the same time. Following 

the consultation exercise, the procedure is that the outcome of the on-street 

changes are considered by the Joint Transportation Board for recommendation to 

Cabinet and the outcome of the off-street changes are reported direct to Cabinet. 

1.2.3 The statutory process for making or amending Traffic Regulation Orders requires 

that the Council undertakes a formal consultation on the proposed changes for a 

minimum of 21 days. In light of the wide-ranging nature of the changes, and to 

improve community engagement, the Council decided to extend the consultation 

period beyond the minimum requirements. The formal consultation was carried 

out between 24th November 2023 and 7th January 2024. 

1.3 On-street consultation                       

1.3.1 The outcome of the on-street parking consultation was considered by the Joint 

Transportation Board on 4th March 2024. 

1.3.2 The Joint Transportation Board report is shown in Annex 1.  The Board made the 

following recommendations to Cabinet - 

Page 151



 2  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

 The proposals for Avebury Avenue, Tonbridge to remove the current on-

street Pay and Display be approved, and the on-street Traffic Regulation 

Order be amended to this effect.  

 The proposals for the introduction of on-street charges in West Malling 

High Street and Swan Street should be introduced as drawn with the 

inclusion of no charge for up to 1 hour of parking and the on-street Traffic 

Regulation Order be altered to reflect this.  

 The proposal for the loading bay in West Malling High Street should be 

introduced as drawn, the future level of enforcement and size of signs to be 

reviewed and the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect 

this.  

 The changes to the on-street fees and charges be implemented as 

advertised, and the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect 

this. 

1.3.3 Cabinet are asked to consider the recommendations from the Joint Transportation 

Board. 

1.4 Off-Street Consultation 

1.4.1 The off-street proposals (shown in the previous reports Annexes 2A and 2B) 

include; 

 The introduction of charges to Martin Square car park in Larkfield 

 The introduction of parking charges into Bailey Bridge (East) and Bailey 

Bridge (West) car parks in Aylesford 

 The extension of Bailey Bridge (East) car park in Aylesford 

 The extension of Upper Castle Field car park in Tonbridge 

 The change of use of parking spaces in Castle Grounds car park in 

Tonbridge 

 Revisions to the off-street parking tariffs 

 Revisions to the times of operation of the off-street parking arrangements, 

with charging periods extending until 8pm, and operating every day 

(including Sundays and Bank Holidays) 

1.4.2 The public notice for the off-street changes is shown in Annex 3. 

1.4.3 The proposed changes require a change to the Council’s off-street Traffic 

Regulation Order, as shown in Annex 4. 

Page 152



 3  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

1.4.4 Details of off-street parking charges applied by neighbouring local authorities are 

shown at Annex 5. 

1.5 Parking Charges in Martin Square, Larkfield 

1.5.1 The proposal for Martin Square car park in Larkfield is to introduce parking 

charges, payable by Pay & Display and by the Council’s phone payment service. 

1.5.2 The car park currently has no parking charges but is well used. Whilst it is 

intended to serve the shops, the car park experiences low turnover long-stay 

parking which reduces the availability of spaces for all users. This includes staff 

working in the local businesses and the nearby Medical Centre (even though this 

has its own parking facilities).  

1.5.3 Season tickets for those requiring regular long-stay parking are also proposed, as 

this would help manage the usage of the car park. It would also act as a deterrent 

for those that do not need to be there, could travel by more environmentally 

friendly means or could park elsewhere, freeing-up parking opportunities for 

customers. 

1.5.4 The proposed parking changes would apply 8am to 8pm every day, including 

Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

1.5.5 The introduction of charges would assist in covering the costs of the management 

and maintenance of the car park, the provision of CCTV, parking enforcement and 

improvements. 

1.5.6 The Council has had requests for additional disabled parking bays and motorcycle 

parking and is also looking to introduce electric vehicle charging facilities and 

provide CCTV to improve safety. 

1.5.7 The full Statement of Reasons for all the proposals is shown in Annex 6.  

1.5.8 As part of the consultation, the number of respondents on this issue are shown 

below. 

Object to 

charges 

Support 

charges 

Object to 

season tickets 

Support 

season tickets 

Not specific 

2029 195 995 261 29 

 

1.5.9 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies for all 

the proposals are shown in Annex 7. 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Negative effect on local businesses / services / library 667 1 

Deter customers 393 2 

Page 153



 4  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

Comment Frequency Rank 

Should offer free short period - or reduce time limit 370 3 

Displace to Morrisons / local streets 273 4 

Effect local residents / increase parking on local roads 184 5 

Not needed 138 6 

Money-making / unnecessary 125 7 

Can’t afford to pay for parking / cost of living 124 8 

Lack of parking at Doctors 123 9 

School pick-up problem 114 10 

 

1.5.10 Stakeholder responses to the consultation for all the proposals are shown in 

Annex 8. 

1.5.11 A full breakdown of the responses received to the consultation are shown in 

Annex 9. 

1.5.12 Amongst the stakeholder responses, East Malling & Larkfield Parish Council 

responded with a number of points relating to the proposals, expressing concerns 

over potential displacement parking to the grassed areas near the toilet block, to 

the rear accesses to the shops and to Magpie Close.  

1.5.13 It also commented that the proposals may deter visitors or create problems for 

those wishing to use the local facilities. This was also a comment made by the 

local trading association in a meeting with the Leader of the Council. The full text 

of the Parish Council’s response is contained within Annex 8. 

1.5.14 Officers have carefully considered the Parish Council’s response, and whilst there 

is understanding for the concerns raised in relation to displacement parking and 

the potential deterrent of users, any deterrent is likely to be short-term, as users 

will still need to access the local services.  

1.5.15 The comments relating to the planning permission from 1964 that the car park 

was to serve the shops and the flats above is supported by the Council’s current 

proposals as the proposals include facilities for the occupants of the shops and 

residential properties to obtain season tickets, at rates that are significantly 

advantageous when compared to the other proposed charges. 

1.5.16 The other issues raised in the Parish’s response are beyond the Borough 

Council’s control – for example, operation of the Health Centre. It should be noted 

that the Health Centre has chosen to sacrifice some of its own parking facility to 

expand their operation through the use of temporary buildings, and this is placing 

more parking demand on the Borough Council’s car park, with a resultant impact 

on the nearby shops and accessibility for customers. 

1.5.17 The consultation shows respondents concerns over the introduction of charges 

and fears that charges would have a negative effect on visitors and businesses, 

and that there was support to retain an element of free parking for short duration 

Page 154



 5  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

visits, whether to visit the shops and takeaways, or to drop-off and pick up at the 

local schools. 

1.5.18 This is an issue that Cabinet may wish to consider due to the specific 

circumstances of the car park.  If an element of free parking is considered 

appropriate this will require this aspect to be subject to a further consultation. 

1.5.19 At present there are three disabled parking places in Martin Square car park at the 

end closest to the medical centre and chemist (there are also two disabled parking 

spaces at the other end of the car park). The disabled parking provision near to 

the medical centre and chemist could be increased, providing more facilities for 

Blue Badge holders that use the medical centre and chemist. These would 

provide more priority parking for those in need.  

1.5.20 It should also be considered that blue badge holders would be exempt from the 

parking charges and time limits, as they are across the whole of the Borough. 

1.5.21 There would also be an opportunity to adjust the layout to create a motorcycle 

parking area as this has also been raised separately. 

1.6 Parking Charges in Bailey Bridge (East) & Bailey Bridge (West), Aylesford 

1.6.1 The proposal for Bailey Bridge (East) & Bailey Bridge (West) car parks in 

Aylesford is to introduce parking charges, payable by Pay & Display and by the 

Council’s phone payment service. 

1.6.2 The car parks currently have no parking charges but are well used. The car parks 

suffer from a low turnover of long-stay parking which reduces the availability of 

spaces for all users.  

1.6.3 Season tickets for those requiring regular long-stay parking are also proposed, as 

this would assist in managing the long-stay parking issue. 

1.6.4 Concerns over capacity in the car parks has also been raised, and this is covered 

in a separate proposal in this report, where a potential extension to the Bailey 

Bridge (East) car park is discussed. 

1.6.5 The proposed parking changes would apply 8am to 8pm every day, including 

Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

1.6.6 The full Statement of Reasons for all the proposals is shown in Annex 6.  

1.6.7 As part of the consultation, the number of respondents on this issue are shown 

below. 

Object to 

charges 

Support 

charges 

Object to season 

tickets 

Support 

season tickets 

Not specific 

1343 230 733 242 27 

 

Page 155



 6  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

1.6.8 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies for all 

the proposals are shown in Annex 7. 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Impact businesses and community 178 1 

Non-specific / not relevant 99 2 

Displace parking to other roads / private car parks 91 3 

Free parking for school drop-off / school drop-off issues 77 4 

Deter visitors 71 5 

Needs 30 mins free parking or 1 hour parking 43 6 

Money-making 42 7 

2 hrs / 3hrs or 4hrs free parking (charges after?) 42 7 

Cost of living crisis 38 9 

Free residents & business permits 28 10 

 

1.6.9 Stakeholder responses to the consultation for all the proposals are shown in 

Annex 8. 

1.6.10 A full breakdown of the responses received to the consultation are shown in 

Annex 10. 

1.6.11 Amongst the stakeholder responses, Aylesford Parish Council commented that 

there should be consideration given to a free period to support short retail visits, 

and that free parking ought to be provided for those attending weekend events. 

1.6.12 It is not felt possible to provide balanced parking management across the 

Aylesford car parks that gives free parking for attendees at weekend events, as it 

is not possible to differentiate between attendees and other users. 

1.6.13 The consultation shows respondents concerns over the introduction of charges 

and fears that charges would have a negative effect on visitors and businesses, 

and that there was support for retaining an element of free parking for short 

duration visits, mainly to drop-off and pick up at the local school. 

1.6.14 The concerns about the charges and potential displacement, and the concerns 

that the proposals are “money-making” needs to be considered against the 

Council’s proposal for the extension of the Bailey Bridge (East) car park, which 

would require significant capital investment by the Council.  

1.6.15 Officers have sympathies with parents that need to pick-up and drop-off at schools 

that are located in areas with parking and access problems.  

 

 

Page 156



 7  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

1.7 Extension of Bailey Bridge (East) car park, Aylesford 

1.7.1 The proposal is to extend the Bailey Bridge (East) car park in Aylesford, 

constructing a new surface car park to the west of the existing car park area. This 

would provide approximately 15-30 additional parking spaces and be operated 

and managed in the same way as the existing car parks. 

1.7.2 The full Statement of Reasons for all the proposals is shown in Annex 6.  

1.7.3 As part of the consultation, the number of respondents on this issue are shown 

below. 

Object to proposal Support proposals Not specific 

591 783 1 

 

The 10 most frequent response categories are shown in the following table, with 

the full list of response categories and their frequencies for all the proposals are 

shown in Annex 7 and full breakdown of the responses received to the 

consultation are shown in Annex 11. 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Agree 107 1 

Non-specific / not relevant 60 2 

No charges 54 3 

Need evidence of the need for extra parking 18 4 

Climate issue 16 5 

Impact businesses / visitors 15 6 

Money-making 12 7 

No need for it if charges introduced 10 8 

Free parking for short stay (1-2) hours 10 8 

Displace parking to nearby streets / private parking 5 10 

 

1.7.5   Cabinet will note that the majority of respondents support the proposal and it is felt 

it would be a positive addition to parking arrangements in the village. If Cabinet 

wish to support the proposal it would seem appropriate that this only proceed if 

charges are introduced due to the significant capital cost required and associated 

ongoing revenue costs. 

1.8 Extension of Upper Castle Field car park, Tonbridge 

1.8.1 The proposal is to extend the Upper Castle Field car park in Tonbridge, 

constructing a new surface car park to the west of the existing car park area.  This 

would provide approximately 28 additional parking spaces and be operated and 

managed in the same way as the existing car parks. Demand for parking in this 

area is high particularly to serve the popular leisure facilities in this area of town 

Page 157



 8  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

including the Castle and Tonbridge Racecourse Sportsground. The full Statement 

of Reasons for all the proposals is shown in Annex 6.  

1.8.2 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below. 

Object to proposal Support proposal Not specific 

866 877 19 

 

1.8.3 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies for all 

the proposals are shown in Annex 7. 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Climate comments/green spaces/play park/heritage site 345 1 

No evidence for the need for extra parking 97 2 

Non-specific / not relevant 71 3 

Agree 71 3 

Healthy and safety risk 52 5 

Improve public transport / cycling options 33 6 

Money-making 26 7 

Safe footpath must be maintained and crossing 23 8 

Displace vehicles to Zone J / improve enforcement in area 20 9 

Economic argument, large outlay against small gain 7 10 

 

1.8.4 Stakeholder responses to the consultation for all the proposals are shown in 

Annex 8. 

1.8.5 A full breakdown of the responses received to the consultation are shown in 

Annex 12. 

1.8.6 Cabinet will note that marginally more respondents supported the proposal. 

1.8.7 Amongst the responses, the local Member suggested that the parking charges in 

nearby car parks should be increased to match those in the Upper Castle Field 

car park, rather than extend the Upper Castle Field car park, and that there was 

sufficient spare capacity in car parks nearby. 

1.9 Change of use of Castle Grounds (Tonbridge) parking spaces 

1.9.1 The proposal is for the existing 9 “Gateway” parking places already located in the 

Castle Grounds car park in Tonbridge to become available for general use.  These 

would be subject to the same parking conditions and requirements for payment as 

the rest of the Castle Grounds car park. 

1.9.2 The existing disabled parking arrangements in the car park remain unchanged. 

Page 158



 9  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

1.9.3 A Statement of Reasons for the proposal is shown in Annex 6.  

1.9.4 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below. 

Object to proposal Support proposals Not specific 

620 1086 16 

 

1.9.5 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies for all 

the proposals are shown in Annex 7. 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Will help parking issues 69 1 

Non-specific/relevant 40 2 

Affecting local trade/businesses/deterrent to visit 19 3 

Not enough disabled parking 16 4 

Loss of play facilities / green space 16 4 

Objection to charge 13 6 

Should be free for those using Council services at the Castle 9 7 

Money-making 8 8 

There is enough parking in Tonbridge 6 9 

Discourage driving / encourage public transport / cycling 6 9 

 

1.9.6 Stakeholder responses to the consultation for all the proposals are shown in 

Annex 8. 

1.9.7 A full breakdown of the responses received to the consultation are shown in 

Annex 13. 

1.9.8 Cabinet will note that a majority of respondents support the proposal. 

1.10 Revision to Off-Street parking tariffs 

1.10.1 The proposal is for a revision to the Council’s tariff of charges for off-street 

parking. 

1.10.2 The full Statement of Reasons for all the proposals is shown in Annex 6.  

1.10.3 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below. 

Object to proposal Support proposal Not specific 

1942 206 8 

 

Page 159



 10  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

1.10.4 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies for all 

the proposals are shown in Annex 7. 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Cost of living / can’t afford parking / too expensive 272 1 

Deter visitors / shoppers 255 2 

Impact business / local services 250 3 

Money-making 98 4 

Not specific / not relevant 69 5 

There should be a short free parking period 45 6 

Shoppers will go elsewhere, out of town or shop online 42 7 

I support the charging proposals / seems reasonable 33 8 

No problem / No need 30 9 

Not evenings and Sundays 23 10 

 

1.10.5 Stakeholder responses to the consultation for all the proposals are shown in 

Annex 8. 

1.10.6 A full breakdown of the responses received to the consultation are shown in 

Annex 14. 

1.10.7 West Malling Parish Council commented in their response that the Borough 

Council should consider options for making the Ryarsh Lane car park operate 

more efficiently, to make better use of unused spaced.  

1.10.8 This is beyond the scope of the proposals at this time, but the Council may look to 

review the management principles of the Ryarsh Lane car park as a separate 

issue. 

1.10.9 Cllr Hood also commented on the proposal, that his support was contingent on the 

car parking charges proposals being introduced to all car parks where it is 

financially sustainable.  However, he also commented that there should be free or 

reduced-price parking near places of worship. 

1.10.10 Increases in car park charges are understandably not popular amongst the public 

but Cabinet will be aware of the growing cost of managing this Council’s car park 

stock, ranging from business rates to enforcement and maintenance to 

improvements. 

1.11 Revision to time of operation of parking charges (until 8pm, Sundays and 

Bank Holidays) 

1.11.1 The proposals are for the Council’s off-street parking charges to extend until 8pm 

(save for in West Malling High Street car park, where restricted by covenant), to 

apply on Sundays and to apply on Bank Holidays. 

Page 160



 11  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

1.11.2  The full Statement of Reasons for all the proposals is shown in Annex 6.  

1.11.3 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below. 

Object to 

Sunday 

charges 

Support 

Sunday 

charges 

Object to 

Bank 

Holiday 

charges 

Support 

Bank 

Holiday 

charges 

Object to 

Evening 

Charges (until 

8pm) 

Support 

Evening 

Charges (until 

8pm) 

2180 83 2096 83 2247 17 

 

1.11.4 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies for all 

the proposals are shown in Annex 7. 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Deter visitors / shoppers 584 1 

Impact business 368 2 

Money-making 180 3 

Impact village / town life 177 4 

Cost of living / can’t afford parking 129 5 

Effect church-goers 73 6 

Not specific / not relevant 62 7 

Displace parking to other areas / roads 44 8 

Short free parking period 29 9 

No problem / no need 26 10 

 

1.11.5 Stakeholder responses to the consultation for all the proposals are shown in 

Annex 8.  Within the consultation responses received Cabinet would be interested 

to note the Leisure Trust has raised concern over extension of hours and the 

impact this will have on usage of the Angel Centre and Tonbridge Swimming Pool. 

1.11.6 A full breakdown of the responses received to the consultation are shown in 

Annex 15. 

1.11.7 Similar to the increase in existing charges it is understandable that the extension 

of times to charging periods is not popular. The proposal will however reflect the 

changing shopping habits of the public and allow the Council to fund changes and 

improvements to the parking service to meet those needs. 

1.12 Next Steps – Implementation 

1.12.1 Subject to the views of this Cabinet, the changes would start to be implemented 

as soon as possible.  Some of the changes require the procurement of equipment 

and services and capital works. This results in variable lead-in times so 

implementation dates will vary, however, it is hoped that changes that relate to 

Page 161



 12  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

existing tariffs or do not require significant physical works could be implemented 

by June/July this year.  

1.12.2 With variable implementation dates, the Council may need to introduce the 

elements covered in the Traffic Regulation Order in stages. 

1.13 Legal Implications 

1.13.1 The powers allowing the Borough Council to carry out parking management 

activity are contained in the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, supplemented by 

formal agreement with Kent County Council as the Local Highway Authority, in 

respect of its powers under the Traffic Management Act 2004. In particular, 

section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation 1984 Act imposes a general duty on 

local authorities exercising functions under the Act to secure the expeditious, 

convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including 

pedestrians) and the provision of safe and adequate parking facilities on and off 

the highway. 

1.13.2 The Borough Council carries out parking enforcement under an Agency 

agreement with Kent County Council by way of a Traffic Regulation Order, under 

the terms of the Road Traffic Act 1988 (and its amendments), the Road Traffic 

Regulation Act 1984 and the Traffic Management Act 2004.  

1.13.3 Changes to parking charges are made via an Amendment Orders to the Council's 

on and off-street parking Traffic Regulation Orders, using the procedures set out 

in the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 1996. The proposals have followed and exceeded the requirements 

of the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England & Wales) 

Regulations 1996. 

1.14 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.14.1 Funding for the implementation of the proposals in this report will come from 

existing revenue budgets and capital funding.  The capital funding will require the 

consideration and approval of a number of capital schemes currently sitting in List 

C of the Capital Plan. 

1.14.2 The review of the car parking fees and charges was progressed within the context 

of a set of guiding principles, the cost of the parking service to the Council and 

ongoing investment in the parking management service. Details were reported to 

the September and November 2023 meetings of the Community and Environment 

Scrutiny Select Committee.  

1.15 Risk Assessment 

1.15.1 The comprehensive assessment and consultation process applied to the review of 

on-street parking charges provides the assurance that the Borough Council has 

the will and ability to adapt proposals brought forward, in the light of comment and 

Page 162



 13  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

circumstances, and to ensure that it achieves a best balance of local parking 

needs. A regular review of the schemes is crucial to ensure that the Council 

correctly and effectively manages on-street parking in these areas, as the 

proposals are either introduced for safety reasons or to provide a more 

appropriate balance of parking needs. 

1.16 Equality Impact Assessment 

1.16.1 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 

to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

1.17 Policy Considerations 

1.17.1 Asset Management 

1.17.2 Communications 

1.17.3 Community 

1.17.4 Customer Contact 

1.17.5 Health and Safety 

1.18 Recommendations 

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet  -- 

1) considers the recommendations made at the recent meeting of the Joint 

Transportation Board in regard to on street parking charges, as stated in 

the report, 

2) considers the introduction of parking charges to Martin Square car park as 

stated in the report,  

3) considers the introduction of parking charges to Aylesford Bailey Bridge 

(East) and Bailey Bridge (West) car parks as stated in the report,   

4) considers the extension of the Bailey Bridge (East) car park, subject to the 

introduction of car parking charges in Bailey Bridge (West) and (East) car 

parks, 

5) considers the extension of Upper Castle Field car park, 

6) supports the extension of charges to the Gateway parking bays at 

Tonbridge Castle as outlined in the report, 

7) considers the revision to off-street parking tariffs as stated in the report, 

and  

Page 163



 14  
 

Cabinet KD - Part 1 Public  02 April 2024  

8) considers the revisions of times for the operation of the car parks including 

evenings up to 8pm,weekends and bank holidays. 

Background papers: contact: Andy Bracey 

Parking Manager 

 

 

 

 

Annex 1 – On-Street Parking Changes - Joint Transportation 

Board report 

Annex 2a – Off-Street Parking Proposals Report Sep 2023 

Annex 2b – Off-Street Fees and Charges Report Nov 2023 

Annex 3 – Off-street proposals – TRO Advertisement 

Annex 4 – Off-street proposals – Draft Traffic Regulation Order 

Annex 5 – Comparative Charges 

Annex 6 – Off-street changes – Statement of Reasons 

Annex 7 – Off-street Consultation - Response frequencies 

Annex 8 – Stakeholder Responses 

Annex 9 – Responses (Martin Square) 

Annex 10 – Responses (Bailey Bridge East & West) 

Annex 11 – Responses (Bailey Bridge East extension) 

Annex 12 – Responses (Upper Castle Field extension) 

Annex 13 – Responses (Castle Grounds) 

Annex 14 – Responses (Revision to Off-Street tariffs) 

Annex 15 – Responses (Evenings, Sundays and Bank Holidays) 

 

 

Robert Styles 

Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services 

 

Sharon Shelton 

Director of Finance & Transformation and Interim Deputy Chief Executive 

Page 164



   

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD  

04 March 2024 

Report of the Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services 

Part 1- Public 

Matters For Decision 

 

1 PARKING PROPOSALS AND CHANGES TO ON-STREET PARKING FEES 

AND CHARGES 

Summary 
This report presents Members with the outcome of the recent formal 
consultation on changes to the Traffic Regulation Order with regard to on-
street parking fees and charges and makes recommendations to the 
Borough Council’s Cabinet. 
 

1.1 Introduction 

1.1.1 At the October and November 2023 meetings of Cabinet, Members considered 

and approved a number of proposals relating to both on and off-street parking 

fees and charges subject to full formal consultation.  

1.1.2 The details of the on-street proposals are shown in Annex 2. These proposals 

included amendments to on-street parking arrangements in Avebury Avenue, 

Tonbridge, the introduction of charges to the High Street and Swan Street in West 

Malling and changes to the loading bay in West Malling High Street. 

1.1.3 To enable the charges to be introduced a new on-street Traffic Regulation Order 

amendment is required. 

1.2 Changes to on-street fees and charges and parking arrangements – Formal 

Consultation 

1.2.1 The statutory process for making a Traffic Regulation Order requires that the 

Borough Council undertakes a formal consultation on the proposed changes for a 

minimum of 21 days. In light of the wide-ranging nature of the changes, and to 

improve community engagement, the Council decided to extend the consultation 

period beyond the minimum requirements. The formal consultation was carried 

out between 24th November 2023 and 7th January 2024. 

1.2.2 As part of the consultation process, the following actions were progressed, inviting 

comments or objection; 

Annex 1 

Page 165



 2  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

 Notices were placed in each on-street Pay & Display area and by each pay 

and display machine. 

 Adverts were placed in the local media 

 Letters were sent to each Member of the Borough Council and local Parish 

Councils 

 Letters were sent to all statutory consultees (Police, Fire, Bus operators 

etc.) 

1.2.3 Consultation information was also placed on the Borough Council’s website which 

was linked to a comprehensive on-line consultation portal. A copy of the 

consultation questions are shown in Annex 6. 

1.3 Consultation responses 

1.3.1 Through the use of the on-line consultation portal we asked a series of 10 

questions that covered the proposals linked to both the on and off-street parking 

fees and charges. Responses for consideration by this Board relate only to the on-

street changes which have been broken down by question and subject area.  

1.3.2 The consultation took advantage on an online response form to collect and collate 

responses. Direct email responses and replies in writing were also received and 

considered. All of the responses are included in Annexes 9.1 to 9.4. 

1.3.3 One of the merits of the online consultation form is that it allows easy access and 

the public can comment on all of the issues. This has led to a number of situations 

where responders have commented several times, on differing questions, but 

answering in relation to one topic only – for example, commenting on the potential 

changes in Avebury Avenue or the on-street changes in West Malling, but “copy 

and pasting” the response in to every question.  

1.3.4 The level of response and public engagement was significant for this sort of issue 

and the indications from the responders can clearly be seen. 

1.3.5 Responses were also received from key stakeholders including Parish Councils, 

Chambers of Commerce, Churches, schools etc on the proposals. These are all 

included at Annex 7 for Members consideration in the relevant sections later in 

this report. 

1.4 Avebury Avenue 

1.4.1 The proposals in Avebury Avenue are to remove the on-street parking machines 

in Avebury Avenue Tonbridge (west of Holford Street) and the area be changed to 

permit parking only to add capacity to the D1 permit parking area, as shown in 

Annex 4.  

Page 166



 3  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

1.4.2 A Statement of Reasons for the proposal is shown in Annex 3, with the proposal 

aimed at better meeting the needs of town centre visitors and residents. 

1.4.3 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below; 

Object to proposal Support proposal Not specific 

135 77 5 

 

1.4.4 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies are 

shown in Annex 8 

Comment Number of 
comments made Rank 

Non-specific comments (or not relevant to 
proposal) 

28 
1 

Impact businesses / local services / Church 9 2 

Deter visitors / customers 8 3 

Favourable to residents 4 4 

Not necessary / not wanted 3 5 

Cost of living 3 5 

Impact on school drop-off /pick up 3 5 

Really useful parking keep as is 2 8 

Money making 2 8 

Seems sensible 1 10 

Political comment 1 10 

Suggest dual use Resident and P&D  1 10 

 

1.4.5 Analysis 

1.4.6 A significant number of comments in response to this element of the consultation 

relate to other proposals – for example, the comments relating to school pick-up 

and drop-off, or church attendees are not relevant as there are no schools or 

churches nearby that are affected by the changes.  

1.4.7 There were also comments that the resident parking bays in Avebury Avenue 

should be made available to the residents of Iron, Steel and Copper Houses – 

developments on Avebury Avenue that are currently excluded from the D1 permit 

parking area. This could provide additional parking opportunities for the residents 

in the D1 area. 

1.4.8 Recommendations 

1.4.9 It is recommended that the proposals for Avebury Avenue are considered by 

members of the Board, including the potential inclusion of the residential 

Page 167



 4  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

properties in Iron, Steel and Copper Houses and the on-street Traffic Regulation 

Order be amended to this effect. 

1.5 West Malling High Street and Swan Street – introduction of charges 

1.5.1 There are two proposals for West Malling; to introduce charges to on street 

parking bays in West Malling High Street and Swan Street and to amend the 

operation of the loading bay area to the front of Tesco on the High Street. 

1.5.2 The proposals for the introduction of charges are shown on the plans in Annex 4 

1.5.3 A Statement of Reasons for these changes are shown in Annex 3 with the aim to 

address the abuse of the current arrangements and increase the opportunity for 

shoppers to visit the town centre. 

1.5.4 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below; 

Object to proposal Support proposal Not specific 

682 39 5 

 

1.5.5 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies 

shown in Annex 8 

Comment Number of 
comments 
made Rank 

Impact businesses / local services / Church 294 1 

Deter visitors / customers 199 2 

Improved enforcement needed, should enforce the 1 hour 
existing 

105 3 

1 hour free very useful 68 4 

Money making 55 5 

Impact on school drop-off / pick up 55 5 

Displace parking to free areas / residential streets 52 7 

Not necessary / not wanted 33 8 

15, 30 minute, 1 hour or 2 hour free tickets (high charges for 
longer parking) 

33 8 

Cost of living 26 10 

 

1.5.6 Analysis 

1.5.7 It is important to note that this proposal asks people if they want to pay for 

something that so far has been available to them for free. It is therefore not 

surprising that a majority of respondents stated that the changes were not wanted. 

Page 168



 5  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

1.5.8 The highest ranked comments represented concerns about the impact of charges 

(and the removal of 1 hour free parking) on local businesses, closely followed by 

comments that the changes would deter visitors from visiting the town. There was 

a similar response when charges were introduced to the High Street short-stay car 

park in the town in 2016, which did not transpire.  

1.5.9 It can also be argued that the proposals will enable more accessibility to High 

Street businesses which should increase footfall and turnover. 

1.5.10 It is important to note that the proposal does not represent the complete removal 

of free parking in West Malling – unrestricted free parking will still be available for 

cars in St Leonards Street and Water Lane, and for up to 2 hours in Norman Road 

/ Offham Road area to the west of the town and Town Hill and Nevill Court area to 

the north. 

1.5.11 The Council currently permits a “walking bus” to operate from the High Street car 

park on school days in the mornings, and allows free parking from 3pm in the 

Ryarsh Lane car park to assist with the school pick-up time. No change to this 

arrangement that supports parents and the local school are proposed. 

1.5.12 There was also significant comment that there should be more parking 

enforcement of the restrictions – not just the parking bays, but the double yellow 

lines, and that the enforcement should cover wider time periods than currently 

available. An increase in the level of parking enforcement is an issue that will 

need to be considered once final decisions have been taken by Cabinet on both 

on-street and off-street parking proposals. 

1.5.13 68 responses indicated a wish to retain the 1 hour free parking. This is however 

difficult to enforce and is currently frequently abused by those wishing to stay 

longer.Tackling abuse of the bays in the central are of West Malling in High Street 

and Swan Street, to create a greater opportunity for shoppers and visitors was a 

key aim of the proposals. 

1.5.14 It is also important to note that such an arrangement would create an inequity 

between the arrangements for West Malling and the current on-street parking 

arrangements in Tonbridge. The current on-street Pay & Display parking in 

Tonbridge does not include any free of charge arrangements. 

1.5.15 Recommendation 

The proposals for the introduction of on-street charges in West Malling High Street 

and Swan Street should be introduced as drawn and the on-street Traffic 

Regulation Order be altered to reflect this. 

1.6 Changes to Loading Bay, West Malling 

1.6.1 The proposals are shown on the plans in Annex 5. 

Page 169



 6  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

1.6.2 A Statement of Reasons for the change are shown in Annex 3, with the aim to 

address significant problems with obstructive parking which impacts on buses and 

the ability for deliveries and collections to take place. 

1.6.3 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below; 

Object to proposal Support proposal Not specific 

242 164 6 

 

1.6.4 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies 

shown in Annex 8. 

Comment Number of comments 
made Rank 

More enforcement needed / bigger signs 50 1 

Not necessary / not wanted 48 2 

Losing too many parking spaces / not enough spaces 39 3 

Impact businesses / local services 21 4 

Parking here is dangerous 20 5 

Non-specific comments (or not relevant to proposal) 15 6 

Support 15 6 

Will affect carers / elderly visiting Tesco and Boots 8 8 

Deter visitors / customers 6 9 

More disabled parking, or parent and child parking 6 9 

 

1.6.5 Analysis 

1.6.6 The lead comment was that there should be more enforcement, and/or that the 

signs should be bigger. 

1.6.7 The signs already meet the national requirements for this sort of restriction and 

the Council already carries out a high level of enforcement in this area, resulting in 

a high level of PCN issue for a short section of restriction. 

1.6.8 The signs also meet standards for a conservation area, so are similar in design 

but smaller than those normally used. Given the comments relating to the size of 

the signs, consideration should be given to any new signs at this location being at 

the standard size rather than the reduced conservation size, however, it is 

recommended that the views of the local Members are sought on this detail. 

1.6.9 With regard to parking enforcement, this is an issue that needs to be considered 

as the current usage of the location is considered to be dangerous by 

respondents. 

1.6.10 Recommendation 

The proposal for the loading bay in West Malling High Street should be introduced 

Page 170



 7  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

as drawn, the future level of enforcement and size of signs be reviewed and the 

on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect this. 

1.7 On-Street Fees and Charges 

1.7.1 The proposals are shown in the advertisement at Annex 2 and the Draft Traffic 

Regulation Order at Annex 1 and cover two elements; 

 increases to the on-street Pay & Display parking charges (T1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 

T2, T3 & T4 in Annex 2) collected through ticket machines and the phone 

payment system, and 

 variations to the on-street parking permit charges (T7.3, 7.4, 7.5 & 7.6 in 

Annex 2). 

1.7.2 The number of respondents on this issue are shown below; 

Object to proposal Support proposals Not specific 

394 26 4 

 

1.7.3 The 10 most frequent response categories for this issue are shown in the 

following table, with the full list of response categories and their frequencies are 

shown in Annex 8 

Comment Number of 
comments 
made Rank 

Impact businesses / local services 69 1 

Cost of living / too expensive 55 2 

Deter visitors / customers 52 3 

Non-specific comments (or not relevant to 
proposal) 

37 
4 

Money-making 26 5 

Not necessary / not wanted 19 6 

Short free period needed 13 7 

Price rises too frequent / too large / too high 
already 

12 
8 

More parking enforcement needed 9 9 

Displace parking to free areas 7 10 

Want evidence of costs increasing 7 10 

 

1.7.4 Analysis 

1.7.5 Whilst it is never popular for any prices to increase, the Council’s proposals are 

felt to represent a balanced set of changes, aimed at increases to cover the costs 

Page 171



 8  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

of its services against increasing inflation costs, and to recognize that parking 

charges have not been increased for two years.  

1.7.6 The costs for on-street P&D parking set by Cabinet mirror the proposals for off-

street parking, so there is no differential between the two. 

1.7.7 Recommendation 

That the changes to the on-street fees and charges be implement as advertised, 

and the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect this. 

1.8 Next Steps – Implementation  

1.8.1 It is intended that the recommendations in this report will be taken forward to the 

Borough’s Cabinet in April 2024, for consideration alongside the off-street parking 

changes that were consulted upon at the same time. 

1.8.2 Subject to the outcome of the Cabinet meeting, the changes would be 

implemented through the summer of 2024, as some of the changes require the 

procurement of equipment and services that have variable lead-in times. 

1.9 Legal Implications 

1.9.1 The powers allowing the Borough Council to carry out parking management 

activity are contained in the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, supplemented by 

formal agreement with Kent County Council as the Local Highway Authority, in 

respect of its powers under the Traffic Management Act 2004. In particular, 

section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation 1984 Act imposes a general duty on 

local authorities exercising functions under the Act to secure the expeditious, 

convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including 

pedestrians) and the provision of safe and adequate parking facilities on and off 

the highway. 

1.9.2 The Borough Council carries out parking enforcement under an Agency 

agreement with Kent County Council by way of a Traffic Regulation Order, under 

the terms of the Road Traffic Act 1988 (and its amendments), the Road Traffic 

Regulation Act 1984 and the Traffic Management Act 2004.  

1.9.3 Changes to parking charges are made via an Amendment Orders to the Council's 

on and off-street parking Traffic Regulation Orders, using the procedures set out 

in the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 1996 and will reflect any temporary amendments to procedures 

introduced to address Covid-19 restrictions. The proposals have followed and 

exceeded the requirements of the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) 

(England & Wales) Regulations 1996. 

 

 

Page 172



 9  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

1.10 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.10.1 Funding for the implementation of the proposals in this report will come from 

existing revenue budgets and capital funding which will be subject to the outcome 

of Cabinet. 

1.10.2 The review of the on-street car parking fees and charges was progressed within 

the context of a set of guiding principles, the cost of the parking service to the 

Council and ongoing investment in the parking management service. Details were 

reported to the September and November 2023 meetings of the Community and 

Environment Scrutiny Select Committee.  

1.11 Risk Assessment 

1.11.1 The comprehensive assessment and consultation process applied to the review of 

on-street parking charges provides the assurance that the Borough Council has 

the will and ability to adapt proposals brought forward, in the light of comment and 

circumstances, and to ensure that it achieves a best balance of local parking 

needs. A regular review of the schemes is crucial to ensure that the Council 

correctly and effectively manages on-street parking in these areas, as the 

proposals are either introduced for safety reasons or to provide a more 

appropriate balance of parking needs. 

1.12 Equality Impact Assessment 

1.12.1 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 

to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

1.13 Policy Considerations 

1.13.1 Asset Management 

1.13.2 Communications 

1.13.3 Community 

1.13.4 Customer Contact 

1.13.5 Health and Safety 

  

Page 173



 10  

JTB - Part 1 Public  04 March 2024  

 

1.14 Recommendations 

1.14.1 It is RECOMMENDED to Borough Council Cabinet that:- 

 The proposals for Avebury Avenue, Tonbridge be considered by Members 

of the Board, including the potential inclusion of the residential properties 

in Iron, Steel and Copper Houses, and the on-street Traffic Regulation 

Order be amended to this effect. 

 The proposals for the introduction of on-street charges in West Malling 

High Street and Swan Street should be introduced as drawn, and the on-

street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect this. 

 The proposal for the loading bay in West Malling High Street should be 

introduced as drawn, the future level of enforcement and size of signs to 

be reviewed and the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to 

reflect this. 

 That the changes to the on-street fees and charges be implemented as 

advertised, and the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect 

this. 

 

Background papers:  

contact:  

Andy Bracey 

Parking Manager 

Annex 1 Draft Traffic Regulation Order 

Annex 2 TRO Advertisement 

Annex 3 TRO Statement of Reasons 

Annex 4 Plan of on-street changes in Avebury Avenue, 

Tonbridge 

Annex 5 Plans of on-street changes in West Malling 

Annex 6 Consultation questions 

Annex 7 Stakeholder responses (on-street) 

Annex 8 On-street response frequency 

Annex 9 Consultation responses (redacted) 

 

  

 

 

 

Robert Styles 

Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services 

Page 174



Annex 1.1 

 

PARKING PROPOSALS AND CHANGES TO ON-STREET PARKING FEES AND 
CHARGES  
 
Item JTB 24/4 referred from Joint Transportation Board of 4 March 2024 
 
The report of the Director of Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services presented 
the outcome of the recent formal consultation on changes to the Traffic Regulation 
Order with regard to on-street parking fees and charges.   
 
At the October and November 2023 meetings of Cabinet, Members considered and 
approved a number of proposals relating to both on and off-street parking fees and 
charges subject to full consultation.  The detail of the on-street proposals was attached 
at Annex 2 to the report.  The proposals included amendments to on-street parking 
arrangements in Avebury Avenue in Tonbridge, the introduction of charges to the High 
Street and Swan Street in West Malling and changes to the loading bay in West Malling 
High Street. In accordance with the statutory requirements, a formal consultation was 
undertaken on the proposed changes and the responses were attached at Annexes 
9.1 to 9.4 to the report.  
 
During discussion regarding the proposed changes to parking bays in Avebury 
Avenue, the D1 permit holder parking proposal to meet the needs of residents in Iron, 
Steel and Copper Houses, was not supported by Members on the grounds that the 
proposal was not permissible due to planning constraints. 
 
Consideration was given to the proposals in respect of West Malling High Street and 
Swan Street.  Although the proposal to introduce Pay and Display parking charges for 
on-street parking for up to 4 hours was supported, it was recommended that the 
proposed parking charges for 30 minutes and 1 hour be removed, allowing free 
parking for up to 1 hour. 
 
Members discussed the proposed changes to the on-street fees, in particular the 
resident’s on-street permit charges, and agreed the new charges as detailed in Annex 
2 to the report.  
 
*RECOMMENDED: That 
 
(1)  the proposals for Avebury Avenue, Tonbridge, excluding D1 residential permit 

parking for the properties in Iron, Steel and Cooper Houses, be agreed, and that 
the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be amended to reflect the changes;  

 
(2)  the proposals for the introduction of on-street charges in West Malling High Street 

and Swan Street be introduced, subject to an amendment that the proposed 
parking charges for West Malling High Street and Swan Street for 30 minutes 
and 1 hour be removed and that the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be 
amended to reflect the changes; 

 
(3)  the proposal for the loading bay in West Malling High Street be introduced, the 

future level of enforcement and size of signs be reviewed and the on-street Traffic 
Regulation Order be altered to reflect the changes; and 

 

Page 175



Annex 1.1 

 

(4) the changes to the on-street fees and charges be implemented as advertised 
and the on-street Traffic Regulation Order be altered to reflect the changes. 

 
*Recommendation to Cabinet 
 

Page 176



C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY SELECT COMMITTEE 

21 September 2023 

 Joint Report of the Directors of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services and 

Finance and Transformation and the Cabinet Member for Transformation and 

Infrastructure 

Part 1- Public 

Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Key Decision 

1 CAR PARKING PROPOSALS 

Summary 

This report brings forward a number of proposed changes to the Council’s 

car parking service for consideration and recommendation to Cabinet.  The 

report suggests taking the proposals forward to a formal public consultation 

exercise, with the outcome reported back to a future meeting of Cabinet. 

1.1 Car Parking 

1.1.1 The Council owns and manages 46 car parks across the borough to serve the 

needs of residents, businesses, visitors and workers.  The aim is to balance the 

management of the car parks to meet the needs of all users, optimise the 

availability of parking, maximise income subject to market conditions and provide 

consistency across the assets in a fair commercial and efficient manner. 

1.1.2 There are significant annual costs associated with the operation of the parking 

service such as the maintenance of car parks costing £320,000, enforcement 

costing £376,000 in salaries, business rates costing £295,000, lighting, security 

measures, renewal of signs and lines and considerable investment in the Parking 

Action Plan.  These costs have increased on average by 10% over the last 2 

years, whilst charges have remained unchanged. 

1.1.3 It has been two years since the last review of parking charges and the next review 

is due, and a report will be presented to the next meeting of this Select Committee 

on 7th November 2023. 

1.2 Charging Proposals 

1.2.1 In advance of the review of existing charges a number of proposals are brought 

forward for Member consideration and recommendation to Cabinet.  These 

proposals intend to assist in meeting the stated aims of the parking service and 

Annex 2a

Page 177



2 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

generate additional income to the Council to meet the aforementioned rising costs 

of delivering the service. They are also intended to resolve some existing parking 

issues which have been reported to the Council in specific areas 

a. Extension of car park charging periods

The Council’s parking charges are in place Monday – Saturday, 8am – 6pm,

with free parking from 6pm, overnight, Sundays and Bank Holidays (though

there are exceptions to this such as Haysden Country Park and West Malling

High street car park).

The basis for this has been historic, based on traditional “office hours” and the

opening times of local shops.  However, retail opening times have changed

significantly – many shops are open later and some (large retail supermarkets)

are open 24 hours.  There is also significant demand for parking on Sundays –

not driven by free parking, but by the opportunity to carry out tasks, participate

in leisure activities and attend events on what is for most a non-working day.

This is particularly an issue in the car parks serving the castle, the swimming

pool and sportsground in Tonbridge where it can be extremely difficult to find a

parking space on a Sunday for leisure activities.

It is commonplace for Local Authorities to have charges on Sunday (either at

the same rate, or a flat “day rate”) and to have evening charges, with Bank

Holidays also chargeable. At the present time only the Council’s Country Parks

charge on a Sunday and Bank Holidays. Looking at local authorities in Kent,

Tonbridge and Malling is only one of 4 local authorities currently not applying

evening, Sunday or bank holiday charges. Other Councils including Maidstone,

Canterbury and Swale also apply overnight charges in their car parks but this

is not suggested to be a position this Council takes at the present time.

It is suggested extending the chargeable periods – to include Sundays,

evenings up to 8pm and Bank Holidays.

Estimated additional income from the above proposals is £319,670, based on

the proposed charges detailed at ANNEX 1.

There are associated issues that need consideration in relation to the above

suggestion, which are as follows.  The Council’s existing civil enforcement

team consists of 8 CEOs and 2 Supervisors, working to the Parking Officer.

This allows for 6-day cover, Mondays to Saturdays, with enforcement between

7am and 8pm Monday – Friday and 8am – 4pm on Saturdays.  The staff are

not currently contractually required to work on Sundays, Bank Holidays and

Saturday evenings.

Extending the chargeable times and days may entail changes to the level of

enforcement needed and may require the operation of an additional shift of 2

CEOs.  This would need to considered in liaison with the staff but an additional

shift would have an additional annual revenue cost of approximately £70,000,

Page 178



3 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

offset to some degree by additional income of £30,000 per CEO generated by 

the issuing of Penalty Charge Notices. There will also be additional costs of 

approximately £13,000 for maintenance of the parking areas and vehicles. 

Extending the charging periods may also require the alteration of nearby on-

street parking controls that currently echo the existing car park arrangements, 

otherwise parking may displace out of the car parks. 

There are also some car parks that have restrictive covenants on when 

charges can apply, for example, West Malling High Street short-stay car park. 

Whilst it will be possible to include Sunday and Bank holiday charges in West 

Malling short stay high street car park, the covenant does not allow parking 

past 5.30pm. 

The proposals would require public consultation in accordance with Traffic 

Regulation Orders using the procedures set out in the Local Authorities Traffic 

Orders (Procedure) (England & Wales) Regulations 1996.  The outcome of this 

consultation would be reported back to a future meeting of Cabinet. 

b. Removal of on-street charges in Avebury Avenue

Avebury Avenue is a location in Tonbridge where on-street parking charges

are considered to be ineffective.  The machines in Avebury Avenue (west of

Holford Street) take annual income of £2160, but cost £4,800 to run. It is

therefore suggested that these charges should be removed and the spaces

changed to permit parking only (which would improve parking availability for

residents in zone D1).  This would enable the decommissioning and relocation

of the existing pay & display machines with a subsequent saving in running

and renewal costs.   The change to a parking permit regime would be subject

to public consultation and may also offer the opportunity to consider the

business parking permits in this area.

c. Introduce new charges

As referenced earlier in this report car parking provision does not come for

free, and the maintenance of the facilities provided are all at a significant cost

to the Council.

There are several car parks, particularly in the north of the Borough, that have

no charges but are well used. Some of these car parks also suffer from a low

turnover, reducing the availability of spaces for all users.  It is suggested that

these should have charges introduced to generate income, recognise the

value of parking in these areas and help ensure the car park is managed in a

balanced manner.  The suggested car parks are as follows and all the

proposals would once again be subject to formal public consultation with a

report back to a future meeting of Cabinet.

i) Larkfield - Martin Square

Martin Square car park has 89 ordinary spaces, 5 disabled spaces and

Page 179



4 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

an intention to provide 6 EV charging spaces in the future. 

There are resident vehicles that park in the car park overnight, and a 

significant number of cars that park all day belonging to staff of nearby 

businesses. Restrictions are in place for 2 hours in the nearby 

supermarket, there is unrestricted on street parking availability nearby 

on Kingfisher Road and there are restrictions at Lawson House and 

Larkfield Health Centre.  

Daytime parking is linked to customers for nearby businesses, the 

medical centre and also short-stay parent pick-up and drop-off parking 

for the nearby primary schools. 

Projected annual income from the proposed charges shown at Annex 1 

is £31,919. A plan of the area where proposed charges would apply is 

shown at Annex 2.  It would be the intention to introduce CCTV to 

improve security in the car park. 

ii) Aylesford – Bailey Bridge Car Parks

Bailey Bridge (West) car park (on the village side of the road) has 71

ordinary spaces and 4 disabled spaces.

Bailey Bridge (East) car park (on the allotment side) has 49 spaces and

2 EV charging spaces.

Both car parks are well used by residents as ad-hoc residential parking,

by staff working in the village and by visitors to Aylesford village, which

includes an element of tourism. They are often heavily used as an

overflow when Aylesford Football Club has tournaments or many

matches at the same time. The Council has been approached by

residents living on or around the High Street requesting permits

because of the challenges in finding available parking.

Projected income from the proposed charges shown at Annex 1 is

£47,118. This includes income from season tickets which would be

available to residents who currently struggle to find parking.

Works to the Bailey Bridge (East) car park including tarmacking and

lining to provide better parking and increase capacity will be required. It

is proposed that this be brought forward within the review of the capital

plan to be completed as charges are introduced. The cost of the capital

project is estimated to be £160,000.

iii) West Malling High Street (on-street) and Swan Street

West Malling High Street and Swan Street has 93 on-street shared-use

parking bays that currently provide 1 hour free parking, as well as

unlimited resident permit parking.

Page 180



5 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

It is suggested that charges be introduced with charges set the same as 

the West Malling High Street car park. This will enable longer parking in 

the bays with a maximum stay of 4 hours, increasing the capacity for 

people to spend longer in the town. 

Charges for on street bays in Tonbridge have been in place for a 

number of years including Avebury Avenue, Morley Road and the High 

Street. 

Since the introduction of car parking charges in West Malling high street 

car park in 2016, there was no medium-term impact on vacancy rates 

on the High street with 0% reported in 2019.The current vacancy rate of 

3.49% has increased since the Covid pandemic, but is still lower than 

the borough wide vacancy rate of 6.5%. 

Projected annual income from the proposed charges shown at Annex 1 

is £50,829. 

d. Tonbridge Castle Grounds – extension of charging

It is suggested that the “Gateway Visitor” parking spaces at the Castle, as

shown on the plan at Annex 3, be changed to Pay and Display parking similar

to the other parking spaces in the Castle Grounds. The Gateway is leaving the

Castle next year, and through the Castle Study Group the use of the Castle is

changing. There is also confusion by some drivers as to why there are different

restrictions in place, and the parking arrangements are regularly abused.

This proposal would add a further 9 parking spaces. The existing 13 Pay and

Display spaces in the Castle Grounds took £32,103 (before VAT) last calendar

year – a surprising income for such a small facility, indicting its popularity

based on its position close to the upper High Street.

Projected income from the proposed charges shown at Annex 1 is £22,363.

1.3 Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) 

1.3.1 It is recognised that ANPR is potentially a good idea for managing car parks of the 

right location and design.  ANPR reads and checks car registration numbers 

which are recorded on entry and exit times of parked vehicles. 

1.3.2 The Council could gain benefits by using ANPR in car parks where the entry and 

exit are barrier controlled as car registration plates can be recorded at the barrier 

on entry and on exit, and if payment has not been made on behalf of that 

registration, then the barrier stays shut. To remain under the regulations of the 

Road Traffic Act and Traffic Management Act, the use of barriers is required. This 

is an effective system and requires lower levels of enforcement input as you have 

Page 181



6 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

to pay to leave the car park and there are significantly fewer cases where a PCN 

could be issued for non-payment. This does not remove the need for CEO’s as 

on-site staff may well be required to release cars if there are any technical issues 

or errors and we would still need to patrol to prevent irregular parking activities 

such as “out of bay”. 

1.3.3 When considering the types of car parks that make up our estate, a number could 

be considered suitable for ANPR and barrier control including Haysden Country 

Park, Western Road in Borough Green and Upper Castle Fields, Tonbridge as 

they have controllable entry and exit points.  The Angel Car Parks are not 

currently felt to be appropriate due to the dual ticket system and the broader 

review of Tonbridge Town Centre. West Malling short stay car park has 

restrictions due to mixed land ownership. In Borough Green the village hall car 

park, owned by the Parish Council, is operated by ANPR so there is merit in 

having similar enforcement in both village car parks.  

1.3.4 The cost of introducing an ANPR and barrier control system to a car park are not 

insignificant and require ongoing maintenance contracts and software support. 

1.3.5 Consideration needs to be made in relation to disabled parking, as it is not 

possible to provide parking concessions for the disabled as this is done through 

the blue badge scheme and not through vehicle registrations, so disabled drivers 

would not be identifiable and would have to pay. 

1.3.6 The Leisure Trust has recently installed ANPR at Leybourne Lakes Country Park . 

The Trust will be supplying the Council with feedback on the performance of the 

installation. 

1.3.7 It is suggested that a capital plan proposal be brought forward within the 

forthcoming review of the capital plan to introduce ANPR systems at selected car 

parks on a trial basis The cost of this capital project has yet to be estimated. 

1.4 Upper Castle Fields Car Park 

1.4.1 At the present time the Upper Castle Fields Car Park is the most successful car 

park run by the Council in terms of income generation and occupancy. The 

occupancy of the car park is high with bays being sold 2-3 times a day with £7.03 

generated daily for each bay provided.   It is full on a number of occasions and 

has become increasingly popular with the growth of events at the Castle. 114 

event days are now held throughout Tonbridge across the year with total visitor 

numbers estimated to be iro70,000. It is also well used on weekdays due to its 

proximity to Slade Primary school, and at weekends due to its proximity to 

Tonbridge Racecourse Sportsground, Tonbridge Swimming Pool and Tonbridge 

Juddians Rugby Club, with limited capacity at Lower Castle fields.   

1.4.2 It is suggested that Members agree that within the forthcoming review of the 

Capital Plan for a scheme to extend the car park and provide additional parking be 

bought forward. Any new scheme would retain the provision of the swings on site 

Page 182



7 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

as these are extremely popular with the public. This is also important within the 

context of the Tonbridge Town Centre Asset review. The review is focussed on 

the land east of the high street, including Council owned car parks, and the need 

to better balance parking capacity between the east and west of the high street is 

important. The cost of the capital project is estimated to be £180,000. 

1.4.3 This will help meet an identified need for additional parking and generate 

additional income to the Council. 

1.5 Legal Implications 

1.5.1 The powers allowing the Borough Council to carry out parking management 

activity are contained in the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, supplemented by 

formal agreement with Kent County Council as the Local Highway Authority, in 

respect of its powers under the Traffic Management Act 2004. In particular, 

section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation 1984 Act imposes a general duty on 

local authorities exercising functions under the Act to secure the expeditious, 

convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including 

pedestrians) and the provision of safe and adequate parking facilities on and off 

the highway. 

1.5.2 Changes to parking charges should be made via an Amendment Order to the 

Council’s on and off-street parking Traffic Regulation Orders, using the 

procedures set out in the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England 

and Wales) Regulations 1996. 

1.6 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.6.1 The Council currently applies a charging regime to the majority of its car parks 

generating an annual net income of £2,532,000. 

1.6.2 The financial implications of the suggested proposals have been included in the 

relevant sub-sections of the report.  It is essential that given the context of the 

MTFS that the Council seeks to ensure that the assets are managed in the most 

economically advantageous way, costs are recovered and income is optimised. 

1.6.3 The estimated additional income is modelled on predicted future parking patterns 

and demand in line with current usage.  There is always an immediate perception 

that new charges will impact negatively on usage levels and impact local 

businesses.  This has not been the experience at Haysden Country Park and 

West Malling when the Council previously introduced new charges. 

1.6.4 In addition to the aforementioned capital plan schemes, a separate capital 

scheme will also be required to enable the proposals to be implemented. This will 

include items such as signage, machines and CCTV. The cost of this capital 

scheme will be dependent on which proposals are progressed but could be iro. 

£100,000. Each capital scheme will have a revenue impact based on the loss of 

investment income and replacement of equipment items within capital renewals.  

Page 183



8 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

1.7 Risk Assessment 

1.7.1 There is a risk that the Councils aim of providing a balanced approach to the 

management of its car parks detailed at sub section 1.1.1 will not be met if the 

above proposals are not implemented. 

1.8 Equality Impact Assessment 

1.8.1 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 

to the substance of the Equality Act.  

1.9 Policy Considerations 

1.9.1 Asset Management, Communications, Customer Contact 

1.10 Recommendations 

1.10.1 Members of the Select Committee are requested to consider the suggested 

parking proposals outlined below, the implementation of a formal public 

consultation exercise, and make recommendations to Cabinet: 

 the extension of parking charges to include Sundays, evenings up to 8pm

and Bank holidays

 remove the on street parking machines in Avebury Avenue Tonbridge (west

of Holford Street) and the area be changed to permit parking only to add

capacity to the D1 permit parking area.

 introduce parking charges to Martin Square ,Larkfield

 introduce  parking charges to Bailey Bridge car parks in Aylesford

 bring forward in the forthcoming capital plan review a project to improve the

Bailey Bridge East car park

 introduce charges to on street parking bays in West Malling High Street

and Swan street.

 introduce parking charges to the existing Gateway Visitor parking bays in

Tonbridge Castle grounds.

 bring forward in the forthcoming capital plan review a scheme to introduce

ANPR systems at selected car parks on a trial basis

 bring forward in the forthcoming capital plan review a scheme to extend the

existing Upper Castle Field car park to provide additional parking.

Page 184



9 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 21 September 2023 

 bring forward in the forthcoming capital plan review a scheme to enable the

proposals to be implemented including CCTV, parking machines and

signage.

Background papers: contact: Andy Bracey 

Nil  

Robert Styles 

Director of Street Scene, Leisure and Technical Services 

Sharon Shelton 

Director of Finance and Transformation 

Martin Coffin 

Cabinet Member for Transformation and Infrastructure 

Page 185



ANNEX 1 

CAR PARKING PROPOSALS 

PROPOSED CHARGES 

 

1. Larkfield/Martin Square 

              Martin Square 

Period Proposed Charge 

30 minutes £0.60 

1 hour £1.20 

2 hours £2.00 

3 hours £2.90 

4 hours £3.80 

All day (23 hours) £5.80 

Season ticket (monthly) 

 

£29.00 

Season ticket (annually) £290.00 

 

 

2. Aylesford/Bailey Bridge 

              Aylesford/Bailey Bridge 

Period Proposed Charge 

30 minutes £0.60 

1 hour £1.20 

2 hours £2.00 

3 hours £2.90 

4 hours £3.80 

All day (23 hours) £5.80 

Page 29Page 186



Season ticket (monthly) 

 

£29.00 

Season ticket (annually) £290.00 

 

 

3. West Malling (On-street) 

              West Malling (On-Street) 

Period Proposed Charge 

30 minutes £0.60 

1 hour £1.20 

2 hours £2.00 

3 hours £2.90 

4 hours £3.80 

 

 

4. Tonbridge Castle Grounds 

Tonbridge Castle Grounds 

 

Period – Hours Proposed Charge 

30 minutes £0.80  

1 hour £1.60  

2 hours £3.20 

3 hours £4.80 

4 hours £6.40 

Additional hours           £3.20  

 

 

 

Page 30Page 187



© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100023300

DateDrawn

Scale

Drawing No.

Checked

Rev

Drawing TitleProject Title

STREETSCENE,
LEISURE & TECHNICAL

SERVICES

Technical Services
Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill
West Malling
Kent     ME19 4LZ
Tel: 01732 844522

Larkfield
Martin Square car park

Extents of car park
SM

Key

Proposed area for charges

ANNEX 2

P
age 31

P
age 188



© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100023300

DateDrawn

Scale

Drawing No.

Checked

Rev

Drawing TitleProject Title

STREETSCENE,
LEISURE & TECHNICAL

SERVICES

Technical Services
Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill
West Malling
Kent     ME19 4LZ
Tel: 01732 844522

Tonbridge
Castle Grounds car park

Extents of car park
SM

Existing chargeable bays

Charges extended to cover
this area

Disabled bays

Motorbike bay

ANNEX 3

P
age 33

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY SELECT COMMITTEE 

06 November 2023 

Report of the Director of  Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services, the Director 

of Finance and the Cabinet Member for Transformation and Infrastructure  

Part 1- Public 

Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Key Decision 

1 REVIEW OF CAR PARKING FEES & CHARGES 

Summary  

 This report brings forward proposals for existing on street and off street car 

parking fees and charges for implementation from 1st April 2024.The 

Committee is requested to consider the proposals and make 

recommendations to Cabinet. 

1.1 Introduction 

1.1.1 Fees and charges for parking in the Borough are regularly reviewed in the 

context of current and planned service improvements and the operational 

management of the parking service with the exception of Haysden Country Park, 

the last full review was last undertaken in November 2021. 

1.1.2 In bringing forward the proposals in this report, consideration has been given to 

the set of guiding principles for the setting of fees and charges established by the 

Council. The guiding principles can be summarised as follows:- 

 Fees and charges should have due regard to the Council’s Medium Term

Financial Strategy and should reflect the Council’s key priorities.

 If there is to be a subsidy from the Council taxpayer to the service user this

should be a conscious choice.

 The Council should look to maximise income subject to market conditions,

opportunities and comparable charges elsewhere, in the context of its key

priorities and other corporate aims and priorities.

 Fees and charges should be reviewed at least annually (unless fixed by statute

or some other body).

 Fees and charges should not be used to provide a subsidy from the Council tax

payer to commercial operators.

 There should be consistency between charges for similar services.

Annex 2b

Page 191



2 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

In addition to the above, consideration also needs to be given to a number of 

specific principles relating to the provision of a successful car parking service. 

In summary the Council should:- 

 Seek to optimise the availability of parking.

 Manage assets in a fair commercial and efficient manner.

 Implement an appropriate charging regime taking into account the cost of the

parking service

 Balance the management of the car parks to meet the needs of all users

 Have in place suitable inspection and maintenance regimes to ensure it

provides safe and well-maintained opportunities for the public to park their

vehicles.

At the recent meeting of Cabinet it was agreed to consult on proposed evening, 

Sunday and Bank holiday charges and charges in previous free for use car parks 

and on street parking bays.  These charges are subject to formal public 

consultation prior to further consideration by Cabinet. 

1.1.3 The report considers current and future fees and charges for parking, and 

following careful consideration of the aforementioned principles, brings forward a 

number of proposals. In summary the proposals are as follows: 

 Short stay parking charges in Tonbridge for parking longer than 1 hour to

increase in a linear fashion in line with an hourly charge of £1.60. A penalty

tariff is in place for parking longer than 4 hours. Long stay parking charges in

Tonbridge to increase by 20p per tariff band.

 Residential preferential parking permits to increase from £52 to £57 per annum

across the whole borough, with a rising scale of charges based on the number

of cars per household increasing by proportionate amounts. New applicants to

continue to receive 10 visitor permits free of charge.

 Visitor permits to be increased to £14 for 10 permits.

 Country parks – an increase from £2 to £2.20 for the first 4 hours.  Season

tickets for regular users to increase from £65 to £70.

 West Malling High Street car park – an increase in short stay parking charges in

the High Street car park as shown in Table 5. Season tickets for the Ryarsh

Lane car park to increase from £255 to £290 and the Saturday phone payment

charges to reflect the same rate as the High Street car park.

 Borough Green – charges in the Western Road car park to increase by 10p per

hour.

 Peak and Off-Peak Season tickets – increases to reflect market

conditions/demand.

Page 192



3 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

 Business permits/dispensations for on-street – increases applied with the

exception of permits for carers.

 Carers permits to remain free of charge

1.1.4 It is relevant for Members to note that the last annual review of car parking 

charges was in 2021 with implementation of the new charges in April 2022.  

Since those charges were implemented inflation has been running at a high level 

which has impacted on the cost of providing the parking service.  

1.2 Investment in the Parking Service 

1.2.1 The review seeks to achieve a balance between proactively managing parking on 

behalf of residents and businesses and an appropriate charging regime taking 

into account the cost of the parking service. Many items contribute to this cost, 

such as maintenance of the car parks, enforcement, business rates, lighting, 

security measures, renewal of signs and lines and a considerable investment in 

the Parking Action Plan to improve the management and convenience of parking 

throughout the Borough. Members will also note that off-street car parking 

charges paid by users are subject to VAT. It is also true to say that many of the 

Council’s car parks are potentially valuable land assets were they not to be given 

over for parking purposes, representing an ‘opportunity cost’ to the Council.  

1.2.2 Over the period since the previous review report in November 2021, the Council 

has implemented a significant number of parking management initiatives. In the 

context of this review of fees and charges, it is worth setting these out so that 

Members as well as local residents and businesses can understand the totality of 

the parking service beyond the purely financial considerations, and obtain a 

better perspective on the positive impacts that the parking service has on local 

parking conditions:- 

 Improvement works to the value of £55,000 have been carried out in a

number of car parks including Martin Square, Bradford Street, Teston

Road, Sovereign Way Mid & North, Ryarsh Lane and Angel West

 In addition to these works approximately £335,000 has been spent in Angel

East resurfacing large areas of the car park with replacement drainage

channels added. As part of the contract agreement with Sainsburys, the value

of these works are re-charged back to Sainsburys.

 The improvement work is underpinned by a continuing and consistent

programme of maintenance work to keep the car parks safe, clean, well

presented and convenient for our customers. This programme also includes

work on-street to keep all the signs and lines in the Borough clear and legible

to support the enforcement work of the Civil Enforcement Officers (CEO).

Annual provision for this programme of maintenance work is £30,000 and it is

Page 193



4 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

notable that there is a nationwide increase in materials costs for civil 

engineering works, that affects the Council’s maintenance work. 

 Business Rates are around £294,000 per annum and to round off this section

on maintenance and safety, CCTV provision amounts to £188,500 each year

to keep the car parks safe and secure.

 The enforcement service includes 10 full time CEO’s. Staff are patrolling until

8pm at locations across the whole Borough, and the team are critical to

promoting a well-ordered parking environment in the Borough that is

responsive to local needs and pressures.   It is also relevant to note that the

expectations from the public in terms of levels of enforcement continue grow.

In addition, an external contractor is employed to empty the ticket machines

at an annual cost of £71,500.

 In addition, there is also a staff cost associated with implementing Local

Parking Plans and the phased programme of more ad-hoc parking

interactions. Whilst this is integrated with other parking related work, the

average annual cost is iro. £30,000

1.2.3 Taking all these elements together, they amount to a significant investment by 

the Borough Council in seeking to provide a comprehensive and integrated 

parking service on behalf of residents and businesses and provide an important 

context for the review of parking fees and charges that follows.  Further 

investment may also be required in the future to meet initiatives brought forward 

in the context of the Council’s Digital and Climate Change Strategies. 

1.3 Comparative Charges 

1.3.1 Comparison with the parking fees and charges of other Kent districts and private 

sector operators should not be the main driver of what might be appropriate in 

this Borough, since local circumstances, such as the availability of short and 

long-stay parking, the convenience of the car park locations, and any “through 

the till” refunds offered by businesses in Tonbridge (Sainsburys, Waitrose, 

Iceland and TM Active) are critical in such considerations.  Ticket refunds from 

the aforementioned businesses in Tonbridge amount to £451,000 per annum.  

Comparative charges do, however, act as a guide and can be viewed by the 

public as to what might be considered the ‘going rate’ for parking. For these and 

other local reasons comparisons of charges outside the Borough and even within 

must be carefully qualified. 

1.3.2 The scope of the review exercise covers consideration of all existing services and 

charges and includes an assessment of whether current circumstances justify 

them being maintained as they are or increased. In overview, a comparison of 

parking charges levied by neighbouring authorities would indicate the proposals 

Page 194



5 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

are generally in line with others, and it is anticipated that most other Councils will 

be bringing forward their own increases in advance of the next financial year. 

1.4 Current Income Levels 

1.4.1 Income from the Council’s car parks is monitored by the Council’s Management 

Team on a monthly basis.  This enables any variances against profile to be 

identified and if necessary action to be taken.  Current levels of income reflect an 

ongoing but gradual recovery from Covid and have been carefully considered in 

bringing forward the proposals in this report. 

1.4.2 After the first 6 months of the current financial year, income is close to profile.  

1.4.3 Parking income for Haysden Country Park is monitored separately.  Income after 

the first 6 months is above/below profile, with a year-end forecast of £89,000. 

1.5 Off-Street Parking in Tonbridge – Daily Short and Long Stay Charges 

1.5.1 Detailed in Table 1 below are the current and proposed charges for daily short 

and long stay car parking charges in Tonbridge. It is proposed, subject to public 

consultation, to extend the Tonbridge car park charging period from 8am-6pm to 

8am-8pm, Monday to Saturday and to introduce charges on Sundays or Bank 

Holidays.  The proposed charges shown in the table below will apply to these 

proposals. 

TABLE 1 

Short Stay 

Period – Hours Current Charge Proposed Charge 

30 minutes £0.70 £0.80 

1 hour £1.40 £1.60 

2 hours £2.80 £3.20 

3 hours £4.20 £4.80
404 hours £5.60 £6.40
0Additional hours £2.80       £3.20 

Long Stay 

1 hour £1.40 £1.60 

2 hours £2.60 £3.00 

3 hours £3.50 £4.10 

6 hours £5.40
0

£6.20
0All day (23 hours) £6.80 £7.00 

Page 195



6 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

1.5.2 The proposed all-day tariff of £7.00 does not exceed the current all-day rate of 

£7.90 in the privately operated Tonbridge railway station car park. It operates for 

23 hours to prevent the long-term storage of vehicles. 

1.5.3 Upper Castle Field and Castle Grounds car parks were changed from long stay 

to short stay as part of the car parking charges last review. This has proved 

successful, and it is proposed this be retained.  

1.6 Season Tickets, Tonbridge 

1.6.1 The Council currently offers Season Tickets focussed primarily on commuters 

and workers in the town to park all-day in the Sovereign complex (Sovereign Way 

East, Sovereign Way North and Vale Road) and Lower Castle Fields car parks. 

Season tickets are available on a monthly and yearly basis. In addition, as part of 

the last review of car parking charges, the Council introduced a Town Centre 

Residents Season Ticket covering a designated area within the town centre.  It is 

suggested that the designated area be extended further to include areas north of 

the river.  A plan of the proposal is shown at Annex 1 to include residential 

properties in the area shown in orange to the north of the Medway, west of 

Cannon Lane, south of Bordyke and east of The Slade. 

1.6.2 The annual take-up of Season Tickets is currently 57 at the annual rate and 317 

at the monthly rate. 38 of the new Residents Season tickets have been sold. 

Uptake of the season tickets has increased in the recovery period from Covid. 

1.6.3 The proposed Season Ticket charges at Table 2 takes into consideration the 

charges applied at the Railway Station car park which has the advantage for 

commuters of being located immediately next to the Station. The current price of 

a Tonbridge Station season ticket is £1,415.50. 

TABLE 2 

Season Tickets, Tonbridge 

Current Charge Proposed Charge 

Monthly £120 £132 

Annual   £1050  £1150 

1.6.4 The existing charge for the Town Centre Residents season ticket is £87.50 for 3 

months or £350 for a year.  Taking into account the aim to increase take up and 

extend availability it is suggested a modest increase to £90 and £360 

respectively is applied.  

Page 196



7 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

1.7 Off-Peak Season Ticket, Tonbridge 

1.7.1 The Council offers an “Off-Peak Season Ticket” in Tonbridge that allows anyone 

to park between 4pm and 9am the next day (and all-day Saturdays) for £320 per 

year in any of the Council’s car parks in central Tonbridge. There are currently 7 

off peak annual season tickets as demand has reduced since the introduction of 

the Residents Season tickets.  Members will note from Table 3 below that it is the 

intention to increase the charge to £360 per year.    

TABLE 3 

Off Peak Season Ticket, Tonbridge 

Current Annual Charge Proposed Annual Charge 

Off-peak season ticket 

(4pm-9am & Saturdays) 

£320 £360 

1.8 Off Street Parking in West Malling – Season Tickets and Short Stay 

Charges 

1.8.1 The current Season Ticket for the Ryarsh Lane car park is set at £255 per year or 

£26 per month.  The car park is primarily used by businesses and retailers in the 

week for their staff.  The car park is also free of charge after 3pm on weekdays to 

enable parents to collect their children from the local primary school.  At the last 

review of charges, charges were introduced for Saturday at the same level as the 

High Street short stay car park subject to a public consultation exercise, it is 

suggested these charges will be extended to also apply on Sundays and bank 

holidays in the future. 

1.8.2 Privately managed, alternate long-stay parking is available at West Malling 

railway station. Although it is recognised that this is less convenient for the town, 

the comparative cost of the parking is shown below in Table 4. 

Page 197



8 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

TABLE 4 

West Malling Long Stay Parking 

Parking 

provider 

Daily 

Charge 

Off peak 

Charge 

Saturday 

Charges 

Annual Charge 

South-eastern 
(West 

Malling Station) 

£5.60 £5.10 £3.80 £976.00 

Ryarsh Lane car 

park 

Not 

available 

Not 

available 

Short stay 
charges 
apply as 
shown below 
at Table 5 

£255 (annually) 
£26 per month 

1.8.3 Despite successive increases demand for season tickets in Ryarsh Lane 

continues to exceed supply and there still remains a tendency for season ticket 

holders to retain their tickets even when not always required. The car park has 

114 spaces and the allocation of tickets is currently limited to 127.  At the last 

review of charges a monthly Season Ticket at £26 per month was introduced.  

This has proved to be quite popular with 106 monthly tickets sold last year. 

1.8.4 It is proposed to increase the annual season ticket to £290.  The Saturday 

charges will increase in line with the short stay charges shown below in Table 5. 

1.8.5 Detailed in Table 5 below are the current and proposed charges for daily short 

stay car parking charges in West Malling High Street car park.  

TABLE 5 

 West Malling Short Stay 

Period Current Charge Proposed Charge 

30 minutes £0.50 £0.60 

1 hour £1.10 £1.20 

2 hours £1.80 £2.00 

3 hours £2.60 £2.90 

4 hours £3.40 £3.80 

Page 198



9 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

1.8.6 Resident Season tickets are also available for the car park but these are 

restricted to local residents.  There are currently 13 annual resident season 

tickets issued. 

TABLE 6 

Borough Green Western Road Car Park 

Current Charge Proposed charge 

Up to 30 minutes £0.20 £0.30 

30 minutes to 1 hour £0.50 £0.60 

1 to 2 hours £0.80 £1.00 

2 to 4 hours £1.50 £1.80 

4 to 6 hours £2.20 £2.60 

6 to 9 hours £3.10 £3.50 

All day £5.30      £5.50 

Residents Season Ticket £350 £385 

1.9 Residents Permit Parking Scheme 

1.9.1 Residents permits across the Borough are shown below in Table 7 and are 

based on a rising scale of charges with those who park more cars on the road, 

paying more for their permits.  The rising scale is designed to help manage road 

space demand where parking is at a premium.  In essence, it seeks to 

discourage people from parking more cars in the road, unless absolutely 

necessary.  3147 residents permits are currently issued. 3056 relate to a 1st or 

2nd car, 76 for a third car and 15 for a 4th. 

TABLE 7 Current Annual Charge Proposed Annual Charge 

     1st car £52 £58 

     2nd car £52 £58 

     3rd car £104 £115 

     4th car £156 £175 

1.9.2 Foreign registered vehicles are required to be exported or re-registered in the UK 

via DVLA after 6 months. With this in mind, we offer 6 month permits to non-UK 

registered vehicles belonging to residents, at the pro-rata rate for comparable 

resident parking permits. The proposed change to the cost of resident permits will 

require a change from £26 to £28.50 for 6 months, 

Page 199



10 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

1.9.3 The Council offers Business and Carers Permits and Dispensations shown below 
in Table 8. 

TABLE 8 

  Business/Carers Permits 

Permit type Current charge 
   per annum 

Proposed charge 
     per annum 

Business permit (for 

businesses located 

within a permit scheme) 

£200 £250 

Carers permit £0 £0 

Dispensations 

Property Maintenance £200 £250 

On-street dispensation 
(for building works etc.) 

£15 per day 
£60 per week 

£18 per day 
£75 per week 

1.9.4 Members will note that it is the intention to increase the cost of the 

permits/dispensations with the exception of the Carers Permit which it is felt 

should remain free of charges. 

1.10 Visitor Permits 

1.10.1 The Council has a system of issuing Visitor Permits to holders of Residents 

Permits to enable their visitors to park within the restricted area. The Visitor 

Permits effectively operate as a one-day parking permit. 

1.10.2 Visitor Permits currently cost £12 per sheet of 10 permits, and every permit 

holder is given a free sheet of 10 permits when they first take out their permit.  

Currently iro. 2,500 permit sheets are sold each year.  The charge per sheet of 

£12 has not been increased for 4 year and it is therefore proposed that it be 

increased to £14. 

1.11 Haysden Country Park 

1.11.1  The last increase in charges for parking at the country park was applied in July 

2023 with charges rising to £2.00 for up to four hours and 4.50 for over four 

hours. 

1.11.2 To reflect the popularity of the Park and the cost of providing the facility it is 

proposed that the current “up to 4 hour” rate of £2.00 be revised to £2.20.  It is 

not proposed to amend the “over 4 hour” rate to £5.00.  

Page 200



11 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

1.11.3 Annual season tickets can also be purchased for regular users of the Park and is. 

The season ticket was introduced in 2008 and is currently £65 for the whole year.  

It is suggested that the charge be increased to £70 per annum.  There are 

currently 268 season tickets. 

1.11.4 Members may be interested to note that the current charging structure in relation 

to Kent County Council’s Manor Country Parks in West Malling is: 

 £2.00 Monday to Friday

 £3.00 Weekend and Bank Holidays

 £62 season ticket (valid at all 9 KCC Country Parks)

1.11.5 The existing charges, together with the proposed charges, are detailed below in 

Table 9.  The proposals take into account the charges at the KCC Country Parks, 

the value of the season ticket for regular users and current demand. 

TABLE 9 

Haysden Country Park 

Period Current Tariff Proposed Tariff 

0-4 Hours £2.00 £2.20 

4+ Hours £4.50 £5.00 

Annual Season Ticket £65.00 £70.00 

1.11.6 With regard to Leybourne Lakes Country Park the management of the site has 

now transferred to the Tonbridge and Malling Leisure Trust. 

1.12 Tonbridge On-Street Pay and Display 

1.12.1 The Council currently operates some limited on-street pay and display parking in 

Tonbridge, the majority operating for up to a maximum stay of either 2 or 3 hours. 

The purpose of on-street pay and display is to provide short stay parking that is 

convenient to customers of local businesses, with a regular turn-over of spaces.  

In addition, the Council offers long stay on street parking in Morley Road, 

Tonbridge. 

1.12.2 The proposed on-street pay and display parking charges are shown in Table 10 
below, and are identical to the proposed short stay parking charges in Tonbridge 
reported earlier in these papers. 

Page 201



12 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

TABLE 10 

On-Street Pay & Display 

Current Charge Proposed charge 

Up to 30 minutes £0.70 £0.80 

Up to 1 hour £1.40 £1.60 

Up to 2 hours £2.80 £3.20 

Up to 3 hours (where 
allowed) 

£4.20 £4.80 

All day (Morley Road 
only) 

£1.80 £2.00 

1.13 Timescale 

1.13.1 Changes to the On and Off-street charges will be progressed and reported as 

required to the appropriate Member meetings. The Local Authorities Traffic 

Orders (Procedure) (England & Wales) Regulations 1996 requires a statutory 

consultation of at least 21 days for the invitation of objections, which will then be 

considered by Cabinet for off street charges and the Joint Transportation Board 

for on street charges. This will result in any Member endorsed proposals being 

introduced later next year.  

1.14 Legal Implications 

1.14.1 The powers allowing the Borough Council to carry out parking management 

activity are contained in the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, supplemented by 

formal agreement with Kent County Council as the Local Highway Authority, in 

respect of its powers under the Traffic Management Act 2004. In particular, 

section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation 1984 Act imposes a general duty on 

local authorities exercising functions under the Act to secure the expeditious, 

convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including 

pedestrians) and the provision of safe and adequate parking facilities on and off 

the highway. 

1.14.2 Changes to parking charges should be made via an Amendment Order to the 

Council’s on and off-street parking Traffic Regulation Orders, using the 

procedures set out in the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England 

and Wales) Regulations 1996. 

Page 202



13 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

1.14.3 Part 2 of The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General 

(Amendment) Regulations 2015 introduced a statutory requirement for a 10 

minute “grace” period to time limited parking, whether on-street or off-street, 

including Pay and Display, regardless of the intended duration of stay, effectively 

adding the facility to park for an additional 10 minutes to all parking periods. 

1.15 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.15.1 This review has examined parking fees and charges within the context of a set of 

guiding principles, the cost of parking service to the Council and ongoing 

investment in the parking management service.    It is anticipated that the 

proposals outlined in this report will generate estimated additional income of 

£364,011. This estimate is based on the assumption that current usage and 

refund levels remains constant, that ticket sales remain uninfluenced by price 

increases and that there is a similar distribution of tickets in each pricing bracket. 

1.17 Asset Management 

1.17.1 It is worthy of note that many of the Council’s car parks represent a significant 

asset in terms of resale and for development. It is essential given the context of 

the Medium Term Financial Strategy that the Council seeks to ensure that the 

assets are managed in the most economically advantageous way and may in 

some cases include disposal of the asset.   

1.18 Risk Assessment 

1.18.1 The estimated additional income is modelled on predicted future parking patterns 

and demand matching what currently takes place. It does not reflect any 

potential adverse customer reaction or the possibility of increased take up. The 

proposed charges will be subject to formal public consultation early in the New 

Year, with the outcome reported to Cabinet. 

1.19 Equality Impact Assessment 

1.19.1 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 

to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

1.19.2 Blue Badge holders can park free of charge in the Council’s car parks for up to 

23 hours.  For Blue Badge holders living in a parking permit area, a Resident 

Parking Permit is not required as long as the valid Blue Badge and clock is 

correctly displayed. The Blue Badge scheme has recently been extended by 

Central Government to include people with “hidden disabilities”.  This includes 

people with learning disabilities, autism, and mental health conditions. 

1.20 Policy Considerations 

1.20.1 Asset Management 

1.20.2 Community 

Page 203



14 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

1.20.3 Customer Contact 

1.20.4 Climate Change 

1.21 Recommendations 

1.21.1 It is RECOMMENDED that the Committee considers  the following car parking 

proposals for formal public consultation early in the New Year, implementation 

from 1st April 2024 ,and makes recommendations to Cabinet- 

1) Introduce the schedule of charges for short and long stay parking in

Tonbridge shown in Table 1;

2)  Adopt the schedules of Peak and Off-Peak Season ticket charges in

Tonbridge shown in Tables 2 and 3;

3) Increase the Tonbridge Town Centre annual Residents Season ticket

from £350 to £360;

4) Extend the designated Tonbridge Town Centre Residents Season

ticket to the area shown in orange in Annex 1 to the report.

5) Introduce the schedules of charges for long stay and short stay

parking in West Malling as shown in Tables 4 & 5;

6) Introduce the schedule of charges for parking in Borough Green

Western Road car park shown in Table 6;

7) Increase Residents Permits as shown in Table 7;

8) Introduce the schedule of charges for Business Carers Permits and

Dispensations shown in Table 8;

9)  Visitor permits be increased to at £14 for a book of 10 permits, with the

current offer of 10 free permits to new applicants retained;

10) Introduce the schedule of charges for Haysden Country Park shown in

Table 9; and

11) Introduce the schedule of charges for on-street pay & display parking

in Tonbridge shown in Table 10.

Background papers: contact: 

Andy Bracey 
Annex 1 – Tonbridge Town Centre Residents Season 

Ticket area 

Page 204



15 

C&ESSC-KD-Part 1 Public 06 November 2023 

Robert Styles 

Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services 

Sharon Shelton 

Director of Finance & Transformation 

Martin Coffin 

Cabinet Member for Transformation and Infrastructure 

Page 205



P
age 37

P
age 206



Page 1 
 

THE TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
(OFF-STREET PARKING PLACES)  

ORDER 2023 No.2 
 
 
 

Notice is hereby given that Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council intends to make the above Order 
under Sections 32 and 35 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, the effect of which will be as 
per the Council’s existing Off-Street Parking Places Order, save for changes in the following 
areas; 
 

Part 1 - New Parking Charges 
 

a) Larkfield - Martin Square car park 
The Council is proposing the introduction of parking charges as follows; 

• A new charge of £0.60 for parking up to 30 minutes 
• A new charge of £1.20 for parking up to 1 hour 
• A new charge of £2.00 for parking up to 2 hours 
• A new charge of £2.90 for parking up to 3 hours 
• A new charge of £3.80 for parking up to 4 hours 
• A new charge of £5.80 for parking up to 23 consecutive hours 
• A new charge of £29 for a 1 month season ticket 
• A new charge of £290 for a 12 month season ticket 

 
Details of the Pay and Display machine locations are shown in the documents on-deposit at the 
Council Offices and are also available online. 

 
b) Aylesford – Bailey Bridge (East) and Bailey Bridge (West) car parks 

The Council is proposing the introduction of parking charges as follows; 
• A new charge of £0.60 for parking up to 30 minutes 
• A new charge of £1.20 for parking up to 1 hour 
• A new charge of £2.00 for parking up to 2 hours 
• A new charge of £2.90 for parking up to 3 hours 
• A new charge of £3.80 for parking up to 4 hours 
• A new charge of £5.80 for parking up to 23 consecutive hours 
• A new charge of £29 for a 1 month season ticket 
• A new charge of £290 for a 12 month season ticket 

 
The Council also has initial proposals to improve and extend the Bailey Bridge (East) car park to 
create a further 15 to 30 Pay & Display and Season Ticket parking spaces (depending on 
design constraints), available to all to use. 

 
Details of the Pay and Display machine locations are shown in the documents on-deposit at the 
Council Offices and are also available online. 

 
Part 2 - Extended parking areas 

 
Tonbridge – Castle Grounds car park 
The Council is proposing that the existing 9 Castle Gateway visitor spaces be added to the 
existing Pay & Display parking arrangements, available for all to use. 
 
Details of the revised layout and Pay and Display machine locations are shown in the 
documents on-deposit at the Council Offices and are also available online. 
 

ANNEX 3

Page 207



Page 2 
 

Tonbridge – Upper Castle Field car park 
The Council has initial proposals to extend the existing Upper Castle Field car park to create a 
further 28 Pay & Display parking spaces (subject to design constraints), available for all to use. 
 
Details of the revised layout and Pay and Display machine locations are shown in the 
documents on-deposit at the Council Offices and are also available online. 
 

Part 3 – Revised tariff of existing charges 
 

The Council is revising its tariff of charges for off-street parking as follows; 
 
Car parks in the town of Tonbridge, 

Group 1 (Short Stay), covering Angel, Botany, Bradford Street, Kinnings Row, 
Lamberts Yard and River Lawn  
Groups 5 & 7 (Short Stay), covering Upper Castle Field and Castle Grounds 
 
• an increase of 10 pence to £0.80 for parking for up to 30 minutes 
• an increase of 20 pence to £1.60 for parking up to 1 hour 
• an increase of 40 pence to £3.20 for parking up to 2 hours 
• an increase of 60 pence to £4.80 for parking up to 3 hours 
• an increase of 80 pence to £6.40 for parking up to 4 hours 
• an increase of 40 pence for additional hours to £3.20 per hour, to a maximum of 23 

consecutive hours 
• an increase of £40 (to £360) for 12 month off-peak season tickets. 
 
Group 2 (Long Stay), covering Sovereign Way Mid and Waterloo Road  
• an increase of 20 pence to £1.60 for parking up to 1 hour 
• an increase of 40 pence to £3.00 for parking up to 2 hours 
• an increase of 60 pence to £4.10 for parking up to 3 hours 
• an increase of 80 pence to £6.20 for parking up to 6 hours 
• an increase of 20 pence to £7.00 for parking up to 23 consecutive hours 
• an increase of £40 to £360 for a 12 month off-peak season ticket 
• an increase of £2.50 to £90 for a 3 month Town Centre residents’ season ticket 
• an increase of £10 to £360 for a 12 month Town Centre residents’ season ticket 

 
Groups 3 & 6 (Long Stay), covering Sovereign Way East, Sovereign Way North and 
Lower Castle Field, and  
Group 4 (Long Stay), covering Vale Road 
 
• an increase of 20 pence to £1.60 for parking up to 1 hour 
• an increase of 40 pence to £3.00 for parking up to 2 hours 
• an increase of 60 pence to £4.10 for parking up to 3 hours 
• an increase of 80 pence to £6.20 for parking up to 6 hours 
• an increase of 20 pence to £7.00 for parking up to 23 consecutive hours 
• an increase of £12 to £132 for a monthly season ticket 
• an increase of £100 to £1150 for a 12 month season ticket 
• an increase of £40 to £360 for a12 month off-peak season ticket 
• an increase of £2.50 to £90 for a 3 month Town Centre residents’ season ticket 
• an increase of £10 to £360 for a 12 month Town Centre residents’ season ticket 

 
Group 14.1, covering Haysden Country Park 
• an increase of 20 pence to £2.20 for parking up to 4 hours 
• an increase of 50 pence to £5.00 for parking over 4 hours 
• an increase of £5 to £70 for 12 month car park season tickets 

Page 208



Page 3 
 

 
 
In the town of West Malling, 

Group 16, covering High Street car park 
• an increase of 10 pence to 60 pence for parking up to 30 minutes 
• an increase of 10 pence to £1.20 for parking up to 1 hour 
• an increase of 20 pence to £2.00 for parking up to 2 hours 
• an increase of 30 pence to £2.90 for parking up to 3 hours 
• an increase of 40 pence to £3.80 for parking up to 4 hours 

 
Group 10, covering Ryarsh Lane car park 
• no increase to the 1 month car park season ticket, staying at £26 
• an increase of £35 to £290 for a 12 month car park season ticket 
• an increase of 10 pence to 60 pence for parking up to 30 minutes 
• an increase of 10 pence to £1.20 for parking up to 1 hour 
• an increase of 20 pence to £2.00 for parking up to 2 hours 
• an increase of 30 pence to £2.90 for parking up to 3 hours 
• an increase of 40 pence to £3.80 for parking up to 4 hours 

 
In the village of Borough Green 

Group 13, covering Western Road car park 
• an increase of 10 pence to £0.30 for parking up to 30 minutes 
• an increase of 10 pence to £0.60 for parking up to 1 hour 
• an increase of 20 pence to £1.00 for parking up to 2 hours 
• an increase of 30 pence to £1.80 for parking up to 4 hours 
• an increase of 40 pence to £2.60 for parking up to 6 hours 
• an increase of 40 pence to £3.50 for parking up to 9 hours 
• an increase of 20 pence to £5.50 for parking all day (23 consecutive hours) 
• an increase of £35 to £385 for the residents car park season ticket 

 
Part 4 – Changes to car park charging periods 

 
The times that parking charges apply in the listed parking areas to be extended as 
follows; 

 
Car Park(s) Proposed 

charging 
periods 

Existing charging 
periods 

Proposed 
season ticket 
periods 

Existing season 
ticket periods 

Angel, 
Botany, 
Bradford Street, 
Kinnings Row, 
Lamberts Yard, 
River Lawn, 
Upper Castle Field,  
Castle Grounds 
(Tonbridge) 
 

8am-8pm, 
every day of 
the week 

8am-6pm, Monday to 
Saturday, excluding 
Bank Holidays 

Off-peak 4pm to 
9am the following 
day and 
Weekends 

Off-peak 4pm to 9am 
the following day and 
Saturdays 

Sovereign Way Mid, 
Sovereign Way North, 
Sovereign Way East, 
Waterloo Road,  
Lower Castle Field, 
(Tonbridge) 

8am-8pm, 
every day of 
the week 

8am-6pm, Monday to 
Saturday, excluding 
Bank Holidays 

Season tickets – 
every day. 
Off-peak 4pm to 
9am the following 
day and 
Weekends 

Season tickets – 
Monday to Saturday 
Off-peak 4pm to 9am 
the following day and 
Saturdays 

Page 209



Page 4 
 

Car Park(s) Proposed 
charging 
periods 

Existing charging 
periods 

Proposed 
season ticket 
periods 

Existing season 
ticket periods 

Vale Road, 
(Tonbridge) 

8am-8pm, 
weekends 

8am-6pm, Saturdays Season tickets – 
every day. 
Off-peak 4pm to 
9am the following 
day and 
Weekends 

Season tickets – 
Monday to Saturday 
Off-peak 4pm to 9am 
the following day and 
Saturdays 

Blue Bell Hill car park, 
(Blue Bell Hill) 

8am-8pm, 
every day of 
the week 

8am-6pm, Monday to 
Saturday, excluding 
Bank Holidays 

Season tickets – 
every day 

Season tickets – 
Monday to Saturday 
 

Western Road, 
(Borough Green) 

8am-8pm, 
every day of 
the week 

8am-6pm, Monday to 
Friday, excluding 
Bank Holidays 

Season tickets – 
every day 

Season tickets – 
Monday to Friday 
 

High Street, 
(West Malling) 

8:30am–
5:30pm, 
every day of 
the week 

8:30am-5:30pm 
Monday to Saturdays, 
excluding Bank 
Holidays 

Not offered 
 

Not offered 
 

Ryarsh Lane, 
(West Malling) 

Pay parking 
- Saturdays 
and 
Sundays, 
8am-8pm 
 

Pay parking - 
Saturdays, 8:00am – 
5:30pm 
 

Season tickets – 
Monday to Friday, 
8am – 3pm 
Saturday & 
Sunday 8:30am-
5:30pm 

Season tickets – 
Monday to Friday, 
8am – 3pm & 8am-
6pm Saturdays, 
excluding Bank 
Holidays 

 
A copy of the draft Order and the Statement of Reasons for proposing to make the Order may be 
inspected during normal working hours at the offices of Tonbridge and Malling Council Offices, Kings 
Hill, West Malling or at Tonbridge Castle and also at the Kent County Offices, Sessions House, 
County Hall, Maidstone, Kent. 

 
The proposed Order may also be viewed on www.tmbc.gov.uk/consultations  
or you can scan the QR code to visit the consultation page 

 
Anyone wishing to support these proposals, or object to them, should write stating reasons, 
and quoting the name of the Order (or complete the online form) by no later than 7th January 2024. 
 
If you have any questions concerning this notice, require further information or have difficulty in 
reading this notice, please contact, during normal office hours, the Parking Office tel: (01732) 
844522, email: parking.consultations@tmbc.gov.uk or by post to; 

 
The Parking Office, Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council,  
Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent ME19 4LZ. 

 
Dated 24th November 2023  Julie Beilby 

Chief Executive 
 

For enquires relating to these proposals please contact Tonbridge & Malling Borough 
Council on 01732 844522. 

 
 

Please note that the Council also has proposals for changes to on-street parking 
arrangements – these can also be viewed online. 

Page 210

http://www.tmbc.gov.uk/consultations
mailto:parking.consultations@tmbc.gov.uk


Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council  
(Off-Street Parking Places) Order 2023 No.2 

The Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council, in exercise of its powers under sections 32, 35 
and 124 and Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, as amended, and Part 6 
of the Traffic Management Act 2004 and of all other enabling powers, with the consent of 
the County Council of Kent in accordance with section 39(3) of the Act and after consulting 
the chief officer of police in accordance with Part III of Schedule 9 to the Act, hereby makes 
the following Order: 

Citation and Commencement 

This Order may be cited as the Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council (Off-Street Parking 
Places) Order 2023 No.2, and shall come into operation on (to be confirmed). 

The Common Seal of the Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough Council was hereunto 
affixed the  

in the presence of: 

Chief Solicitor 

Explanatory note (not part of this Order) 
Items to be revoked are shown in red 
Items to be introduced are shown in coloured 

• Proposal A – change of times of parking charge restrictions in existing parking areas
• Proposal B – change of existing tariff of charges
• Proposal C – new parking charges in Martin Square
• Proposal D – new parking charges in Bailey Bridge (East) and (West) car parks

ANNEX 4

1
Page 211



2
Page 212



Part A – Index of this Order 

Part B – Definitions & Interpretations 
Part C – General provisions on the use of parking places 
Part D – Parking permits and Season Tickets 
Part E – Enforcement and contraventions of this Order 
Part F – Exceptions and Exemptions 
Part G – Revocations and consolidations 

Schedule 1 – Tables of Parking Places and Restrictions 

Schedule 2 - Exemptions from initial charges for parking in parking places

3
Page 213



Part B - Definitions & Interpretations 

1. Definitions
In this Order, except where the context otherwise requires, the following expressions, have 
the meanings hereby respectively assigned to them: 

"Act of 1984" means the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 or any subsequent 
amendment thereto; 

“Act of 1988” means the Road Traffic Act of 1988, or any subsequent amendment 
thereto; 

“Act of 1994” means the Vehicle Excise and Registration Act 1994, or any 
subsequent amendment thereto; 

“Act of 2004” means the Traffic Management Act 2004, or any subsequent 
amendment thereto; 

"authorised 
person" 

means a civil enforcement officer or other person duly authorised by 
the Council or a police constable in uniform; 

“caravan” means any structure designed or adapted for human habitation 
which is capable of being moved from one place to another 
(whether by being towed or by being transported on a vehicle or 
trailer); 

“charging periods” exclude public holidays and Sundays, unless otherwise stated in  
Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places); 

“civil enforcement 
officer” or “CEO” 

has the same meaning as “parking attendant” in section 63A of the 
Act of 1984, amended by virtue of section 76 of the Act of 2004.in 
relation to parking contraventions; 

“contravention” means any breach of the provisions herein contained; 
“Council” means Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council; 
“current” in relation to a vehicle licence means valid on the relevant date; 
“disabled parking 
bay” 

means a bay within a parking place identified by surface markings 
and/or other signage, for the parking at any time of vehicles 
displaying valid disabled persons badges; 

“disabled person” 
and “disabled 
persons badge” 

have the same meaning as in the Disabled Persons (Badges for 
Motor Vehicles) Regulations 2000; 

“disabled persons 
vehicle” 

means a vehicle lawfully displaying a disabled person badge and 
which is a vehicle which, immediately before or after any period of 
parking allowed by virtue of a provision of a kind required by the 
Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Exemption for Disabled 
Persons)(England) Regulations 2000 to be included in an order 
under the Act of 1984, has been or is to be driven by a disabled 
person or, as the case may be, has been or is to be used for 
carrying disabled persons as passengers; 

"driver" in relation to a vehicle parking in a parking place, means the person 
driving the vehicle at the time it was left in the parking place; 

“holder” means the person or organisation to whom a valid season ticket  

4
Page 214



(including off peak season ticket), preferential permit (valid in 
GROUP 15 of Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places)) or permit has 
been correctly issued; 

"long stay" parking place allows a maximum of 23 hours parking, unless 
otherwise stated in the Schedule, when the appropriate fee is paid; 

“motor cycle bay” means a parking bay marked out on the surface of the parking 
place, or indicated by sign(s), that is reserved for parking of solo 
motorcycles only; 

“On Street Parking 
Order” 

means The Kent County Council (Various Roads, Tonbridge and 
Malling) (Waiting Restrictions and On-Street Parking Places) 
(Consolidation) Order 2012 or any subsequent Amendment or 
Consolidation of that Order; 

"parking bay" means any areas of a parking place which is provided for the 
leaving of a vehicle and indicated by markings on the surface of the 
parking place; 

"parking charge" means the charge specified in respect of a parking place in 
Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places); 

“Parking Manager” means the officer with responsibilities for managing the Parking 
Service on behalf of the Council; 

“parking period” means the period during which the vehicle is parked in the parking 
bay;  

"parking place" means an off-street car parking area, which is any area of land 
specified by name in column 1 of Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking 
Places), including any access road thereto from the public highway; 

“parking place 
notice” 

means any notice placed in or adjacent to a parking place that 
displays any of the conditions of parking, including time restrictions; 

“pay & display” or 
“P & D” 

means a system of payment used at parking places operated by the 
Council for the parking of vehicles where a prepaid tickets must be 
obtained from a ticket machine and displayed in the relevant 
position within the vehicle bearing the registration mark for which it 
has been issued; or an appropriate payment has been made by the 
Council’s approved phone payment for parking system; 

“pay & display 
ticket” or “P & D 
ticket” 

means a prepaid ticket issued from a ticket machine operated by 
the Council within a parking place in which the vehicle is parked, 
obtained for the purpose of showing proof of payment to park 
(according to charges specified in Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking 
Places) and showing the following information:  
i. the name of the Council and VAT No.,
ii. amount paid,
iii. date and time of purchase,
iv. expiry time,
v. name of car park area, and
vi. the ticket machine reference number
vii. the vehicle registration number (where supplied)

“phone payment 
service” 

means a method of payment whereby the parking charge specified 
in Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places) (and any appropriate 

5
Page 215



administration charge) is collected by a Council appointed third 
party, via an arranged account, with payment being made over the 
telephone or by other electronic system (including the internet) by 
credit or debit card or other means of secure authorised payment. 
This method requires contact with the Council appointed third party 
immediately upon parking to register the act of parking; 

"penalty charge" means a charge of the appropriate higher/lower level rates, set in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act of 2004 payable to the 
Council in the event of any contravention of this Order; 

“penalty charge 
notice” “PCN” 

means a notice attached to the vehicle, or personally served to the 
driver or served by post to the registered keeper in appropriate 
circumstances as laid down in the Act of 2004; 

“permit” means a permit issued by the Council to an individual to park a 
vehicle in the parking places(s) identified in Schedule 1 (Tables of 
Parking Places), with or without restrictions, but subject otherwise 
to the provisions of this Order; 

“preferential 
permit” 

means a permit issued by the Council (according to the provisions 
established in Zone R Preferential Parking Scheme detailed in the 
On Street Parking Order) to an individual to park a vehicle in 
GROUP 15 of Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places); 

"public holiday" includes Christmas Day, Good Friday and any other bank holiday 
for England as defined by central government; 

"registered keeper" in relation to a vehicle, means the person in whose name the 
vehicle is registered under the Act of 1994; 

"Regulations of 
2000" 

means the Disabled Persons (Badges for Motor Vehicles) (England) 
Regulations 2000; 

“relevant company” means the current company appointed to administer and manage 
the pay by phone system operated in the Council’s car parking 
places; 

“relevant position” means:  
1. in the case of preferential permits, permits and season

tickets (including off peak season tickets), the display:

i. in a vehicle fitted with a front windscreen, that such
items must be exhibited thereon with obverse side facing
forwards on the near side of, and immediately behind, the
windscreen so that it is clearly visible from the outside of the
vehicle;

ii. in the case of a vehicle not fitted with a front
windscreen, such items must be exhibited in a conspicuous
position on the front or near side vehicle;

2. in the case of P & D tickets and T & D tickets, the display of
such items are exhibited in a conspicuous position on the
front or nearside of the vehicle;

“Schedule” means the Schedule to this Order, unless otherwise stated. 
“season ticket” means a ticket issued by the Council to an individual to park a 

6
Page 216



vehicle in the parking places identified in the Schedule; 
"short stay" parking place allows a maximum of 4 hours parking when the 

appropriate fee is paid; 
“solo motor cycle” means a motor bicycle without a sidecar or trailer; 
"specified 
class(es)" 

means the following classes of vehicle: 
i. a motor vehicle within the provisions of section 136 (1) of the

Act of 1984;
ii. motor car within the provisions of section 136 (2) of the Act

of 1984;
iii. heavy motor car that meets the provisions of the Act of

section 136 (3)
iv. motor cycles as defined in section 136(4) of the Act of 1984;
v. a motor vehicle within the provisions of section 136 (1) of the

Act of 1984 that requires electrical recharging from an
external power source

PROVIDED ALWAYS that they do not exceed any height 
restrictions and will fit within the marked bays in the parking places; 

“take & display 
ticket” or “T & D 
ticket” 

means any free ticket issued by a ticket machine operated by the 
Council to demonstrate the time of arrival so as to comply with 
maximum parking periods; 

"ticket machine" means an apparatus of a type and design approved by the 
Secretary of State for Transport in accordance with section 35(3) of 
the Act of 1984 for the purpose of issuing P&D tickets and T&D 
tickets in the parking places specified in Schedule 1 (Tables of 
Parking Places); 

“trailer” means a trailer as defined in section 136 (1) of the Act of 1984; 
“vehicle” means a vehicle of the specified class; 
“Zone R” means the roads in East Malling as described in the Fourth 

Schedule (Part 4) of the On Street Parking Order. 

2. In the case of a disabled person’s badge, this must be clearly displayed at all times
in accordance with the directions/guidance issued by the Department for Transport".

3. Interpretation
The Interpretation Act 1978 shall apply for the interpretation of this Order as it applies
for the interpretation of an Act of Parliament.

Unless expressly stated to the contrary any reference to a specific statute includes any 
statutory extension or modification, amendment or re-enactment of that statute and any 
regulations or orders made under it, and any general reference to a statute includes 
regulations or orders made under that statute. 

Reference to any order regulation or statutory instrument includes any order replacing 
or amending the order regulation or statutory instrument. 

7
Page 217



Part C - General provisions relating to the use of parking 
places 
 

 
1. Location of parking places 
In Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places), each area of land specified by name in 
Column 1 may be used, as a parking place for vehicles of the specified class, on the 
days, times and conditions specified in Column 2, and at a charge, if any, indicated in 
Column 3.  

 
2. Parking for specified classes of vehicle 
Unless previously agreed in writing by the Council, the driver of a vehicle shall not 
cause it to park in a parking place where a vehicle class has been specified unless the 
vehicle is of the specified class for that parking place and parking bay. 

 
3. Requirement to park within bay markings 
Where within a parking place, there are surface markings which indicate parking bays; 
the driver of a vehicle shall not cause it to park otherwise than wholly within such a 
parking bay, specific to that class of vehicle. 

 
4. Alterations to parking bays and markings 
The Council may at any time change the location or number of such parking bays or 
markings within a parking place. 

 
5. Relating to disabled persons parking bays 
Where, within a parking place, there is a sign or surface marking which indicates that a 
parking bay is available only for a disabled person's vehicle, the driver of a vehicle shall 
not cause it to park in that parking bay unless it displays a current 'disabled person's 
badge' in accordance with the provisions of the Regulations of 2000 and the registered 
disabled person is either the driver or a passenger in the vehicle.  

 
The driver of a vehicle displaying a current ‘disabled person’s badge’ in accordance 
with the provisions of the Regulations of 2000 may park the vehicle, free of charge in a 
parking place provided that the period of stay does not exceed the maximum stay for 
that parking place. A driver displaying a current ‘disabled person’s’ valid badge may 
also park in a normal bay under the same conditions. 

 
6. Maximum duration of stay 
The driver of a vehicle shall not cause or allow that vehicle to remain in the parking 
place for longer than the maximum period of time indicated on the relevant parking 
place notice. 

 
7. “No return” period 
The driver of a vehicle shall not cause or allow that vehicle to return to the parking 
place within the period of time specified on the parking place notice. 

 
8. Suspension of use of parking places 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, the Council may suspend the use of 
or close a parking place, or any part of a parking place, for such period as it considers 
appropriate. 

 

8
Page 218



The driver of a vehicle shall not leave that vehicle in a parking place at any time when it 
is deemed to be suspended or closed by the Council in accordance with the provisions 
of the prior paragraph of this Article. 

 
9. Authority to park and conditions of use 
Except as otherwise provided in this Order, no vehicle shall be left in a parking place 
during a charging period unless the driver has first obtained one of the following:  P & D 
ticket, T & D ticket, season ticket (including off peak season tickets), preferential permit 
or permit and displayed it in the relevant position, or made use of the pay by phone 
option. 

 
10. Requirement to clearly display permits etc. 
Whenever a vehicle occupies any of the parking places specified in Schedule 1 (Tables 
of Parking Places) and is required to display one of the following; 

a) P & D ticket 
b) T & D ticket 
c) season ticket (including off peak season tickets) 
d) preferential permit or permit  

it must be done in a manner so that the expiry time or date, permit or season ticket bar 
code (where present), or any other condition of parking is clearly visible at all times. 

 
11. Extending stay in P & D parking 
Additional P & D tickets may be purchased to allow the vehicle to remain up to the 
maximum period of stay. 

 
12. Vehicles changing parking places and validity of P & D tickets 
Unless otherwise directed, a P & D ticket shall only be valid for use in a parking place 
in which it was purchased or in any other parking place within the same charge group 
within column 1 of Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places). 

 
13. Vehicles changing parking places and validity of T & D tickets 
T & D tickets shall only be valid for use in a parking place in which it was obtained 

 
14. Transfer of tickets between vehicles 
P & D tickets and T & D tickets are not transferable between vehicles. Where a 
registration number is displayed upon a P & D or T & D ticket, it is only valid when 
displayed within a vehicle bearing that registration. 

 
15. Requirements of drivers using phone payment services 
Whenever the Council’s phone payment service option is used it is the driver's 
responsibility to ensure that their period of stay has been recorded with the relevant 
company. This registration is not transferable and a fresh notification is required if the 
vehicle is moved to a different parking place. 

 
16. Parked vehicles to be licensed and insured 
The driver of a vehicle shall not cause that vehicle to park in a parking place;  

a) if the vehicle has been declared S.O.R.N, 
b) unless the driver possesses a policy and certificate of insurance, in relation 

to the use of the vehicle by the driver, that complies with the requirements of 
the Act of 1988, and; 

c) unless the vehicle registration number plate is visible at all times and, that if it 
is obscured by any covering on the vehicle, the CEO shall be empowered to 

9
Page 219



uncover the plate to record the registration number; 
 

17. Activities prohibited in parking place 
The driver of a vehicle using a parking place shall stop the engine as soon as the 
vehicle is in position in the parking place, and shall not start the engine except when 
about to change the position of the vehicle in, or to depart from, the parking place. 

 
The driver of a vehicle using a parking place shall not sound any horn or other similar 
instrument except when about to change the position of the vehicle in, or to depart 
from, the parking place. 

 
18. Actions requiring written permission the Council 

Except with the prior written permission of the Council, no person shall use any part 
of a parking place or any vehicle left in a parking place –   

a) for overnight sleeping, camping or cooking;  
b) to erect (or cause to be erected) any tent, booth, stand, building, structure or 

any other thing;  
c) to light, allow or cause any fire to be lit;  
d) to display, place on vehicles or distribute, or cause to be displayed, placed or 

distributed any notice, leaflet, handbill, booklet, book or other item; display or 
distribute, or cause to be displayed or distributed, any notice, leaflet, handbill, 
booklet, book or other item;  

e) for the unauthorised sale of any article to persons in or near the parking 
place, or in connection with the selling or offering for hire of his skill or 
services;  

f) for the furtherance of business of any kind, private or otherwise;  
g) for the purpose of servicing or washing any vehicle or part thereof, other than 

is reasonably necessary to enable that vehicle to depart from the parking 
place;  

h) for the display of any vehicle for sale or to sell any vehicle;  
i) to park any caravan or trailer unless otherwise approved before parking, in 

which case the caravan or trailer must; 
i. be connected to the towing vehicle at all times, 
ii. both units must fit wholly within marked bays, 
iii. the towing vehicle must display consecutive valid pay and display 

tickets for the number of spaces occupied.  
j) to carry out repairs or adaptations to the vehicle unless the need for such 

works was not identified until after parking took place and that without them 
the vehicle could not be moved from the parking place PROVIDED such 
repairs are carried out within 24 hours of the identification of the breakdown. 

 
19. Annoyance, nuisance and antisocial behaviour 

No person in a parking place shall; 
a) shout or make or cause any loud noise to be made to the annoyance or 

disturbance of any users of the parking place, any occupants of adjoining or 
neighbouring premises or any passers-by;  

b) use any threatening, abusive or insulting language, gesture or conduct likely 

10
Page 220



to occasion, or occasioning, a breach of the peace;  
c) deposit litter or fly tip any items;  
d) cycle, skateboard, or play any ball game or any other game; 

 
20. Alteration of the position, of vehicles 
For the purpose of meeting the requirement of an emergency, an authorised person 
may alter, or cause to be altered, the position of a vehicle in a parking place or remove 
or arrange for the removal of a vehicle from a parking place. 

 
Any person removing or arranging the removal of a vehicle by virtue of this Article shall 
make such arrangements as he considers reasonably necessary for the safety of the 
vehicle in the place to which it is removed. 

 
21. Requirements for the safe management of parking places 
An authorised person may move, or cause to be moved, any vehicle or other container 
containing any substance which appears to him to be hazardous to health as defined 
by the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 1988 or any other 
legislation relating to health or safety. 

 
22. Restrictions on driving of vehicles in parking places 
Where in a parking place signs are erected, or surface markings are laid, for the 
purpose of either indicating the entrance to (or exit from) the parking place; or 
indicating that a vehicle using the parking place shall proceed in a specified direction 
within the parking place, no person shall drive, or cause to be driven, any vehicle;  

a) so that it enters the parking place otherwise than by an entrance so 
indicated;  

b) so that it leaves the parking place otherwise than by an exit so indicated; or  
c) in a direction other than so specified. 

 
No person shall, except with the prior written permission of the Council, drive or cause 
to be driven any vehicle in a parking place for any purpose other than that of leaving 
that vehicle in the parking place in accordance with the provisions of this Order or for 
the purpose of departing from that parking place. 

 
23. Securing or removal of vehicles in relation to the execution of court warrants 

by third parties 
The Council gives permission for appointed court Bailiffs and appointed Enforcement 
Agents (for the purposes of the execution of court warrants) to act on warrants 
pertaining to vehicles parked within the parking places listed in Schedule 1 (Tables of 
parking places) 

11
Page 221



Part D – Parking Permits and Season Tickets 
 

1. Application for a permits and season tickets 
The registered keeper of a vehicle may, on application to the Council, purchase a 
season ticket which will enable a vehicle to park a) in a parking place for which season 
tickets are available and b) for a charge, both of which are identified in Schedule 1 
(Tables of Parking Places). 

 
2. Validity of season tickets 
Season tickets are issued subject to the provisions of this Order, and to availability, and 
are only valid (unless otherwise specified) in respect of the parking place or places for 
which it was issued. 
 
3. Granting of Permits 
The Council may at any time, whether on payment or otherwise, grant written 
permission by way of a permit for vehicles to park in such parking places and at such 
times as it may consider appropriate: 

 
Provided that a Permit Application Form (obtainable from the Council) is completed and 
submitted, together with the relevant authorisation(s) and any appropriate fee 

 
Applicants for these permits shall complete all information required by such Forms, and 
the Council may, at any time, before or after its issue, require an applicant to produce 
to an officer of the Council reasonable evidence which verifies the information 
provided. 

 
PROVIDED that no vehicle shall be left in a parking place in reliance upon such 
permission, and unless a permit issued in accordance with such permission is fixed in 
the relevant position on or in the vehicle in respect of which it was issued. 

 
4. Discretion to issue permits and season tickets 
Without prejudice to the Council’s powers as set out in this Order, the Council shall 
have discretion not to issue preferential permits, permits or season tickets (including 
off-peak season ticket) to a vehicle which has three or more unpaid and unchallenged 
penalty charge notices issued by the Council, being those penalty charge notices 
where payment is lawfully due. 

 
5. Charges for replacement of season tickets 
An administrative charge, currently £10, may be made for the replacement of any 
season ticket, whether resulting from loss, damage or to change details thereon. 

 
6. Rights to terminate parking permits 
The Council shall be entitled to terminate all rights granted by the issue of any season 
ticket (including off peak season ticket), preferential permit, or permit if at any time the 
holder is in contravention of any of the provisions contained in this Order. In any such 
circumstance the holder shall not be entitled to any refund whatsoever without 
prejudice to any other right of action the Council may have whether under this Order or 
otherwise. 

 
Notwithstanding the previous paragraph, the Council shall be entitled to terminate, 
without notice and for any reason, any season ticket (including off peak season ticket), 
preferential permit or permit, but subject to a full refund for any unused period. 

12
Page 222



 
7. Season tickets - Relating to Borough Green 
In the case of Western Road, Borough Green Car Park, season tickets will only be 
issued to those whom the Council deem to be working in Borough Green town centre. 
 
8. Season tickets - Relating to Ryarsh Lane, West Malling 
In the case of Ryarsh Lane, West Malling Car Park, the Car Park is reserved for 
season ticket holders only, during the specified hours of the Schedule and they will only 
be issued to those whom the Council deem to be working in West Malling town centre; 

 
9. Season tickets - Relating to Commercial Road, Tonbridge 
In the case of Commercial Road, Tonbridge, season tickets will only be issued to those 
whom the Council deem to be resident in Commercial Road, and the Council may limit 
the number of season tickets issued to reflect the limited number of spaces. 

 
10. Relating to Village Field car park 
The registered keeper of a vehicle may, on application to the Council, purchase a 
preferential permit provided they meet the Zone R qualifications established in the 
Preferential Parking Scheme in the On Street Parking Order. This will allow parking in 
the Village Field Car Park, East Malling listed in GROUP 15, Schedule 1 (Tables of 
Parking Places). 

 
The owners of the Village Field Car Park, East Malling, currently East Malling and 
Larkfield Parish Council, may at any time, whether on payment or otherwise, grant 
permission for vehicles to park in the Village Field Car Park, East Malling, listed in 
GROUP 15, Schedule 1 (Tables of Parking Places), at such times as it may consider 
appropriate:  

 
PROVIDED that no vehicle shall be left in a parking place in reliance upon such 
permission, and unless a permit is displayed in a relevant position on or in the vehicle 
in respect of which it was issued. 

 

13
Page 223



Part E – Enforcement and Contraventions of this Order 
 

1. Parking “out of bay” 
A vehicle that is left within a parking place where parking spaces are marked outside of 
those marked parking spaces shall be deemed to be in contravention of this Order.  

 
2. Parking with an expired or amended ticket or permit 
A vehicle that exhibits an expired or amended P & D ticket, T & D ticket, season ticket 
(including off peak season tickets), preferential permit or permit is invalid and is in 
contravention of this Order.  

 
3. Penalty charge notice 
Where a vehicle is left in a parking place in contravention of any of the provisions of 
this Order, a civil enforcement officer may attach to the vehicle in a conspicuous 
position a penalty charge notice, in accordance with the Act of 2004, or by handing the 
penalty charge notice to the driver, or by subsequent postal issue.  

 
4. Disposal of Vehicles abandoned in a Parking Place. 
The Council, as respects any vehicle which has been or could at any time be removed 
from a parking place in pursuance of this Article if it appears to them to have been 
abandoned, may sell or otherwise dispose of the vehicle and may recover any 
expenses and charges reasonably incurred from any person responsible. 

 
 

14
Page 224



Part F – Exceptions and Exemptions 
 
Schedule 2 (Exemptions from initial charges in parking places) shall have effect for the 
purpose of exempting drivers of vehicles from payment of a parking charge.

15
Page 225



Part G - Revocations and Consolidations 
Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council (Off-Street Parking Places) Order 2021 and it’s 
subsequent amendments are to be revoked in its entirety, to be replaced by this Order. 
 
 
 

 

16
Page 226



Schedule 1 - Tables of Parking Places 
 

GROUP 1 (Short Stay) 
 

Column 1 - Names of 
Parking Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for which 
vehicles may park & charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

Angel car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
Botany car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
Bradford Street car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
Kinnings Row car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
Lamberts Yard car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
River Lawn car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 

Existing 
a) Charging period 8am to 6pm Monday to 

Saturday 
b) Free at all other times including public 

holidays 
c) Maximum stay 23 consecutive hours. 
 
Proposal A 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm every day, 

including public holidays 
b) Free at all other times 
c) Maximum stay 23 consecutive hours. 
 

Pay and Display 
charges 
 
up to 30 minutes                
up to 1 hour            
up to 2 hours 
up to 3 hours  
up to 4 hours 
additional hours 

 
 
Proposal B 
80p   
£1.60  
£3.20  
£4.80   
£6.40  
£3.20 per 
additional hour 

 
 
Existing 
70p   
£1.40  
£2.80  
£4.20   
£5.60  
£2.80 per additional 
hour 

Off Peak Season 
Tickets  

Proposal B 
£360 per 12 month 
period. 
 
(available 4pm to 
9am following day 
and Weekends) 

Existing 
£320 per 12 month 
period. 
 
(available 4pm to 
9am following day 
and Saturdays) 

 

17

P
age 227



GROUP 2 (Long Stay) 
 

Column 1 - Names of 
Parking Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for 
which vehicles may park & 

charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

Sovereign Way Mid car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
Waterloo Road car park 
(Tonbridge) 

Existing 
a) Charging period 8am to 6pm 

Monday to Saturday 
b) Free at all other times including 

public holidays 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where 
charging does not apply 
 

Proposal A 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm 

every day, including public 
holidays 

b) Free at all other times 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where 
charging does not apply 

Pay and 
Display 
charges 
 
 

Proposal B 
up to 1 hour   
up to 2 hours                  
up to 3 hours   
up to 6 hours 
up to 23 
consecutive 
hours                   

 
£1.40 
£2.60  
£3.50 
£5.40 
£6.80 

Existing 
up to 1 hour   
up to 2 hours                  
up to 3 hours   
up to 6 hours 
up to 23 consecutive 
hours                   

 
£1.40 
£2.60  
£3.50 
£5.40 
£6.80 

Off Peak 
Season 
Tickets 

Proposal B 
£360 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all day 
Weekends) 

Existing 
£320 per 12 month period. 
 
(available 4pm to 9am following 
day and all day Saturdays) 

Town Centre 
residents’ 
season tickets 
3 months 
12 months 

 
 
Proposal B 
£90 
£360 
 

 
 
Existing 
£87.50 
£350 

18

P
age 228



GROUP 3 (Long Stay) 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking 
Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for 
which vehicles may park & 

charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Sovereign Way East car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
Sovereign Way North car park 
(Tonbridge)  
NB. GROUP 3 and GROUP 4 
form part of the Sovereign 
Way Complex. 

Existing 
a) Charging period 8am to 6pm 

Monday to Saturday 
b) Free at all other times including 

public holidays 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 consecutive 
hours where charging does not 
apply 
 

Proposed 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm every 

day, including public holidays 
b) Free at all other times 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 consecutive 
hours where charging does not 
apply 

Pay and Display 
charges 
up to 1 hour   
up to 2 hours                  
up to 3 hours   
up to 6 hours                   
up to 23 consecutive 
hours 

 
Proposal B 
£1.40 
£3.00  
£4.10 
£6.20 
£7.00 
 

 
Existing 
£1.40  
£2.60  
£3.50  
£5.40  
£6.80  

Season Tickets 
Monthly                      
12 months 

Proposal B 
£132 
£1150 

Existing 
£120 
£1050  

Off Peak Season 
Tickets 

Proposal B 
£360 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all day 
Weekends) 

Existing 
£320 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all 
day Saturdays) 

Town Centre 
residents’ season 
tickets 
3 months 
12 months 

 
 
Proposal B 
£90 
£360 

 
 
Existing 
£87.50 
£350 

Season ticket holders for the Sovereign Way Complex may park in any of the following 3 Car Parks: Sovereign Way North, Sovereign Way East and Vale 
Road, Monday to Saturday. 

19

P
age 229



GROUP 4 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking 
Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for 
which vehicles may park & 

charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Vale Road car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
NB. GROUP 3 and GROUP 4 
Form part of the Sovereign 
Way Complex. 

Existing 
a) Monday to Friday 8.00am – 

6.00pm - season ticket holders 
only 

b) Saturday 8.00am – 6.00pm - 
season ticket holders and P & D 
tickets 

c) Free at all other times including 
public holidays 

d) The maximum stay is, unless 
otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where 
charging does not apply 
 

Proposed 
a) Monday to Friday 8.00am – 

8.00pm - season ticket holders 
only 

b) Saturday & Sunday 8.00am – 
8.00pm - season ticket holders 
and P & D tickets 

c) Free at all other times 
d) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where 
charging does not apply 

Pay and Display 
charges 
 
up to 1 hour    
up to 2 hours                  
up to 3 hours    
up to 6 hours                   
up to 23 consecutive 
hours 

 
Proposal B 
£1.40 
£3.00  
£4.10 
£6.20 
£7.00 

 
Existing 
£1.40  
£2.60  
£3.50  
£5.40  
£6.80 

Tickets to be obtained from Sovereign Way (East) or Sovereign Way 
(North) Car Parks, or use the pay-by-phone service 

Season Tickets 
Monthly                      
12 months 

Proposal B 
£132 
£1150 

Existing 
£120 
£1050  

Off Peak Season 
Tickets 

Proposal B 
£360 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all day 
Weekends) 

Existing 
£320 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all 
day Saturdays) 

Town Centre 
residents’ season 
tickets 
3 months 
12 months 

 
 
Proposal B 
£90 
£360 

 
 
Existing 
£87.50 
£350 

Season ticket holders for the Sovereign Way Complex may park in any of the following 3 Car Parks: Sovereign Way North, Sovereign Way East and Vale 
Road, Monday to Saturday. 

20

P
age 230



GROUP 5 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking 
Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for 
which vehicles may park & 

charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Upper Castle Field car park 
(Tonbridge) 
  

Existing 
a) Charging period 8am to 6pm 

Monday to Saturday 
b) Free at all other times including 

public holidays 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where 
charging does not apply 
 

Proposed 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm 

every day, including public 
holidays 

b) Free at all other times 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 consecutive 
hours where charging does not 
apply 

Pay and Display 
charges 
 
up to 30 minutes 
up to 1 hour    
up to 2 hours                  
up to 3 hours    
up to 4 hours 
additional hours 
 
 

 
 
Proposal B 
80p   
£1.60  
£3.20  
£4.80   
£6.40  
£3.20 per additional 
hour 

 
 
Existing 
£0.70 
£1.40 
£2.80 
£4.20 
£5.60  
£2.80 per additional 
hour 

Off Peak Season 
Tickets (available 
4pm to 9am following 
day)           

Proposal B 
£360 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all 
day Weekends) 

Existing 
£320 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all day 
Saturdays) 

 

21

P
age 231



GROUP 6 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking 
Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for 
which vehicles may park & 

charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Lower Castle Field car park 
(Tonbridge)   
 
Which includes; 

a. The approach road to the 
Swimming Pool 

b. The main car park area 
c. Deaconsfield 

Existing 
a) Charging period 8am to 6pm 

Monday to Saturday 
b) Free at all other times including 

public holidays 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where 
charging does not apply 
 

Proposed 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm 

every day, including public 
holidays 

b) Free at all other times 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where 
charging does not apply 

Pay and Display 
charges 
 
Monday to Saturday 
up to 1 hour    
up to 2 hours                  
up to 3 hours    
up to 6 hours                   
up to 23 consecutive 
hours 

 
 
Proposal B 
£1.40 
£3.00  
£4.10 
£6.20 
£7.00 

 
 
Existing 
£1.40  
£2.60  
£3.50  
£5.40  
£6.80 

All Tickets to be obtained from Main Car Park 

Season Tickets 
Monthly                      
12 months 

Proposal B 
£132 
£1150 

Existing 
£120 
£1050  

Off Peak Season 
Tickets (available 
4pm to 9am following 
day)           

Proposal B 
£360 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all 
day Weekends) 

Existing 
£320 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all day 
Saturdays) 

 

22

P
age 232



GROUP 7 
 

Column 1 - Names of 
Parking Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for 
which vehicles may park & charging 

period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Castle Grounds Car Park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
 
 
 

Existing 
a. Charging period 8am to 6pm 

Monday to Saturday: permit holders 
and P & D ticket holders 

b. Free at all other times including 
public holidays 

c. Maximum stay 23 hours. 
 
Proposed 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm every 

day, including public holidays 
b) Free at all other times 
c) The maximum stay is, unless 

otherwise stated, that of the 
charging period or 23 consecutive 
hours where charging does not 
apply 

 
 

Pay and Display 
charges 
 
up to 30 minutes 
up to 1 hour    
up to 2 hours                  
up to 3 hours    
up to 4 hours 
additional hours 
 

 
 
Proposal B 
80p   
£1.60  
£3.20  
£4.80   
£6.40  
£3.20 per additional 
hour 

 
 
Existing 
£0.70 
£1.40 
£2.80 
£4.20 
£5.60  
£2.80 per additional hour 

Off Peak Season 
Tickets (available 
4pm to 9am following 
day)           

Proposal B 
£360 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all 
day Weekends) 

Existing 
£320 per 12 month 
period. 
(available 4pm to 9am 
following day and all day 
Saturdays) 

 

23

P
age 233



GROUP 8 
 

Column 1 - Location Column 2 – Restrictions 

River Walk 
(Tonbridge) 

No waiting at any time on any part that is owned and maintained 
by Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council. 

 
  

24

P
age 234



GROUP 9 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking Places Column 2 - Maximum period for which 
vehicles may park & charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

Commercial Road 
(Tonbridge) 

a. Unlimited parking  
b. Permit holders only may use this 

parking place 

Permits 
3 months 
6 months 
12 months               

 
£13 
£26 
£52 

 

25

P
age 235



GROUP 10 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking 
Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for which vehicles may 
park & charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

Ryarsh Lane 
(West Malling) 

Existing 
a) Season ticket holders only between 8am and 3pm 

Monday to Friday 
b) Season tickets available for workers in West Malling 

town centre. 
c) Phone payment parking 8am-5:30pm Saturdays 
d) Free at all other times including public holidays 
e) The maximum stay is, unless otherwise stated, that 

of the charging period, or 23 consecutive hours 
where charging does not apply 
 

Proposed 
a) Season ticket holders only between 8am and 3pm 

Monday to Friday 
b) Phone payment parking 8am-8pm Saturdays & 

Sundays 
c) Free at all other times 
d) The maximum stay is, unless otherwise stated, that 

of the charging period, or 23 consecutive hours 
where charging does not apply 

Pay and Display charges 
up to 30 minutes 
up to 1 hour 
up to 2 hours 
up to 3 hours 
up to 4 hours 
 

Proposed 
£0.50  
£1.10 
£1.80  
£2.60  
£3.40 

Existing 
£0.50  
£1.10 
£1.80  
£2.60  
£3.40  

Season Tickets 
1 month 
12 months 

Proposed 
£26 
£290 

Existing 
£26 
£255  

 

26

P
age 236



GROUP 11 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking 
Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for which vehicles may park 
& charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Blue Bell Hill Car Park 
(Aylesford) 
 

Existing 
a) Charging period 8am to 6pm Monday to Saturday 
b) Free at all other times including public holidays 
 
Proposed 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm every day including public 

holidays 
b) Free at all other times  
 

Pay and Display 
charges 
24 hours  
1 week  

Proposed 
£2.70  
£12.00  

Existing 
£2.70  
£12.00  

Season Tickets 
Monthly 
12 months  
  

Proposed 
£40  
£420 

Existing 
£40  
£420 

 

27

P
age 237



GROUP 12 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking Places Column 2 - Maximum period for which vehicles 
may park & charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Premier Parade 
(Aylesford) 
 
East of Bailey Bridge Road  
(Aylesford) – To be deleted 
 
West of Bailey Bridge Road 
(Aylesford) – To be deleted 
 
Hildenborough 
 
Ightham 
 
Martin Square 
(Larkfield) – To be deleted 
 
Offham 
 
Snodland  
 
Twisden Road 
(East Malling) 
 
Wateringbury 
 
Wrotham Hill 

a. Free at all times, except that in:- 
b. Snodland (the 9 parking bays on the east side 

of the approach road to Car Park from the High 
Street) between 8.00am and 6.00pm Monday – 
Thursday parking is limited to 1 hour (no return 
1 hour); 

c. Maximum stay 23 consecutive hours. 
 

No charges 
 

 

28

P
age 238



GROUP 13 
 

Column 1 - Names of 
Parking Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for which 
vehicles may park & charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Western Road Car Park 
(Borough Green) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Existing 
a) Charging period 8am to 6pm Monday to 

Friday. 
b) Free at all other times, including public 

holidays. 
c) Season tickets only available for workers in 

Borough Green town centre. 
d) The maximum stay is, unless otherwise 

stated, that of the charging period, or 23 
consecutive hours where charging does 
not apply 

 
Proposed 
a) Charging period 8am to 8pm every day 

including public holidays. 
b) Free at all other times. 
c) Season tickets only available for workers in 

Borough Green town centre. 
The maximum stay is, unless otherwise stated, 
that of the charging period, or 23 consecutive 
hours where charging does not apply 

Pay and Display charges 
up to 30 minutes 
up to 1 hour 
up to 2 hours 
up to 4 hours 
up to 6 hours 
up to 9 hours 
up to 23 consecutive hours 

Proposed 
£0.30 
£0.60 
£1.00 
£1.80 
£2.60 
£3.50 
£5.50 

Existing 
£0.20 
£0.50  
£0.80  
£1.50  
£2.20  
£3.10  
£5.30 

Season Tickets 
12 months  

Proposed 
£385 

Existing 
£350  

 

29

P
age 239



GROUP 14.1 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking Places Column 2 - Maximum period for which 
vehicles may park & charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

 
Haysden Country Park main car park 
(Tonbridge) 
 
Haysden Water (both car parks) 
(Tonbridge)  
Audley Rise Car Park (Tonbridge) 

Maximum stay: Opening times of the 
Country Park  
P & D tickets must be purchased to park 
during opening times of the Country Park. 

Pay and Display charges 
up to 4 hours                       
Over 4 hours   

Proposed 
£2.20 
£5.00 

Existing 
£2.00 
£4.50 

Season Tickets 
12 months 

Proposed 
£70 

Existing 
£65 

In the case of Haysden Country Park (Main Car Park, the 
two Car Parks at Haysden Water and Audley Rise Car 
Park), the P & D tickets may be purchased in the Main Car 
Park. 

 
  

30

P
age 240



GROUP 14.2 
 

No longer used. 

31

P
age 241



GROUP 15 
 

Column 1 - Names of 
Parking Places 

Column 2 - Maximum period for which vehicles may park & 
charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

The Village Field car park 
(High Street, East Malling) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a) Monday to Friday between 8am and 6pm parking limited to 4 hours 
(no return 2 hours), except for qualifying season tickets and permits.  

b) The East Malling and Larkfield Parish Council will authorise season 
tickets issued, and undertake an annual review of allocation. Any 
changes to the allocation will be authorised by them.  

c) Permit holders for Zone R issued under the On-Street Parking 
Order, who meet the qualifications of the Residents Preferential 
Parking Scheme established in that Order.  

d) The maximum stay (unless otherwise stated) is that of the charging 
period, or 23 hours where charging does not apply 

Season Tickets 
3 months                 £75  
6 months               £140 
12 months             £250  
up to a maximum number of 15 tickets on first 
issue (approximately 33% of Car Park 
capacity).  
Preferential Permits charges indicated in the 
On Street Parking Order. 

 
 

32

P
age 242



GROUP 16 
 

 
Column 1 - Names of Parking 

Places 
Column 2 - Maximum period for which 

vehicles may park & charging/controlled 
period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

High Street car park 
(West Malling) 

a. Charging period 8am to 5:30pm Monday to 
Saturday 

b. Free at all other times including public 
holidays 

c. No return within 3 hours  

Pay and Display charges 
up to 30 minutes 
up to 1 hour 
up to 2 hours 
up to 3 hours 
up to 4 hours 

Proposed 
£0.60  
£1.20  
£2.00 
£2.90 
£3.80 

Existing 
£0.50  
£1.10 
£1.80  
£2.60  
£3.40  

 
 

33

P
age 243



GROUP 17 
 

Column 1 - Names of Parking Places Column 2 - Maximum period for which 
vehicles may park & charging period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

Swanmead Way (Tonbridge) a. Limited waiting between 8am to 6pm 
Monday to Friday 

b. Maximum stay 4 hours 
c. No return to the car park on the same day 

No charges 
 
 

34

P
age 244



GROUP 18 
 

 
Column 1 - Names of Parking 

Places 
Column 2 - Maximum period for which 

vehicles may park & charging/controlled 
period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

Martin Square 
(Larkfield) 
 
 

a. Charging period 8am to 8pm every day, 
including public holidays 

b. Free at all other times 
c. The maximum stay is, unless otherwise 

stated, that of the charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where charging does not 
apply 

Pay and Display charges 
up to 30 minutes 
up to 1 hour 
up to 2 hours 
up to 3 hours 
up to 4 hours 
up to 23 consecutive hours 

 
£0.60  
£1.20  
£2.00  
£2.90  
£3.80  
£5.80 
 

Season tickets 
1 month 
12 months 

 
£29 
£290 

 
 

35

P
age 245



GROUP 19 
 

 
Column 1 - Names of Parking 

Places 
Column 2 - Maximum period for which 

vehicles may park & charging/controlled 
period 

Column 3 - Scale of charges 

Bailey Bridge (east) car park 
(Aylesford) 
 
Bailey Bridge (west) car park 
(Aylesford) 

a. Charging period 8am to 8pm every day, 
including public holidays 

b. Free at all other times 
c. The maximum stay is, unless otherwise 

stated, that of the charging period or 23 
consecutive hours where charging does not 
apply 

Pay and Display charges 
up to 30 minutes 
up to 1 hour 
up to 2 hours 
up to 3 hours 
up to 4 hours 
up to 23 consecutive hours 

 
£0.60  
£1.20  
£2.00  
£2.90  
£3.80  
£5.80 
 

Season tickets 
1 month 
12 months 

 
£29 
£290 

36

P
age 246



 
 
 

Schedule 2 - Exemptions from initial charges for parking in 
parking places 
 
The drivers of the following vehicles shall be exempt from payment of an initial charge for 
parking during the charging periods, though any payment for re-charging of batteries in 
electric vehicle charging bays would still apply: 
(a) A disabled person's vehicle parked in accordance with the provisions of Part C. 
(b) A motor cycle (without a sidecar) or a moped as defined in the Act of 1994 

parked in a motor cycle bay – a parking bay reserved for the parking of motor 
cycles and mopeds. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37
Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 5 Comparative Charges  

  30 minutes 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 4 hours 5 hours 6 hours 7 hours 8 hours 9 hours 

10 hours/all 
day (23 hours 
consecutive 
hours) Season ticket monthly 

Season ticket 
yearly 

TMBC proposed short stay (not 
West Malling High Street car park 
and Borough Green car park) 0.80 1.60 3.20 4.80 6.40 9.60 12.80 16.00 19.20 22.40 25.60     

TMBC proposed long stay   1.60 3.00 4.10     6.20       7.00 132.00 1150.00 

TMBC proposed West Malling High 
Street short stay car park 0.60 1.20 2.00 2.90 3.80                 

TMBC proposed Ryarsh Lane season 
ticket car park                       26.00 290.00 

Proposed charges Larkfield and 
Aylesford car parks 0.60 1.20 2.00 2.90 3.80           5.80 29.00 290.00 

TMBC proposed Borough Green car 
park 0.30 0.60 1.00   1.80   2.60     3.50 5.50    385.00 

TMBC proposed Haysden Country 
Park car park     2.20   5.00               70.00 

Sevenoaks DC short stay   2.00 4.00 6.00 10.00                 

Sevenoaks DC long stay       4.50         5.50   

 Varies - Swanley 
£400, Sevenoaks 
TC £990, Station 
£1300 

Maidstone BC Short/Long Stay   1.30 2.60 3.90 5.20 6.50 7.30 7.30 7.30 7.30 7.30 

Season ticket 5-day week 
(Mon to Fri) 6 months 
£496 and year £910. 
Season ticket 6 months 7-
day week (Mon-Sun) 6 
months £638 and year 
£1163   

Tunbridge Wells BC short stay   2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 10.40 10.40 10.40 10.40   

Tunbridge Wells BC long stay   2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00         7.00 

Depends on car park but 
ranges from £840 full 
time to £1210 full time, 
and £620 part time to 
£100.83 part time.  

Depends on car 
park but ranges 
from £840 full 
time to £1210 full 
time, and £620 
part time to 
£100.83 part 
time.  

 

P
age 249



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex 6 

THE TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL (OFF-

STREET PARKING PLACES) ORDER 2023 No.2 

1 

Statement of Reasons 

In the Borough of Tonbridge & Malling 

 

 

Part 1 - New Parking Charges 

Introduction of charges in Larkfield - Martin Square car park 

The Martin Square car park in Larkfield currently has no parking charges but is well 

used.  Whilst it is intended to serve the shops, the car park suffers from low turnover 

long-stay parking which reduces the availability of spaces for all users.  It is 

proposed that the car park should have charges introduced to reduce long-stay 

parking and help ensure the car park is managed in a balanced manner.   

Season tickets would be available to those with a need to park in the car park for 

longer periods. 

Aylesford – Bailey Bridge (East) and Bailey Bridge (West) car parks 

The Bailey Bridge (East) and (West) car parks in Aylesford currently have no parking 

charges but are well used.  The car park suffers from a low turnover long-stay 

parking which reduces the availability of spaces for all users.  It is proposed that the 

car park should have charges introduced to reduce unwarranted long-stay parking 

and help ensure the car park is managed in a balanced manner. 

 

Season tickets would be available to those with a need to park in the car park for 

longer periods. 

The Council also has a proposal to extend the Bailey Bridge East car park, to 

provide an additional 15-30 parking spaces towards the river in the “overflow” area, 

though this is an initial proposal and would be subject to further investigation and 

design. 

   

Part 2 - Extended parking areas 

More Pay & Display bays in Tonbridge – Castle Grounds car park 

It is proposed that the 9 “Gateway Visitor” parking spaces at the Castle be changed 

to Pay and Display parking similar to the other parking spaces in the Castle 

Grounds. The Gateway is leaving the Castle next year, and through the Castle Study 

Group the use of the Castle is changing. There is also confusion by some drivers as 

to why there are different restrictions in place, and the existing Gateway parking 

arrangements are regularly abused. 

This proposal would make a further 9 parking spaces available for public parking.   

Page 251



Annex 6 

THE TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL (OFF-

STREET PARKING PLACES) ORDER 2023 No.2 

2 

 

Extension to Tonbridge – Upper Castle Field car park  

The Upper Castle Field Car Park is the most successful car park run by the Council 

in terms of income generation and occupancy. It is often full and has become 

increasingly popular with the growth of events at the Castle. It is also well used on 

weekdays due to its proximity to Slade Primary school, and at weekends due to its 

proximity to Tonbridge Racecourse Sportsground, Tonbridge Swimming Pool and 

Tonbridge Juddians Rugby Club.   

The Council is proposing an extension to the Upper Castle Field, with the intention  

to create an additional 28 parking spaces (depending on design) to better meet the 

demand in the area. 

Part 3 – Revised tariff of existing charges 

Increase in parking charges in our car parks  

As part of the Borough Council’s review of fees and charges for it’s services, the 

Council is proposing to increase off-street parking charges, to reflect the increasing 

costs of the provision of services. 

 

Full details of the changes and the associated reasons are stated in the reports and 

minutes of the 8th November 2023 meeting of the Council’s Cabinet, and can be 

viewed on the Borough Council’s website via the Committee pages. 

 

Part 4 – Changes to car park charging periods 

The Council’s current parking charges are in place Monday – Saturday, 8am – 6pm, 

with free parking from 6pm, overnight, Sundays and Bank Holidays (though there are 

exceptions to this such as Haysden Country Park and West Malling High street car 

park). 

The basis for this has been historic, based on traditional “office hours” and the 

opening times of local shops.  However, retail opening times have changed 

significantly – many shops are open later and some (large retail supermarkets) are 

open 24 hours.  There is also significant demand for parking on Sundays – not 

driven by free parking, but by the opportunity to carry out tasks, participate in leisure 

activities and attend events on what is for most a non-working day. This is 

particularly an issue in the car parks serving the castle, the swimming pool and 

sportsground in Tonbridge where it can be extremely difficult to find a parking space 

on a Sunday for leisure activities. 

Page 252



Annex 6 

THE TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL (OFF-

STREET PARKING PLACES) ORDER 2023 No.2 

3 

To this end, the Council is proposing the extension of its off-street car parking 

periods, to apply until 8pm (save in the West Malling High Street car park and 

Hayden Country Park, which remain unchanged) and to apply on Sundays and Bank 

Holidays. 

 

 

 

 

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 1 

Off-street parking  

Evenings, Sundays & Bank Holidays 

Object to 
Sunday 
charges 

Support 
Sunday 
charges 

Object to 
Bank 

Holiday 
charges 

Support 
Bank 

Holiday 
charges 

Object to 
Evening 

Charges (until 
8pm) 

Support 
Evening 

Charges (until 
8pm) 

2180 83 2096 83 2247 17 

 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Deter visitors / shoppers 584 1 

Impact business 368 2 

Money-making 180 3 

Impact village / town life 177 4 

Cost of living / can’t afford parking 129 5 

Effect church-goers 73 6 

Not specific / not relevant 62 7 

Displace parking to other areas / roads 44 8 

Short free parking period 29 9 

No problem / no need 26 10 

Staff will have to pay more 17 11 

Deter car use / need to improve public transport 16 12 

Already pay taxes and council tax 16 12 

Limited / no evidence of issue 14 14 

Evenings ok but free Sunday 11 15 

P&D machines should take card payments 11 15 

Ok on Sundays not evenings 6 17 

Not cost-effective 4 18 

Increase Council Tax rather than introduce parking charges 3 19 

Free parking for Electric Vehicles 3 19 

Flat £1 fee for Sunday 3 19 

P&D machines are old/broken 2 22 

Unfair if parking charges don’t apply across the Borough 2 22 

Parking costs should be included in event price 2 22 

TMBC should use the same machines as Southborough 1 25 

Disabled will be disadvantaged 1 25 

Effort of using the machines 1 25 

Should be free parking on Saturday as well 1 25 

The Council should use cheaper private enforcement  1 25 

Increase long-stay tariffs 1 25 

Half-price parking on Sundays & Bank Holidays 1 25 

RingGo needs to improve 1 25 

Keep free after dark keeps it safe  1 25 

Increase current charges, not charging period 1 25 

Parking charges will cause drink-driving 1 25 

Page 255



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 2 

Revision to parking charges 

Object to proposal Support proposal Not specific 

1942 206 8 

 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Cost of living / can’t afford parking / too expensive 272 1 

Deter visitors / shoppers 255 2 

Impact business / local services 250 3 

Money-making 98 4 

Not specific / not relevant 69 5 

There should be a short free parking period 45 6 

Shoppers will go elsewhere, out of town or shop online 42 7 

I support the charging proposals / seems reasonable 33 8 

No problem / No need 30 9 

Not evenings and Sundays 23 10 

Parking will be displaced to local streets / more enforcement 22 11 

Parking charges should be reduced / removed to encourage 
high streets 

18 12 

Impact village / town life 16 13 

P&D machines should take card payments / work better 11 14 

Limited / no evidence of issue 9 15 

This will impact leisure activities e.g. Sunday football 9 15 

Staff will have to pay more / staff should have permit options 9 15 

Political comment 9 15 

Evenings ok but free Sunday 8 19 

Ok on Sundays not evenings 8 19 

Visitor numbers will reduce, which will impact negatively on 
council revenues 

8 19 

Improve other transport options 8 19 

Need charges across more free areas to keep overall charges 
lower 

6 23 

More flexible time / price bands for gym users 5 24 

Increases should be lower for shorter time periods 5 24 

Effect church goers 4 26 

Shorter time bands for Haysden Country Park / cheaper parking 4 26 

Retain cash option as some can’t use cards / app 3 28 

Remove cash option from P&D machines 2 29 

Should have a 20 or 30 minute option 2 29 

Parking charges at all times to encourage other transport 
options 

2 29 

Pay per minute would be fairer 2 29 

EV should get free parking 2 29 

Charges should be rounded to nearest £ as machines don’t give 
change 

1 34 

Stop paving-over green spaces 1 34 

Page 256



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 3 

Comment Frequency Rank 

More disabled parking needed 1 34 

Less disabled parking / disabled should pay 1 34 

Increase Council Tax instead 1 34 

TMBC should use same machines as Southborough 1 34 

 

  

Page 257



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 4 

Upper Castle Field car park extension, Tonbridge 

Object to proposal Support proposal Not specific 

866 877 19 

 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Climate comments/green spaces/play park/heritage site 345 1 

No evidence for the need for extra parking 97 2 

Non-specific / not relevant 71 3 

Agree 71 3 

Healthy and safety risk 52 5 

Improve public transport / cycling options 33 6 

Money-making 26 7 

Safe footpath must be maintained and crossing 23 8 

Displace vehicles to Zone J / improve enforcement in area 20 9 

Economic argument, large outlay against small gain 7 10 

Impact trade 5 11 

Cost of living crisis 3 12 

New revenue should be used instead of proposed changes 2 13 

No space, leave alone 1 14 

Council tax already high 1 14 

Should have free 30 mins for school drop off 1 14 

1hr free parking 1 14 

No evening charges 1 14 

Must be made of a porous substance 1 14 

 

  

Page 258



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 5 

Changes to Castle Grounds car park, Tonbridge 

Object to proposal Support proposals Not specific 

620 1086 16 

 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Will help parking issues 69 1 

Non-specific/relevant 40 2 

Affecting local trade/businesses/deterrent to visit 19 3 

Not enough disabled parking 16 4 

Loss of play facilities / green space 16 4 

Objection to charge 13 6 

Should be free for those using Council services at the 
Castle 

9 7 

Money-making 8 8 

There is enough parking in Tonbridge 6 9 

Discourage driving / encourage public transport / cycling 6 9 

Free first period of parking 5 11 

Not on a Sunday / BH / evening 5 11 

Improve green space 4 13 

Cost of living / low incomes 4 13 

More air / noise / visual pollution and congestion 4 13 

Road safety concerns 3 16 

Too much development 2 17 

Not needed 2 17 

First hour should be free 1 19 

No mention of motorcycle parking 1 19 

P&D must accept cash 1 19 

More EV chargers 1 19 

Don’t extend car park 1 19 

If there are more spaces, the price should be cheaper 1 19 

 

  

Page 259



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 6 

Extension to Aylesford Bailey Bridge (East) car park, Aylesford 

Object to proposal Support proposals Not specific 

591 783 1 

 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Agree 107 1 

Non-specific / not relevant 60 2 

No charges 54 3 

Need evidence of the need for extra parking 18 4 

Climate issue 16 5 

Impact businesses / visitors 15 6 

Money-making 12 7 

No need for it if charges introduced 10 8 

Free parking for short stay (1-2) hours 10 8 

Displace parking to nearby streets / private parking 5 10 

No extension & no charges 4 11 

No charge for parking 4 11 

Visitors free parking 3 13 

Car park extension should be for season tickets only 3 13 

Improve safety 3 13 

Free permits for staff & 2 hrs charges for others 3 13 

Introduce ANPR 1 17 

No change, just improve sizes of current spaces & 
increase charges 

1 17 

Free parking for residents only 1 17 

Charge for parking 1 17 

No charges on Sunday 1 17 

No charges weekend or evenings 1 17 

Agree if parking charges in Aylesford pays for it 1 17 

Objects due to the costs involved 1 17 

Object on grounds of fairness 1 17 

Use Council Tax to pay for it 1 17 

Cost of living crisis 1 17 

extending the car park would be unsightly 1 17 

 

  

Page 260



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 7 

Charges in Aylesford Bailey Bridge car parks, Aylesford 

Object to charges Support 
charges 

Object to 
season tickets 

Support season 
tickets 

Not specific 

1343 230 733 242 27 

 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Impact businesses and community 178 1 

Non-specific / not relevant 99 2 

Displace parking to other roads / private car parks 91 3 

Free parking for school drop-off / school drop-off issues 77 4 

Deter visitors 71 5 

Needs 30 mins free parking or 1 hour parking 43 6 

Money-making 42 7 

2 hrs / 3hrs or 4hrs free parking (charges after?) 42 7 

Cost of living crisis 38 9 

Free residents & business permits 28 10 

Free / cheap permit parking for those who work in Aylesford 27 11 

Car park was built for residents, so residents shouldn’t have to pay 25 12 

No need  21 13 

Pedestrian & child safety 21 13 

Deter church goers 16 15 

Already pay enough in Council Tax / just another tax 16 15 

Parking charges should apply in all areas or in none across TMBC 14 17 

Residents need allocated spaces / will penalise residents with no 
private parking 

11 18 

Expensive 11 18 

Will free up short-stay spaces / charges are reasonable 10 20 

No evidence 7 21 

ANPR or more parking enforcement 6 22 

No public transport alternative 6 22 

No evening or weekend charges 4 24 

Sunday charges are excessive 4 24 

Not enough parking spaces / how will you guarantee a space? 3 26 

Deter station parkers 3 26 

Increase Council Tax 2 28 

P&D machines must take card payments 2 28 

Reduce costs for residents & business parking permits 2 28 

1 car park residents with allocated other for visitors 2 28 

Height barriers have affected businesses / displaced work vans on-
street 

2 28 

Season tickets for businesses will prevent parking 2 28 

Fixed price for station users 1 34 

If pay parking, not just on App / machines must take cash 1 34 

Charges at evenings and weekends only 1 34 

No mention of motorcycle parking 1 34 

Page 261



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 8 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Discounted parking for elderly 1 34 

More Electric Vehicle chargers needed 1 34 

Charges only in west car park, keep east free 1 34 

Parking charges at all times should help encourage greener 
transport options 

1 34 

Enforce overnight parking ban 1 34 

Season tickets should guarantee a space 1 34 

West car park should be given to Parish Council 1 34 

East car park should be enforced by TMBC 1 34 

School should operate a walking bus from car parks 1 34 

School should have free parent spaces in car park 1 34 

 

  

Page 262



Parking Proposals and Fees & Charges  02 April 2024 
Annex 7 – Response Frequencies  

 

Page 9 

Charges in Martin Square car park, Larkfield 

Object to 
charges 

Support charges Object to season 
tickets 

Support season 
tickets 

Not specific 

2029 195 995 261 29 

 

Comment Frequency Rank 

Negative effect on local businesses / services / library 667 1 

Deter customers 393 2 

Should offer free short period - or reduce time limit 370 3 

Displace to Morrisons / local streets 273 4 

Effect local residents / increase parking on local roads 184 5 

Not needed 138 6 

Money-making / unnecessary 125 7 

Can’t afford to pay for parking / cost of living 124 8 

Lack of parking at Doctors 123 9 

School pick-up problem 114 10 

Uncertain visit lengths at Doctors / chemists / Post office 96 11 

Will affect elderly and vulnerable disproportionally 69 12 

Non-specific / relevant 61 13 

Residents / staff should be allowed permits 55 14 

Disagree with the stated information / reasons 26 15 

Agree 25 16 

Why do we have to pay? / No need for charges 16 17 

Parking charges should apply in all areas or in none across 
TMBC 

13 18 

Will make it difficult to go to Doctors 12 19 

Season tickets cost too much 8 20 

Should use ANPR 6 21 

Political motivation 6 21 

Charges for all or no charges 4 23 

Cost of installation 2 24 

Penalising NHS staff 2 24 

Should prevent overnight parking 1 26 

More disabled parking 1 26 

Don’t want hassle of parking meters 1 26 

Will affect women disproportionally - hair and beauty 
treatments for women take longer than men 

1 26 

Car parks should be pay as you leave 1 26 

 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Page 265

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 

 

 

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION 

 

 

Page 267

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Page 269

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings
	2 Apologies for absence
	3 Declarations of interest
	4 Petition in respect of Upper Castle Field, Tonbridge
	Annex 1 - Petition
	petition_signatures_jobs_379655
	03.01 statement (from change.pdf
	Preserve the Green Space and Play Area at Upper Castle Fields
	Why this petition matters
	Petition Closed




	Annex 2 - Petition Scheme

	5 Petition in respect of Preventing the Extension of Charging Hours in Borough Council car parks
	Annex 1 - Petition
	Petition - Parking chargs - ext
	01 Petition statement from change.org.pdf
	Prevent the Extension of Charging Hours in Tonbridge and Malling BC Car Parks
	Why this petition matters
	Petition Closed




	01.02 Annex 2 - Petition Scheme

	6 Call in of Executive Decision D240034CAB - Parking Proposals and Changes to On-street and Off-street Parking Fees and Charges
	Report of Scrutiny Officer
	Annex A - Decision Notice D240034CAB
	Annex B -  Report to Cabinet of 2 April 2024
	Annex 1 - Report to Joint Transportation Board of 4 March 2024
	Annex 1.1 - Recommendations of Joint Transportation Board of 4 March 2024
	01.02a Car Parking Proposals Report to CESSC 21 Sep 23
	Car Parking Proposals Report to CESSC 21 Sep 23
	6 Car Parking Proposals

	Car Parking Proposals - Proposed Charges ANNEX 1 Report to CESSC 21 Sep 23
	6 Car Parking Proposals
	ANNEX 1 -  Proposed Charges


	Car Parking Proposals - Martin Square ANNEX 2 Report to CESSC 21 Sep 23
	6 Car Parking Proposals
	ANNEX 2 - Martin Square 2023 Extents


	Car Parking Proposals - Castle Grounds ANNEX 3 Report to CESSC 21 Sep 23
	6 Car Parking Proposals
	ANNEX 3 - Castle Grounds 2023 Extents



	01.02b Review of Car Parking Fees and Charges REPORT to CESSC 6 Nov 23
	Review of Car Parking Fees and Charges REPORT to CESSC 6 Nov 23
	6 Review of Car Parking Fees and Charges

	Review of Car Parking Fees and Charges ANNEX 1 REPORT to CESSC 6 Nov 23
	6 Review of Car Parking Fees and Charges
	ANNEX 1



	01.03 Annex 3 Off-street Parking Changes - TRO advertisement
	01.04 Annex 4 Off-street Parking Changes - Draft Traffic Regulation Order
	Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council  (Off-Street Parking Places) Order 2023 No.2
	Citation and Commencement
	Part A – Index of this Order
	Part C - General provisions relating to the use of parking places
	Part D – Parking Permits and Season Tickets
	Part E – Enforcement and Contraventions of this Order
	Part F – Exceptions and Exemptions
	Part G - Revocations and Consolidations
	Schedule 1 - Tables of Parking Places
	Schedule 2 - Exemptions from initial charges for parking in parking places

	01.05 Annex 5 Comparative Charges
	01.06 Annex 6 Off-street Parking Changes - Statement of Reasons
	01.07 Annex 7 Off-street Parking Changes - Consultation Response frequency

	7 Urgent Items
	8 Exclusion of Press and Public
	9 Urgent Items



